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They who lived in history . . . . seemed to walk the earth again.
—Longfellow.

We may gather out of history a policy no less wise than eternal.
—Szr Walter Raleigh.

Histories make men wise.—Bacon.

Truth comes to us from the past as gold is washed down to us from
the mountains of Sierra Nevada, in minute but precious particles.—Bovee.

Examine history, for it is “ philosophy teaching by example.”—Carlyle.
History is the essence of innumerable biographies.—Carlyle.

Biography is the most universally pleasant, the most universally
profitable, of all reading.— Carlyle.

Both justice and decency require that we should bestow on our
forefathers an honorable remembrance.— Zhucyd:des.

“If history is important, biography is equally so, for biography is
but history individualized. In the former we have the episodes and events
illustrated bv communitiés, peoples, states, nations. In the latter we have
the lives and characters of individual men shaping events, and becoming
instructors of future generations.”
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Laumeier, Herman Henry, mer-
chant, was born March 28, 1827, in Germany,
and died in St. Louis August 11, 1881. His
parents were John H. and Elizabeth (Schulte)
Laumeier, who came to St. Louis in 183I.
The elder Laumeier died of cholera in 1866,
in St. Louis, and his widow died there in
1881. Herman H. Laumeier received a good
practical education in the schools of St.
Louis, and as a boy learned the carpenter’s
trade. Later he engaged in the wholesale
and retail shoe trade in company with his
brother, William Laumeier, under the firm
name of H. H. Laumeier & Bro., their place
of business being at the corner of Franklin
Avenue and Third Street. They also con-
ducted a store on Fourth Street, between
Franklin Avenue and Wash Street, and were
among the prosperous shoe dealers of the
city until 1872, when H. H. Laumeier retired
from business with a comfortable fortune.

He was a sagacious and capable merchant _

and a man of the strictest integrity. A mem-
ber of the German Evangelical Lutheran
Church, he was conscientious in the discharge
of his religious duties and gave freely of his
means in aid of the German Orphans’ Home
and other charitable institutions. For many
years he was a prominent member of the Ger-
mania Club, which was in those days the
leading social institution of the German-
Americans of St. Louis. November 18, 1863,
he married Miss Christiana Hincke, of that
city. The children born to them were Clara
Elizabeth (deceased), William Henry, Ida,
Hulda, Caroline, Herman Henry, Jr., and
‘Walter Hincke Laumeier.

Laussat, Pierre Clement de, who
exercised the prerogatives of Governor of the
Province of Louisiana at the time of the
transfer of the territory to the United States,
was a native of France and received his ap-
pointment from Bonaparte, then acting as
first consul. He arrived in New Orleans,
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bearing a commission as colonial prefect and
empowered to act as civil and military com-
mandant, March 26, 1803, and at once set
about making necessary preparations for the
transfer of the territory to the United States
in accordance with the terms of the purchase,
December 20, 1803, he formally surrendered
Lower Louisiana to Governor Claiborne and
General Wilkinson, representatives of the
United States government, and nothing is
known of his subsequent career.

Lavelock, Thomas Newton, a lead-
ing lawyer of Ray County, was born.January
1, 1854, in Sangamon County, Illinois. His
parents were Thomas and Dorcas (Shoup)
Lavelock. The father was a native of Ire-
land ; his education was limited, but he was
a man of wide information and excellent
mind, and in every way of the highest type
of personal character. . He was lopg a resi-
dent of Illinois, where he became a successful
farmer and stock breeder. Although a Dem-
ocrat in politics, he was an admirer of Abra-
ham Lincoln, whose friendship he enjoyed,
and who was his attorney in the only case
in which he was a litigant. Mr. Lavelock
removed, in 1858, to Ray County, Missouri,
where he died in 1863. His widow is yet
living, at the advanced age of seventy-nine
years, making her home with her son,
Thomas, in Richmond. She was a native of
Ohio, and was principally reared in Illinois.
Born to Mr. and Mrs. Lavelock were six
children, of whom Thomas was the third. As
a youth he bore his full share of labor upon
the home farm, attending the neighborhood -
-schools during the winter months. He took
the equivalent of an academical course at
Richmond College, and during the years of
his student life taught school for one term,
and read law privately without a tutor. He
completed his legal studies in the law de-
partment of the Missouri State University,
from which he was graduated in 1878. He
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at once entered upon practice at Richmond,
at the same time giving his attention to
various proper pursuits akin to his profes-
sion to aid in establishing himself. For a
time he acted as agent for several insurance
companies, and he engaged in an abstract
business, in which he is yet interested in asso-
ciation with R. B. Kirkpatrick. From 1882
to 1891 he had as law partner his brother,
George W. Lavelock, who withdrew to ac-
ceépt the position of probate judge under
appointment of Governor David R. Francis.
In 1888 he was elected prosecuting attorney
of Ray County, and he was re-elected in 18go.
In 1900 he was strongly urged by the bar of
his own and adjoining counties for the posi-
tion of circuit judge, to fill a vacancy occa-
sioned by the election of Judge Broaddus
to the court of appeals. In practice at the
local bar, and in superior courts, Mr. Lave-
lock occupies a prominent position. His
marked traits are thoroughness of prepara-
tion, and industry in pursuing his purpose.
In his address he is logical and argumenta-
tive, dealing in plain comprehensible speech,
relying upon the merits of his case, and upon
its orderly and convincing presentation, and
ignoring all tricks of oratory. At the same
time, with a full command of language, he is
capable of real eloquence, but it is always
displayed with good taste, in serving good
purpose, and never for mere adornment.
While giving attention to all departments of
law, his preference is for corporation and
real estate law, for which his analytical pow-
ers and methodical habits afford him especial
aptitude. Mr. Lavelock is a consistent Dem-
ocrat, maintaining Jeffersonian and thor-
oughly American views with reference to the
limitations of the Federal government. He
is a strong advocate of party principles before
the people, and he has been prominent in
various important conventions. He was a
delegate in the State convention of 1884,
and in the judicial convention of 1888. In
the State convention of 1894 he placed in
nomination Joseph Finks for the position of
railway commissioner, and in that of 1896
he gave earnest support to John C. Brown,
of Richmond, for the position of State audi-
tor, and presented his name to the conven-
tion. He is a member of the Masonic fra-
ternity, and has attained to the commandery
degrees.

Law, John, projector of the financial
scheme which became known as the “Missis-
sippi Bubble,” was born in Edinburgh, in
1671, and died in Venice, in 1729. In 1694
he killed “Beau” Wilson in a duel in London
and was condemned to death, but escaped to
the Continent, where he led a roving life and
was engaged largely in gambling schemes of
various kinds. In 1716 he founded the
“Banque Generale” and succeeded in inaug-
urating and successfully carrying on a bank-
ing enterprise planned in accordance with
his peculiar views relative to the issuance of
a paper currency. Soon after this he acquired
from the French government control of the
Louisiana Territory for colonization and
trade, incorporating the “Compagnie d’Occi-
dent” for that purpose. This company soon
absorbed the East Indian and China Com-
panies, the African Company, the mint, and
the power of receivers general, thus obtaining
practical control of both the financial affairs
and commerce of France. In 1718 the
“Banque Generale” was transformed into the
“Banque Royale,” with Law as director gen-
eral, and its notes guaranteed by the king,
The company and bank were combined in
1720, with Law as comptroller general. Fora
time the system prospered and fortunes were
made in speculations, but the over-issue of
paper money brought about the collapse of
the entire scheme in 1720. Law was driven
from France and his estates were confiscated.
After his reverses he lived in England some
years and then went to Italy, where he died.

Law and Order League Club.—
An organization composed of prominent
citizens of St. Louis which came into exist-
ence October 22, 1883, and which had for its
object the enforcement of State laws and city
ordinances designed to promote good order
and to improve social and moral conditions
in the city. The league brought all its in-
fluence to bear to improve the city govern-
ment and to prevent crime and immorality.

Lawler, James G., superintendent of
the American Car & Foundry Company at
St. Charles, was born August 31, 1856, in
Wayne County, Indiana. His parents were
John and Catherine (Golden) Lawler, who
made their home upon a farm in Wayne
County, where the son was born and reared.
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He attended the public schools in the neigh-
borhood and afterward took a more advanced
course in St. Mary’s school at Richmond, In-
diana. Erom his boyhood he had a taste for
mechanics, and at the early age of seventeen
years he began work in a line which led to
his present honorable and responsible posi-
tion. He first directed his attention to learn-
ing practical blacksmithing in its various
branches. He then engaged with the Robe-
son Machine Works, of Richmond, Indiana,
where he remained for three years. During
a portion of 1877 he worked in a similar es-
tablishment in Indianapolis, and then re-
moved to Nashville, Tennessee, where he
worked in the railroad shops for about a year,
after which he came to Missouri. In October,
1879, he took employment in the blacksmith
shops of the St. Charles Car Works, and Jan-
uary 1, 1880, was made assistant foreman in
the department in which he was engaged.
From this position he was soon advanced to
that of foreman. In 1887 he was again pro-
moted, being appointed assistant superin-
tendent of the freight and iron department.
At the expiration of a year he became su-
perintendent of this department, and was so
engaged until April, 1899, when he was ap-
pointed assistant district manager and su-
perintendent of the American Car &
Foundry Company, of St. Charles, to which
corporate name the St. Charles Car Works
had meanwhile been changed. This rapid ad-
vancement in so extensive an establishment,
conducted in the most methodical manner,
where interest counts for nothing, and ef-
fort is only measured by known results, is
the highest possible attestation of the ability
of Mr. Lawler, not only as a practical me-
chanic, but as a careful business man, and
director of large affairs. In 1889 he was
elected an alderman in the City Council, but
on the expiration of his term declined further
service, having no taste for political concerns.
In politics he is a Democrat, and in religion
a Catholic. He married Miss Elizabeth
Hughes, daughter of Thomas Hughes, a
prominent contractor of Lexington, Ken-
tucky. The children born of this union are
John William, Stephen J., Edward James,
Charles Warren and Walter Emmet Lawler.
John W. Lawler is also engaged with the
American Car & Foundry Company, and
gives promise of proving as useful and suc-
cessful as his father.

Lawless, Luke E., lawyer and jurist,
was born in Dublin, Ireland, in 1781, and
died in St. Louis in 1846. In his young man-
hood he served in the British navy, after-
ward graduated from Dublin University and
was admitted to the bar in 1805. In 1810 he
entered the French military service and was
promoted to a colonelcy. After the fall of
Napoleon he came to this country, and in
1824 settled in St. Louis. He practiced his
profession there until 1831, when he was
elected judge of the circuit court, succeeding
Judge William C. Carr. He served on the
circuit bench three years and was an able ju-
dicial officer as well as an accomplished law-
yer. An interesting incident in his
professional career was his leadership in the
famous impeachment of Judge James H.
Peck, of the Federal court, in the United
States Senate. In April of 1826 Judge Law-
less printed a respectful criticism upon one of
Judge Peck’s decisions, and as a result he was
adjudged in contempt of court and sentenced
to twenty-four hours’ imprisonment in jail
and to eighteen months’ suspension from
practice. In December following, John Scott,
.a member of Congress from Missouri, pre-
sented to that body a memorial from Lawless
charging Judge Peck with tyranny, oppres-
sion and usurpation of power. The House
committee reported charges of impeachment,
which came before the Senate at the following
session. In this case, which involved the lib-
erty of the press, half the members of the St.
Louis bar were summoned as witnesses, and
among those who were members of the high
court of impeachment were such eminent
jurists as Webster, Clayton, Livingston,
King, Poindexter and others. Judge Law-
less prepared the pleadings for the prosecu-
tion and the trial lasted six weeks. Judge
Peck was acquitted, and the decision authori-
tatively settled many questions relating to the
powers of courts to punish for contempt.
Lawless was Benton’s second in the duel
which resulted in the killing of Charles Lucas.

Lawrence, Joseph Joshua, phy-
sician and editor, was born January 28, 1836,
in Edgecombe County, North Carolina, son
of Bennett Barrow Lawrence and Martha
Frances (Knight) Lawrence, both of whom
came of families whose history dates back to
the colonial era and whose ancestors were
participants in the struggle for American in-
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.dependence. The founder of this branch of
the Lawrence family in America was a native
of England, of Anglo-Norman descent, and
Dr. Lawrence belongs to the fifth generation
of his descendants. Of the first generation of
these descendants was Frank Lawrence, who
achieved distinction in the early wars with the
Indians. Joseph Nathaniel Lawrence, who
served as a lieutenant in the Continental
Army under Washington, belonged to the
second generation, and Joshua Lawrence,
eminent as a Baptist clergyman and author,
was his son and the grandfather of Dr. Law-
rence. The mother of Dr. Lawrence was a
daughter of Judge Jesse Cooper Knight, of
North Carolina, and a descendant of Augus-
tin Clement de Villeneuve, Chevelier de
Barthelot, who was a captain of French
troops under Lafayette and was killed at
Yorktown in 1781. Dr. Lawrence’s father
was a wealthy cotton planter in North Caro-
lina under the old regime, and the son en-
joyed, as a youth, the best educational and
social advantages. His scholastic training was
obtained partly under private tutorship and
partly in the academic schools of North Caro-
lina and Virginia, and Bethany College, of
Bethany, West Virginia, conferred upon him
the degree of master of arts. After complet-
ing his college course he studied medicine,
but became a participant in the Civil War be-
fore beginning the practice of his profession.
During the war he commanded a company in
the Seventh North Carolina Regiment of
Confederate Cavalry, which saw much active
service and made an enviable record for brav-
ery and efficiency. After the war Dr. Law-
rence practiced medicine for a time in the
South, and then removed to St. Louis, estab-
lishing in that city the “Medical Brief,”
which, under his editorial and business man-
agement, has become one of the most fam-
ous of American medical journals, and, finan-
cially, one of the most prosperous in the
world. Combining editorial ability of a high
order with rare genius for the conduct of
business affairs, he soon placed his journal on
a paying basis, gained for it the high regard
of the medical profession and the patronage
of the business public, and its record since has
been one of constantly increasing influence
with a proportionate expansion of its re-
sources and income. At the present time its
circulation is said to be larger than that of
any other medical journal in the world, and,

while building up a splendid fortune for him-
self Dr. Lawrence has built up a journal
which reflects great credit on the city of St.
Louis. Fortunate in the acquisition of wealth,
he has used his means liberally to promote
the business interests of the city which has
so long been his home, and every movement
calculated to develop its resources, to add
to its attractiveness and to increase its pres-
tige among the cities of the United States,
has received his hearty support and liberal
encouragement. He was one of the public-
spirited citizens of St. Louis who labored
earnestly to induce Congress to designate St.
Louis as the city in which the World’s Co-
lumbian Exposition of 1892 should be held,
and when the Autumnal Festivities Associa- -
tion wasorganized his generous contributions
of time and money aided greatly in pramot-
ing an enterprise which has brought thou-
sands of visitors to the city annually since
that time. Loyal to the city himself, and hav-
ing a breadth of view which makes him thor-~
oughly appreciative of its great resources and
numerous attractions, he has been foremost
among those who have sought to impress
upon capitalists, financiers, manufacturers
and business men generally the unrivaled ad-
vantages of St. Louis, and to stimulate de-
velopment along all the lines of trade and
commerce. If e was not born an optimist,
success has made him one, and his cheerful
views of life, genial manners and generous
impulses have attached to him, as with hooks
of steel, a host of friends. He married, in
1859, Miss Josephine Edwards, daughter of
Colonel B. F. Edwards, of North Carolina,
and their children are a son, Frank Lawrence,
and a daughter, now Mrs. Henry A. Siegrist,
both of whom reside in St. Louis.

Lawrence County.—A southwestern
county, 150 miles southeast of Kansas City,
bounded north by Dade, east by Greene,
Christian and Stone, south by Barry, and
west by Newton and Jasper Counties. It lies
on the table lands of the Ozark Range, at a
mean elevation of 1,300 feet. Its area is 606
square miles. The northwestern portion is
broken and hilly; elsewhere the country is
about equally divided between prairie up-
lands and timber-fringed bottoms. More
than one-half of the acreage is tillable; the
bottom lands are extremely rich and never
fail in producing crops; most of the re-
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mainder is excellent for pasturage. The
region is abundantly watered. The principal
water course is Spring River, a fine power
stream, originating in springs in the south-
west part of the county, and flowing to the
northeast; its tributaries are Honey, White
Oak Fork and Center Creeks. The streams
in the north and east are East Turnback,
West Turnback, Pickerel and Sinking Creeks,
and the fork of Sac River. Clear Creek flows
near Pierce City, to which it affords water
supply. All the streams have solid beds, with
good fords, and bridges are unknown. The
native woods are hickory, oak, walnut, elm
and sycamore. Ozark Prairie is the largest
body of open land, beginning in the south-
east, extending to the east and north, and
continually broadening. Limestone and dark
yellow sandstone, excellent for building, are
found near Mount Vernon and Marionville,
Lead and zinc abound, and the Aurora min-
ing district, opened in 1873, is second only
to that of Joplin in output. (See “Zinc and
Lead Mining in Southwest Missouri.”) Rail-
ways traversing the county are the Missouri
Pacific, in the southern part, and the Kan-
sas City, Fort Scott & Memphis, passing cen-
trally from the north. The principal towns
are Mount Vernon, the county seat; Aurora,
Pierce City, Marionville and Verona (which
see). Freistatt, eight miles north of Pierce
City, is a Lutheran settlement. Other small
settlements are Logan, Round Grove, Heat-
onville, Kendallville, Paris Springs, Spencer,
Phelps, Lawrenceburg and Bower’s Mills. In
1898 the principal surplus products were:
Wheat, 249,759 bushels; grass seed, 55,130
pounds; flour, 19,376,000 pounds; cornmeal,
27,000 pounds; mill feed, 4,987,000 pounds;
poultry, 498809 pounds; eggs, 191,710
dozen; strawberries, 20,402 crates; dried
fruits, 13,068 pounds; canned goods, 48,320
pounds; cattle, 4,650 head; hogs, 23,175
head ; hides, 41,186 pounds. In 1900 the pop-
ulation was 31,662.

The first settlers found primeval condi-
tions. Bands of Indians traversed the coun-
try at times in search of game, then abundant.
In 1831 Springfield was the nearest settle-
ment, and contained but one grocery store.
That year John Williams, and his five sons,
with a number of other families, came from
Tennessee. Turnback Creek takes its name
from the fact that all the party, the Williams
family excepted, refused to go farther and

returned. John Williams located north, and:
his son Samuel west of Mount Vernon.
About the same time George M. Gibson
made a home north of Verona, and his son-
in-law, James White, on the present site of
that town. The latter named has related that
four of his children, all born on the old
homestead, each claim a different birthplace
county, owing to the various county crea-
tions. Other settlers the same year were
Daniel Beal and Thomas Horn. David Mc-
Kenzie came in 1832 to Spring River, eight
miles northwest of Mount Vernon, and made-:
the first plowing in the county. In 1833
Richard Tankersley and his son-in-law Camp-
bell Gowan, settled near Pierce City; the
same year George and Jesse Duncan opened
the first store, at McKenzie’s Spring. In
1834 came A. A. Young, the first preacher,
and George Gibson, James Gibson, James
Burrough, Elijah Hillhouse, C. G. Cowan,
William Bracken and J. M. White. Among
the immigrants of 1835 was William Lumley;
he was the only soldier of the Revolutionary
War to settle in the county, and his grave
on Turnback Creek is protected by a stone
wall put up by the people in 1876. The same
year the first mill was put up, on Spring
River, seven miles north of Pierce City, by
William Bowers, and called by his name. It
was a simple corncracker, turning out thirty
bushels a day, and was sought by the people
from a distance of forty miles. Among the
immigrants of 1839 was Thomas W. Polk, a
cousin of President James K. Polk. In 1841
immigrants came in great number, princi-
pally from Tennessee, Kentucky and Vir-
ginia.

By act of congress, February 24, 1843, the
territory now constituting Lawrence County
was taken from Dade and Barry Counties,
all north of an east and west line about two
miles north of the present Mount Vernon,
being from the former, and that south of the
line from the latter. For judicial purposes,
and with the provision that it should not be
taxed in either county' for public building

purposes, this territory remained attached

to the counties from which it was taken until
February 14, 1845, when Lawrence County,
taking its name from that of Captain Law-
rence, of the United States Navy, perfected
its organization. The organic act constituted
Larkin Newton, of Newton County; Elijah
Gray, of Greene County, and Samuel Melu-
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gan, of Jasper County, commissioners, to
locate a county seat; the latter named was
succeeded by H. G. Joplin. By a further act,
February 25th, Joseph Schooling, Joseph
Rinker and Robert B. Taylor were appointed
county judges. The court assembled April
7th at the house of Robert B. Taylor, near

the present site of Mount Vernon, Judge.

Schooling presiding. Samuel S. Williams
was appointed clerk; Washington Smith,
sheriff and collector; Aaron Winters, asses-
sor, and John Allen, surveyor. May 4th the
commissioners reported the county seat site
as laid off into lots, whereupon the court
made record of the same May 6th, naming it
Mount Vernon. The site was then thickly
covered with forest trees and underbrush.
(See “Mount Vernon.”) The first elective
officers, in 1846, after the institution of the
county seat, were: Robert B. Taylor, pre-
siding county judge; Thomas Hash, circuit
clerk; Wade H. Stroud, sheriff; Aaron Win-
ters, assessor; George White, treasurer; W.
S. M. Wright, coroner; John D. Allen, sur-
veyor. Pleasant M. Wear became county
clerk in 1847. The first term of circuit court
was held October 20, 1845, by Judge Charles
S. Yancey, at the house of George White, one
mile west of Mount Vernon. William H.
Otter was the first circuit attorney named.
The county now belongs to the Twenty-
fourth Judicial Circuit. The first Represen-
tative elected from the county was F. R.
McFall, who was succeeded in 1848 by Judge
Robert B. Taylor..

Previous to 1850 a schoolhouse, probably
the first, was located on Spring River, near
the present Verona. The first teacher was
a German named Harth. There were then
but six families in the neighborhood, and
Springfield was the nearest postoffice and
blacksmithing point. In 1853 Jesse M. Wilks
was appointed commissioner of common
schools. To 1861 there were few schools,
usually kept in log buildings. In 1866 atten-
tion was directed to educational concerns.
In that year a school district was organized
in Mount Vernon, and in the county were
twenty-six school buildings, of which one
was brick, four frame, and the remainder
log. The teachers numbered eighteen, and
the school children 4,031. In 1868, at Marion-
ville, what is now known as the Marionville
Collegiate Institute had its beginning, and
teachers’ institutes and normal schools have

been held at intervals since about the same
time. The county now has good educational
facilities, including excellent academies at
Mount Vernon and Pierce City. In 1898
there were 108 schools, 162 teachers and
7,954 pupils; the permanent school fund was
$25,692.60.

All the old religious bodies trace their his-
tory to the earlier days of Barry County.
In 1837 the Rev. A. A. Young located near
Verona, and the Rev. Abel Burton came a
little later, settling on Spring River. From
their efforts grew the Cumberland Presby-
terian Churches in the county, although re-
liable annals do not appear until about 1860.
A Baptist Church was established about
1838, four miles below Verona, where a log
building was erected. Elder W. R. Allen was,
for many years, beginning in 1842, preacher
at Verona. In 1838 Methodist circuit riders
visited the region, and in 1847 Mount Vernon
circuit was established. All other denom-
inations have appeared since 1866.

During the Civil War law and order were
generally well maintained, and there was no
protracted suspension of civil functions.
After March, 1862, until peace was restored,
the Federal authorities were in occupation of
its territory, and the county suffered little,
except on the southern border. The county
furnished 372 men to the Union Army.
From 1854 to 1871 the county and its various
municipalities subscribed large amounts to
various railways projected or in course of
construction, leading to litigation in some
cases, which by 1889 had been concluded by
payment or compromise. For its material
development, and the admirable class of pop-
ulation drawn to it, the county owes much
to the immigration societies of 1878 and 1888,
H. Brumback being president of the former,
and Judge Landrum of the latter.

Lawson.—A city of the fourth class in
Ray County, on the St. Louis & St. Joseph
branch of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe,
and on the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul
Railroads, twenty miles northwest of Rich-
mond. It has a public school, four churches—
Presbyterian, Christian, Methodist Episcopal
and Baptist, and is the seat of the Presby-
terian College of Upper Missouri. It has
telephone connections with neighboring
towns, two Democratic newspapers, the
“Leader” and the “Journal,” two banks and
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about thirty-five miscellaneous business
houses, including stores, lumber and coal
yards, shops, etc. Population, 1899 (esti-
mated), 1,100.

Lawson Hospital. —A military hos-
pital fitted up in the fall of 1862, in St. Louis,
for the care of sick and wounded soldiers. The
edifice, which was originally intended for a
hotel, was seven stories high, stood at the
corner of Broadway and Carr Streets and was
divided into eight wards. It was in charge
of Surgeon C. P. Alexander, of the United
States Army, who had a corps of assistants.

Lay, Alfred M., lawyer, soldier, United
States district attorney and member of Con-
gress, was born in Lewis County, Missouri,
May 20, 1836, and died at Jefferson City, De-
cember g, 1879. In 1842 his parents moved to
Benton County, Missouri, where he attended
a private school, afterward graduating at
Bethany College, in Virginia, in 1856. He
studied law and was admitted to the bar in
Jefferson City in 1857, and was appointed
United States district attorney for the west-
ern district of Missouri. In 1861 he resigned
the position and entered the Confederate
Army under General John B. Clark as a pri-
vate soldier, rising to major. He was made a
prisoner of war and confined in the Alton
penitentiary till 1862, when he was exchanged
and re-entered the Confederate Army and
served until the close of the war. He then
returned to Jefferson City and resumed the
practice of law, and in 1875 was elected mem-
ber of the constitutional convention. In 1878
he was elected to the Forty-sixth Congress
from the seventh Missouri district as a Dem-
ocrat, by a vote of 16,960 to 7,170 for Under-
wood, Republican, and 8,810 for Boyd, Green-
backer. He died before his term expired.

Lead and Zinc Mining.—Lead-min-
ing was the first industry and interest in
Missouri. It preceded the establishment of
the fur-trading post at St. Louis in 1764 by
nearly half a century, for LaMotte and
Renault were at work lead-mining in Wash-
ington County as early as 1720, and there
are traditions which go back six years earlier.
Renault, who was the son of an iron founder
in France, came over to New Orleans about
1719, bringing with him 200 miners and arti-
ficers, with the necessary tools and imple-

ments, and a number of slaves whom he
picked up in San Domingo on the way. It
was in the crisis of Law’s famous Mississippi
scheme, which was to make all its stock-
holders rich with gold and silver dug out
of mines of fabulous richness somewhere on
the Mississippi River—and it is not impos-
sible that Renault and his friend, LaMotte,
expected to find the precious metals at the
end of their journey. They stopped at Fort
Chartres, and from there crossed the river
and began their explorations in what is now
Ste. Genevieve County. They did not find
what they were in search of—gold and sil-
ver—but they found lead in abundance al-
most everywhere they went, and their names
are still preserved in the mines in Washing-
ton County which they opened and worked.
Lead was a necessary of life among the early
settlers of the West, whose rifles furnished
the flesh they lived on and defended them
against their enemies, and every ounce taken
out of the first mines found a ready mar-
ket. Moses Austin, of Virginia, secured
from the Spanish government a large grant
of land in what is now Washington County,
and sunk the first regular shaft from which
large quantities of lead were taken out. In
17809 he erected the first reverberatory fur-
nace for the reduction of lead ore ever built
in the country. The first smelting was rudely
done, but was effective. A square excavation
in the ground was made to the depth of
three feet and walled up with straight, even
logs cut from green trees and joined at the
corners after the fashion of a log house. It
was covered with similar green timbers,
and the lead ore was placed within on a layer
of dry wood, which, when everything was
ready, was set on fire. Of course, the whole
structure was burned to ashes, but not until
the ore was melted and fused into a lump
of pure lead in the center. This was taken
out and again melted and run into bars or
pigs. The business was very profitable, for
the demand was constant, and increased with
the increase of population in the West. Mine
LaMotte, where the first smelting was done,
was a thriving settlement before Laclede and
the Chouteaus founded St. Louis, for the rec-
ords inform us thatin1741there were smelted
2,500 bars, or pigs, of lead, and in 1742
2,228 more. A miner would sometimes strike
a very rich deposit and take out $30 worth
of lead a day for weeks before the deposit
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began to fail. At first the lead from Mine
LaMotte was hauled to Kaskaskia, after-
ward to Ste. Genevieve, and finally shipped
to St. Louis. No manufacture of lead was
attempted till the year 1809, when shot tow-
ers, were erected at Herculaneum and St.
Louis, the metal before that being simply
cast into pigs and sent to market. It al-
ways commanded a ready sale—indeed, lead
had such a constant, stable value and was
so readily transferable that it came to pos-
sess the property of currency, and a debtor
could always pay his debts in lead, if he had
or could get it. Potosi, Ste. Genevieve and
Herculaneum prospered through the lead
trade, and were considered centers of wealth
and comfort and desirable places to live at,
while the rest of southeast Missouri was a
solitude. A hundred and fifty years of
smelting has nearly exhausted the surface
supply of ore, and the business is now con-
ducted by means of considerable capital and
in a more thorough manner. In 1880 the
total lead ore product of Missouri was 28,-
315 tons, valued at $1,478,571. In 18go the
product was 44,482 tons, valued at $1,571,161.
In 1899 it was 226,598 tons, valued at $10,-
079,000. Zinc-mining is something modern,
compared with its venerable parent, lead-
mining, dating back only to about the year
1870, when the “black jack” taken out of the
lead mines in the Southwest, and supposed
to be worthless, first began to be turned to
account. Since then the uses and value of
the metal have so greatly increased that in
the mining industry of the Southwest it now
takes the precedence, and its importance is
constantly increasing.

The central lead district may be defined
as including the counties
of Cole, Cooper, Moni-
teau, Miller, Benton,
Maries, Pulaski, Laclede,
Texas, Hickory, St. Clair, Cedar, Dade and
Osage, where the galena is discovered in
isolated caves scattered through a joint or
tallow-clay of a yvellowish color. In two lo-
calities the cotton rock has been found to
carry galena in paying quantity. In some
places large masses of lead in crystallized
cubes are found in the clay at a depth of
six to eight feet, sandwiched between masses
of cotton rock, sandstone and chert associ-
ated with sulphate of baryta. In the second
magnesian limestone the galena passes into

Central Lead
District.

large openings in the rock and becomes dis-
seminated in the edges of the walls, as well
as completely mixed with baryta. In Cole
County the lead is uniformly met with in

. the joint clays, cherty conglomerate, finally

assuming the vein and lode form in the
magnesian limestone series. In this district
more than elsewhere lead is found in sur-
face exposures. In the western part of the
county it is found in magnesian limestone
passing down between well defined walls, and
held with baryta, calc spar and brown hema-
tite iron in the form of “pipe ore,” the galena
and baryta being formed into round, bale-like
masses, with the pieces of pipe iron stuck
through them in all directions. In Moniteau
County, where valuable diggings are worked,
the mineral is found in connected tubes in
limestone rock, and lies in lodes and pock-
ets. Miller County is rich in galeniferous
ores, and north of the Osage profitable min-
ing is carried on. Benton County contains
many valuable deposits, Morgan County con-
tains lead in every township, either as “clay
mineral,” “float,” or in veins, lodes, pockets
and caves. The mineral was first found in
the clay and among the loose chert and con-
glomerate covering the surface. Going down
to the second magnesian limestone, openings
or crevices were encountered filled with
clay, baryta and lead in irregularly formed
cubes or masses, the lodes giving richer ore
as they are followed down into the third
magnesian limestone. There is an area of
200 square miles that appears to be entirely
underlaid with lead. In Hickory rich depos-
its have been found, and in all the other
counties in the district deposits exist which
are not worked because it is more profitable
to work the richer ones elsewhere.
The lead district of southeast Missouri
' comprises the counties of
Soutbeast Lead  Franklin, Howell, Jeffer-
District. son, Madison, Crawford,
St. Francois and Wash-
ington. The disseminated belt occupies
about half of the northern portion of
Madison County, and likewise a similar
proportion of St. Francois, the topo-
graphical character being a succession of
elevations which, in some places, rise to hills
and small mountains. Two miles west of
Fredericktown the elevations present a dark
red porphyry cropping out from their sum-
mits and scattered along their sides. Further
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down and near the bottom of the valleys, also
in many places lapping the porphyry, are the
second and third magnesian limestone. Lead
_is found as float in nearly every county of
southeast Missouri, but in Franklin, Jefferson
and Washington Counties galena is found in
the ferruginous clay and coarse gravel, often
associated with hematite iron and the sul-
phuret of iron, sometimes lying in small
pockets. In two of the mines in Franklin
County silicate and carbonate of zinc are
found always accompanying the lead, and at
another silicate of zinc and baryta occur, as
well as hematite iron ore. The great Mam-
moth Mine was a succession of caves in which
millions of pounds of lead were found en-
crusted on the sides and the roof and on
the bottom, with clay and baryta. In Jef-
ferson County one mine yields a very rich
ore, with a trace of silver, and in another
the galena is so mixed with baryta that
.crushing and separating are necessary.
Washington County is venerable among the
lead-producing counties south of the Mis-
souri River for its early association with lead-
mining, for the illustrious names connected
with the business and for the large amount
of lead it steadily yielded at a time when it
was greatly needed and very valuable. There
is not a township in the county that does
not contain lead, and a large proportion of
the area has been dug over in mining and
prospecting. The galena has been usually
found in the gravel and clay overlaying the
magnesian limestone, and in a few instances
assumes the lode form in fissures of the same.
In one mine are found small cubes of the
lead disseminated through a hard geodic
limestone, in which sulphate of baryta and
silicate of zinc are in association. In St.
Francois County the lead deposits are found
in ferruginous clay and gravel, and although
they have yielded millions of pounds for
many years past, they are still very pro-
ductive. In Madison County considerable
lead is found in the clay. It is found in
Wayne, Carter, Reynolds and Crawford
Counties, and in Ste. Genevieve it has been
mined and smelted for many years. It is
estimated that in the southeast quarter of
the State there is an area of 2,000 square
miles underlaid with lead upon which galena
can be found almost anywhere in the clay,
gravel openings, or in a disseminated state.
The lead region of southeast Missouri differs

from the southwest in having little zinc. The
principal ores mined are the sulphide and the
carbonate, the former being known as gale-
na and the latter as cerussite, or dry bone.
The cerussite is found on and near the sur-
face, and is easily gathered; the galena is
found at a depth of thirty to 150 feet, but
even at this depth the mining may be con-
ducted by individual miners without capital,
as the only outfit required is a pick, shovel
and windlass. In 1894 the yield of the sev-
eral counties of -southeast Missouri where
lead-mining was prosecuted was: Franklin
County, 122 tons of ore; Washington
County, 980 tons; St. Francois County,
38,400 tons. In 1899 the yield was: In Frank-
lin County, 640 tons of lead ore, 240 tons of
pig lead; Jefferson County, 380 tons of lead
ore, 15,420 tons of pig lead; Washington
County, 1,000 tons of lead ore; St. Francois
County, 51,000 tons of lead ore, 6,000
tons of pig lead. Mining and smelt-
ing are prosecuted with great activity
and diligence around Bonne Terre, and in
1899 the lead yield of St. Francois County
was valued at $2,000,000. (See also. “Zinc
and Lead Mining in Southwest Missouri.”)

DANIEL, M. GRIssoM.

Lear, Robert Marion, was born in
Benton County, Missouri, June 4, 1856, son
of William and Lucy A. (Gumm) Lear. His
father, who was born in Monroe County, Mis-
souri, February 7, 1833, is a son of Franklin
Lear, who came from Pennsylvania to Mis-
souri, located in Monroe County in ‘its pio-
neer days and thence removed to Benton
County, where he died in 1858. William Lear
served throughout the Civil War as captain
of a company in Price’s Army. He is now
living at Duroc, Benton County, Missouri,
where he is engaged in the mercantile busi-
ness. His wife, a native of Kentucky, is a
daughter of Elijah Gumm, who was born in
Green County, Kentucky, in 1777. In 1829
he located in Benton County, Missouri. His
three sons, Jesse, Silas and Abram served
in the Union Army. His death occurred in
Benton County April 20, 1861. The educa-
tion of Robert M. Lear was obtained in the
common schools of Lafayette and Johnson
Counties. In young manhood he engaged in
farming in the last named county, but for the
past seventeen years he has operated success-
fully a sawmill and threshing machine. He is
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the owner of 200 acres of finely improved
land in Warrensburg Township, three miles
southwest of the town. Actively interested
in the success of the Democratic party he was
elected sheriff of Johnson County as its can-
didate in 1896 and re-elected in 1898, serving
two terms. Fraternally he is a member of
the orders of Knights of Pythias, the Modern
Woodmen of America and the Maccabees.
He was married October 17, 1878, to Mary L.
Stone, a native of Tennessee, and a daughter
of Oliver M. Stone, who removed from Ten-
nessee to Greene County early in life. He
now resides in Warrensburg. Mr. and Mrs.
Lear have had three children born to them:
Robert A. Lear, who was born September
8, 1878, and died September 9, 1898;
Myrtle Maud Lear, who was born July §,
1883, and Effee Ann Lear, born April 26,
1886.

Learned, John Calvin, clergyman,
was born in Dublin, New Hampshire, August
7, 1834. He engaged in teaching, first in
New England; then came to Missouri in
1856, and for three vears had charge of a
school at Ozark. He entered the Divinity
School of Harvard University in 1859, and
after graduation, in 1862, spent several
months in Europe. Upon his return he be-
came minister of the First Unitarian Society
in Exeter, New Hampshire, May 6, 1863, re-
signing his pastorate in October, 1869. In
August, 1863, he was married to Miss Lucelia
Wakefield, of Reading, Massachusetts. In
January, 1870, he preached in St. Louis, and
soon after accepted a call to the then newly
organized Church of the Unity, entering upon
a pastorate wherein he continued until his
death, December 8, 1893. He was called to
a free pulpit, as minister of the Church of the
Unity, and that freedom he valued and main-
tained, mindful always of the responsibility
which such freedom imposed. In the confer-
ence of churches to which his own belonged,
his word carried weight, and he was one of
the recognized leaders in its councils and ac-
tion. But it was not only as a preacher that
Mr. Learned’s influence was felt in the city of
his adoption. At different periods—several
years altogether—he occupied the chair of
ethics and political economy in Washington
University. For eight years—from 1884 to
1892—he was a member of the board of man-
agers of the Public Library of St. Louis, serv-

ing half that time as president of the board,
and two years as chairman of the book com-
mittee.

Leathe, Samuel Henry, who has been
for forty-four years a resident of St. Louis,
and who has had an unusually varied and
eventful career, was born June 11, 1825, in
Woburn, Massachusetts, son of Samuel and
Ruth (Ames) Leathe. His paternal ancestor,
Elijah Leathe, came to this country from
Cumberland County, on the northwest coast
of England, and established his home in Wo-
burn, Massachusetts. Elijah Leathe, Jr.,
grandfather of Samuel H. Leathe, was born
in Woburn, in 1755, and besides being a large
land owner, operated a shoe factory at that
place. Samuel Leathe, the father of Samuel
H. Leathe, who was also a manufacturer and
merchant of Woburn, was, in the early twen-
ties, captain of a cavalry company of volun-
teer militia, raised in Middlesex County, Mas-
sachusetts. The mother of Samuel H. Leathe,
whose maiden name was Ruth Ames, be-
longed to the noted New England family ot
that name, and her father was a Revolution-
ary soldier, who participated in the battles of
Lexington and Bunker Hill. On the morn-
ing of the Lexington battle Mr. Leathe’s
grandfather Ames was chopping wood in his
farmhouse door-yard when he heard the din
of battle. Seizing his musket he hastened to
the scene of action, some five miles away,
where he gave a good account of himself. The
musket which he carried on that occasion,
and on the stock of which he carved his own
name, is one of the cherished family heir-
looms in the possession of Mr. Leathe.

Mr. Leathe obtained his early education in
the public schools of Woburn, and the War-
ren Academy located there. Before he
reached his majority his father died, leaving
him (an only son) a large business to look
after. He was not successful in the manage-
ment of this estate, and being of a restless
disposition and having a strong desire for a
sea-faring life, he left home in 1847, and
shipped as a sailor apprentice aboard a sail-
ing vessel bound for China. A sailor’s life
did not, however, prove as fascinating to him
as he had expected, and upon the arrival of
the ship at Canton he begged his captain to
allow him to remain ashore. This request
was, however, refused, and he reluctantly
made the return voyage, arriving in New
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York in the early autumn of 1848, when Col-
onel John C. Fremont was planning his third
exploring expedition to the Pacific Coast. He
applied for permission to join this expedition,
and out of several hundred applicants was
one favored by selection on acount of his
robust physical health and the experience
which he had previously had on land and sea.
When he arrived in St. Louis on his way to
Independence, Missouri, which was to be the
starting point of the expedition, he met there
the famous scout and Indian fighter, Kit Car-
son, who was to have been one of the Fre-
mont party, but owing to the colonel’s long
detention in Washington; where he had been
under court-martial for disobedience of Gen-
eral Stephen W. Kearny's orders, he decided
not to go because of the lateness of the sea-
son, it being then the middle of October. Mr.
Leathe, also, by his advice, afterward con-
cluded to abandon the expedition, and it was
well he did, as it resulted disastrously, eleven
out of the thirty-three who started perishing
by the way, and the survivors reaching set-
tlements in New Mexico in a starving condi-
tion. About this time, the latter part ot
October, two regiments of soldiers returning
from the Mexican War were discharged and
paid off at Independence, and a great many
horses were brought in from stock farms in
the vicinity to sell to the returning volunteers,
and in company with one Major Hamilton,
from Canada, Mr. Leathe purchased sixty
head of horses, which they took South and
sold in Arkansas, Louisiana and Texas at a
good profit. In the spring of 1849 Mr.
Leathe and Major Hamilton outfitted an ex-
pedition for crossing the plains to California.
They started westward with ox teams and a
well assorted stock of supplies, later becom-
ing part of what was known as the “Cherokee
Train,” from southwest Missouri. Tiring of
the slow-going ox teams, they exchanged
them for pack-mules at Fort Laramie and
hastened toward the Pacific Coast, Sutter’s
Fort, near Sacramento River, being the ob-
jective point. On arrival there in July, Mr.
Leathe established a freighting outfit at Sac-
ramento City, and for two years thereafter
was engaged in the transportation of mer-
chandise to the different mining localities ot
that region. It was while thus engaged that
Mr. Leathe missed what he calls the great
opportunity of his life. Three brothers by
the name of Barker and another were the

owners of a mining claim on Deer Creek, aft-
erward Nevada City, which they had worked
for some time in anticipation of good results,
when the rainy season should give the neces-
sary water supply to wash out the pile of dirt
they had thrown up. One of the brothers
became homesick and offered Mr. Leathe his
one-fourth interest in their claim for $1,000.
Mr. Leathe declined to purchase and was
very much chagrined thirty days later to learn
that a one-eighth interest in the mine had
been sold for $125,000. Sixty days later the
same terest could not have been bought for
a million dollars. This was the famous “Gold
Tunnel Mine,” on which was erected the first
stamp mill, for the crushing of gold quartz,
operated in California. The mine subse-
quently yielded many millions of the precious
metal. In 1852 Mr. Leathe entered into an
arrangement with two gentlemen—one of
whom was Commodore Cornelius Vander-
bilt, of New York—which contemplated the
establishment of a stage line across the Isth-
mus of Nicaragua from San Juan-del-Sud to
Virgin Bay, on Lake Nicaragua, and the
building of a hotel at the last named place.
In pursuance of this arrangement, Mr. Leathe
went to Nicaragua to look over the proposed
field of enterprise, and as a result of his ob-
servations, reported that the stage line would
not prove a success, and the project was
abandoned. He then returned to Boston,
and in 1853 established there the firm of Ab-
bot & Leathe, which for three years was en-
gaged extensively and successfully in a gen-
eral commission business, handling mainly
Vermont and Canada products. Mr. Leathe
had, however, a great fondness for the West,
and in 1856 he sold out the Boston business
and again came to St. Louis with the inten-
tion of making that city his permanent home.
Forming a partnership with a Mr. Boggs, un-
der the firm name of Boggs & Leathe, he en-
gaged -in business as a manufacturer of and
dealer in ornamental mirrors and picture
frames, etc. Their store and manufactory
was destroyed by fire in 1857, and almost as
soon as theyv had rebuilt on a larger scale,
their plant in the block known as “the ten
buildings” was again consumed by fire in
1859. The partnership was, in 1860, changed
to Pettes & Leathe. Mr. Pettes had previ-
ously been a manufacturer and dealer in car-
pets in the city of Boston, and had built the
Roxbury factory, the first in the United
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States for the weaving of Brussels carpets,
but had disposed of all his Boston business.
He and Mr. Leathe, however, combined their
energies and resources in the prosecution of
the mirror and picture frame business, and
as importers and wholesale dealers in plate
and window glass, paints and artists’ ma-
terials, and later became large importers of
paintings and works of art. They continued
this business until 1882, when another disas-
trous fire caused Mr. Leathe to abandon it
and give his attention to other affairs. Dur-
ing the years of its existence the firm of
Pettes & Leathe was one of the noted institu-
tions of the city, and many of the finest works
of art now adorning St. Louis homes were
purchased through this house. It had an
educational influence on the city of inesti-
mable value. Its picture galleries were never
without works of the finest modern painters
of Europe, and the St. Louis artists who pos-
sessed real ability found this the place to
bring their works to the notice of the general
public. Prior to 1876 there was no school of
art in St. Louis, and those possessed of a real
love of art and a desire to satisfy its cravings
were pleased and instructed by their visits to
the galleries of this firm. Their exhibitions
and special receptions were leading social
and art events of that period. Since 1882
Mr. Leathe has been engaged in the purchase
and sale of real estate, and in looking after
his investments of various kinds.. One of his
notable operations was the building of the St.
Louis, Belleville & Southern Railway, and
the development of coal mines in St. Clair
County, IllinqQis, in the management of which
he at first had numerous difficulties to over-
come. Many of his old friends predicted
disaster, but he pursued the even tenor of his
way with apparent unconcern, and eventually
sold his railroad and coal mine properties for
a satisfactory sum. Soon afterward he in-
vested in the purchase of the famous body of
mineral land known as “Mine L.a’ Motte,” in
southeast Missouri, for which he paid a large
sum. This purchase includes 24,000 acres
of land on which is located the noted Mine
La Motte lead mine, and to which Mr.
Leathe has added 14,000 acres. This mine,
with its working shafts, crushing and dress-
ing works, calcines, smelters and refiners,
with extensive steam and electric plants, em-
ploying some 350 men, is in constant opera-
tion, producing the famed brand of “Anchor”

pig lead. Nickel, cobalt and copper are also
produced in considerable quantities as bi-
products. The entire town of Mine La
Motte, which is Mr. Leathe’s property, is lo-
cated on this land, and besides being under-
laid by a vast deposit of ore, a large portion of
the tract is tillable, and Mr. Leathe conducts
there a valuable and extensive stock ranch,
and, besides, has under rent 111 farms, rang-
ing in area from forty to 260 acres each. He
also owns and operates a general store and a
drug store in his town of Mine La Motte.
Mr. Leathe has never seemed to tire in mind
or body, and it is a common saying among
the business men of St. Louis that, when on
the streets, he “doesn’t walk, but goes in a
run.” Notwithstanding the fact that he has
engaged in many ventures, he has been all his
life a man of steady habits and his will power
is truly remarkable. While a member of no
church, he inclines to Presbyterianism, and
he is a member of the Masonic order. In
June, 1854, he married Miss Henrietta Bailey,
a daughter of a book merchant of Cambridge,
Massachusetts, and one son, Samuel Leathe,
was born of their union. Mrs. Leathe died in
1886. During the later, as well as in the
earlier, years of his life, Mr. Leathe has trav-
eled extensively, and he has spent much of
his time abroad. He enjoys the distinction
of having been the first St. Louisan to ascend
Mount Blanc, in Switzerland, and as early as
1865, while abroad, he inaugurated a direct
trade in plate glass between the manufactur-
ers of England, Germany and Belgium and
St. Louis. Between the years 1865 and 1867
he spent all his time in Europe.

Lebanon,—The judicial seat of Laclede
County, an incorporated city of the fourth
class, situated nearly in the center of the
county, on the St. Louis & San Francisco
Railroad, 182 miles from St. Louis and fifty-
eight miles northwest of Springfield. Lying
in the heart of the Ozark Mountains, in the
midst of one of the richest agricultural and
fruit-growing regions, it is important as a
commercial center. The city is delightfully
situated at an altitude of more than 1,200 feet
above sea level, and with its salubrious cli-
mate and noted magnetic springs, is growing
famous as a health resort. The city is nicely
laid out, and street are finely graded and
shaded with trees along either side. The
town has a sewerage system, a waterworks
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costing more than $40,000, an electric light-
ing plant, a fine public school building, a
superior courthouse, completed in 1894 at
acost of $20,000, and a number of fine church
edifices, including Catholic, Episcopal, Con-
greg-ational, Methodist Episcopal, North and
South, Christian, Baptist and Presbyterian,
and three churches for colored people. The
townn supports three newspapers, the “Rus-
tic,” DDemocratic, published by A. W. Brad-
shawr ; the “Sentinel,” Populist, editéd by B.
H. Cogwill, and the “Republican,” published
by J. E.McKesson. There are about seventy
busirness concerns, both large and small, in-
duding two banks, two flouring mills, two
hotels, stores in the various branches of
trade and a number of shops. There are
represented in the town Masonic, Odd Fel-
low, United -Workmen, Woodmen of the
World, Royal Arcanum and other orders.
The city has a telephone system and connec-
tion with neighboring towns. In 1899 the Cul-
pePPer and Shannon College was founded,
and buildings costing more than $100,000
esected. In October of 1899, when the
school was about to open for its first term,
the buildings were destroyed by fire. No
insurance was carried, and all was a total
loss, and a serious one for the city. The
Population in 1900 was 2,125.

Ledue, Marie P., pioneer lawyer, and

a distinguished character in the early his-
tory of the bench and bar of St. Louis, was
born in St. Denis, near Paris, France, in
1770, and died near St. Louis August 15,
1840. He was reared and educated in
France, and came to America in his young
manhood. He established his home first at
New Madrid in 1793, and six years later
removed to St. Louis. He soon became
Prominent in conducting the affairs of the

village of St. Louis and its tributary country, .

and Governor Delassus appointed him secre-
tary of the province. Immediately after
Captain Stoddard had taken possession of the
territory in the name of the United States
he appointed Leduc syndic of the town and of
the surrounding country embraced within an
area four miles square. After Upper Lou-
isiana was attached to the Territory of Indi-
ana as the District of Louisiana, Governor
Harrison made him judge of probate, re-
corder and notary public of St. Louis. Later
he was also appointed official translator of

the board of land commissioners. Leduc also
became prominent as a Territorial official. In
1807 Frederick Bates, acting Governor, ap-
pointed him justice of the peace and notary
public. In 1812 he was reappointed justice
of the peace, judge of probate, notary pub-
lic, recorder and register of boatmen. He
was also appointed clerk of the court of
common pleas, and he held no less than six
offices at one time. In 1815 he was ap-
pointed clerk of the county court, and the
same year he was also made clerk of the
circuit court, which positions he held until
1818, when he resigned. He was then elected
a member of the Territorial Assembly of
Missouri, and served in that body until Mis-
souri was admitted into the Union as a
State. When the first State Legislature con-
vened he was a member of that body and
helped to frame the earliest statutory laws
of the Commonwealth. He was re-elected
to the State Legislature in 1822, but soon
afterward resigned. In 1825 he was com-
missioned by Governor Bates judge of pro-
bate for the County of St. Louis. This office
he held until the probate court was abolished
and the county court took its place, when
he was appointed presiding justice, and
served until 1839. He then resigned on ac-
count of failing health, and soon afterward
went to live at the home of Hypolite Papin,
west of St. Louis, where he died a year later
at the age of seventy years. Judge Leduc
was a distinguished character during the
years of his residence in St. Louis. His ca-
reer covered the entire formative period of
the government of St. Louis and the Terri-
tory and State of Missouri. His name has
been handed down to the present generation
as that of an able and efficient public serv-
ant who was true to every trust.

Lee, Alfred, merchant, was born Feb-
ruary 26, 1827, in New Orleans. His
parents were George and Mary Ferguson
(Deare) Lee. The father was a native of
England, and came to that city as a repre-
sentative of an English firm when quite
young, and was there married. The mother
died when their son was four years old, and
he was cared for in his early days by his
grandmother, an excellent woman, whose in-
fluence upon him was salutary and enduring.
She was born in Boston, Massachusetts, and
when a girl melted the family pewterware
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into bullets for her brothers, who were sol-
diers in the Continental Army. She was
called by the British soldiers “the pretty lit-
tle rebel.” His mother was born in New
York, where she first married a Mr. Deare.
They removed to New Orleans, where he
died about two years after their marriage.
Mrs. Deare afterward married Mr. Lee, and
Alfred Lee was the youngest son born of
this marriage. He was schooled for a time
at Jefferson College, Louisiana. In 1840 he
entered a boys’ school in Boston, Massachu-
setts, conducted by an Episcopal clergyman,
where he completed an excellent education.
In later years he became particularly

proficient in astronomy, Frencli and
Greek —the study of which he took
up after he was fifty years of

age —and he was also a deeply interested
student of historical and theological works.
He left school in 1843 and took employment
with the wool firm of George Livermore, in
Boston, remaining one vear. In 1844 he
entered the hardware house of Gardner &
Thayer, a business much more to his liking,
where he was engaged for four years. In
1848 he removed to St. Louis, Missouri,
where he worked in turn for the hardware
firms of Donaldson & Hall and Child, Pratt
& Co. He then engaged in business on his
own account, instituting the Alfred Lee &
Co. Agricultural Warehouse and Seed
Store, which he sold out. After this he be-
came an employe of the hardware house of
Shapleigh, Day & Co., and retained connec-
tion with it through its various changes dur-
ing the last thirty-eight years of his life. He
was a partner when the firm became A. F.
Shapleigh & Co., in 1863. In 1880, when
it became the Shapleigh & Cantwell Hard-
ware Company, he was secretary and treas-
urer, and later when Alfred Lee Shapleigh
became secretary he continued to be treas-
urer. He made his home in St. Louis until
in May, 1866, when he bought a residence
in Webster Groves, making daily trips to and
from his business. In politics he was a pro-
nounced Republican. April 13, 1844, he was
confirmed by the Rt. Rev. Bishop Eastburn,
in an Episcopal Church in South Boston,
Massachusetts, and on his coming to St.
Louis became a member of St. George’s
Church of that denomination. At a later
day, becoming interested in the Rev. Henry
A. Nelson, pastor of the First Presbyterian

Church, he united with that body and was
for many years a deacon. When he removed
to Webster Groves he transferred his mem-
bership to the Presbyterian Church in that
place. While a young man in Boston he
was a Mason and held relationship with the
Grand Lodge, but lost interest in the order
and ceased attending its meetings. June 27,
1850, he was married to Miss Sarah Gard-
ner Thayer, of Roxbury, Massachusetts. She
was a sister of Mr. Thayer, of the firm of
Gardner & Thayer, and a granddaughter of
the Rev. William Greenough, who was for
fifty years pastor of the Congregational
Church in Newton, Massachusetts. Her
great-grandfather was the Parson Lothrop,
of Mrs. Harriet Beecher Stowe’s “Old Town
Folks.” She is also a descendant of Miles
Standish, “the Captain of Plymouth.” Of
the nine children of Mr. and Mrs. Lee but
three survive—Miss Mary A. Lee, Alfred
Shapleigh Lee, of the Missouri Pacific Rail-
way office, and Mrs. Ellen Lee Booth, wife
of Louis F. Booth, of the Allen & Garnett
Paper Company. Mr. Lee died at his home,
December 22, 1891, aged sixty-four years
nine months and twenty-six days. To his
children he left the legacy of a spotless
name. He was a lover of truth, tender-
hearted, generous to a fault, and, as a friend
of his early youth wrote of him and others
have said of him, “one of the purest-minded
men I ever knew.”

Lee, Bradley D., lawyer, was born in
Litchfield County, Connecticut, March 24,
1838. After completing his academic educa-
tion at Williston Seminary he entered the
office of Honorable Hiram Goodwin, of Riv-
erton, Connecticut, and there began the
course of study which was to fit him for
the bar. He had studied law something less
than two years when he responded to the
call of his country and enlisted in the Union
Army for service in the Civil War. He was
assigned to staff duty, with the rank of cap-
tain, and served in the Army of the Potomac
until the close of the war, being mustered
out with the brevet rank, of major for meri-
torious “conduct. At the close of the war
he returned to his home and entered the law
department of Yale College, from which he
was graduated with the degree of bachelor
of laws in 1866. Immediately afterward he
came to St. Louis, where he occupied a prom-
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inent position at the bar until his death,
which occurred on the 1oth of May, 1897.
Throughout his career as a member of the
St. I_ouis bar he commanded the respect and
admiration of his professional contempora-
ries, both for his ability as a lawyer and his
high character as a man and a citizen. Major
Lee married, in 1870, Miss Belle F. Water-
man, daughter of Honorable A. P. Water-
man, of Beloit, Wisconsin. Their children
are Edwin W. and Wayne Lee.

Lee,James Widerman, was born in
Gwinnett County, Georgia, November 28,
1849. His early life was spent in the quiet
and seclusion of his father’s farm under that
placid and yet rigid discipline which comes
from the need of subduing nature and win-

ning from her the fruits of the soil, a discip-

tne which has furnished to the world in all
time men of the highest ideals and the most

Vigorous action. His parents were people

of the old school, Methodists in faith, de-

voutly religious in practice, believers in
Prayer and careful in the rearing of their
children, From such training as the schools
of the rural districts could give him, young

Lee went to the highest training of the Meth-
odist College of his State, Emory College, at
Oxford. Here the peculiar bent of his mind
soon displayed itself. Maintaining a credit-
able standing in his class, he yet found time
to devour many books, took a hearty inter-
est in the literary society of which he was
a member, and won high encomiums from fel-
low students and faculty. After graduating
from Emory College, at Oxford, Georgia, he
was admitted to membership in the North
Georgia Conference of the Methodist
Church, South. The year after witnessed
his marriage to a lady fitted in every way
to be his helpmate, Miss Eufaula Ledbetter,
of Cedartown, Georgia. The early years of
Dr. Lee's ministry were marked by a dis-
tinct, unique personality, which showed itsclf
in his studies and pulpit efforts. Occasionally
at conferences, at district meetings, camp
meetings and in the routine work of his pas-
torate he would rise to such tenderness and
impassioned heights in presenting the great
themes of the Gospel as to leave no question
in the minds of his hearers as to his power.
Dr. Lee’s contributions to literature have
been most valuable. His “Making of a Man”
is an admirable generalization of the nature,

duty and destiny of man. His “Foot-Prints
of the Man of Galilee” and his “Romance of
Palestine” are the fruits of a tour in the
East, taken under the most favorable con-
ditions; conditions such that he was not only
able to speak from the standpoint of actual
observation, but to present in a series of most
beautiful photographic pictures the locali-
ties visited in that land of inspired interest.
He has been, and is, in demand on platform
and in pulpit, having appeared at the most
prominent Chautauquas and philosophic
schools of this country. He came to St. John’s
Methodist Church, South, the leading Meth-
odist Church of St. Louis, by transfer from
the North Georgia Conference in 1893. After
filling the full limit of the pastoral term of
that church, he was appointed to the presid-
ing-eldership of the St. Louis district, which
he still holds.

Lee,John, farmer and banker, was born
March 5, 1816, in Richmond, Virginia, and
died at his home, in Old Franklin, Missouri,
December 18, 1893. His parents were John
and Susan (Owen) Lee, both of whom were
natives of Virginia. Mr. Lee’s grandfather,
Joel Lee, was a soldier in the Revolutionary
War and served under General Washington.
The elder John Lee came from Virginia to
Missouri with his wife and three children
in 1819, and this farhily, therefore, is one of
the oldest in Missouri which came originally
from an Eastern State. These pioneers set-
tled on a farm in Old Franklin, and for more
than eighty years the Lee family has been
one of the most prominent in that portion
of Missouri. The younger John Lee was
trained to agricultural pursuits and fitted for
a successful career in the school at Old
Franklin. When he began life for himself
he turned his attention largely to stock-
raising, and was wonderfully successful in
this enterprise. Throughout a wide extent
of country he became known as a uniformly
successful farmer, and all his operations were
watched with keen interest by his fellow agri-
culturists, many of whom emulated his ex-
ample. Besides his home farm of 500 acres,
he owned 1,000 acres of the finest land in the
Missouri River bottom, and the success of
his methods of farming had a marked influ-
ence in shaping the agricultural interests of
that portion of the State, and developing
the stock-raising industry which has now
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grown to such large proportions. For many
years he gave special attention to the rais-
ing of cattle and mules, and he sent into the
market vast quantities of this kind of live
stock. In 1877 he was one of the organizers
of the bank of Ahle Lee & Dunicia, at Boon-
ville, Missouri, which was conducted under
this name until the summer of 1882. Mr.
Lee then became head of this banking firm,
which was known thereafter until 1885 as
John Lee & Son, Bankers. In the year last
named he sold his interest in this banking
house and united with other gentlemen in
forming the Commercial Bank of Boonville,
of which he became a director, holding that
position up to the time of his death. He stood
high as a banker and financier, and was re-
garded throughout central Missouri as a
man of remarkable sagacity in all business
affairs. As a citizen he was no less esteemed,
his business methods, strict integrity and
high character commending him to all with
whom he came into contact. His home and
large farm were in the town of Old Franklin,
in Howard County, but his other business
interests were largely centered in Boonville,
which claimed him as one of its leading men
of affairs. His home and that of the Kinney
family are notable residences in the historic
town of Old Franklin, and serve to link with
the present the earlier glories of this once
flourishing town. Politically Mr. Lee always
affiliated with the Democratic party, but he
took no active part in politics. A member
of the Christian Church, he was a deacon
and treasurer of that church for many years
prior to his death, and he was a liberal do-
nor in aid of all movements designed to pro-
mote its advancement and to better moral
and social conditions. He was a member of
the Masonic order, and also of the Independ-
ent Order of Odd Fellows. Mr. Lee was
married, first, April 12, 1842, to Miss Matilda
Graham, who died in 1843. In 1847 he mar-
ried Miss Sarah F. Bailey. The children born
of this union were Ida V., now the wife of
Edward Swinney, president of the First Na-
tional Bank, of Kansas City, and Sallie, now
the wife of K. R. Thompson, also of Kansas
City. In 1877, after the death of his second
wife, he married Mary Susan Talbott, daugh-
ter of W. J. and Elizabeth (Hays) Talbott,
who survives her husband. Mrs. Lee’s father
came from Virginia to Missouri in 1836, and
lived for a short time in Howard County.

In 1838 he returned to Kentucky, but came
back to Howard County in the fall of 1850,
and continued to reside there until his death.
The children born of Mr. Lee’s last marriage
were John T. Lee, of Howard County; Hol-
man Lee, of Boonville, and Martha Lee.

Lee, John A., journalist, politician and
Lieutenant Governor of Missouri, was born
June 28, 1851, in Fleming County, Kentucky.
His family was originally from Virginia, of
ancestors who emigrated from England dur-
ing Colonial days, and aided in establishing
the great Commonwealth of Virginia. Among
the proud families justly enrolled with the F.
F. V. there is no name, except that of Wash-
ington, that is more revered than that of Lee.
Around it cluster imperishable memories,
heroic achievements and glorious deeds that
will Jive forever fresh in the history of the
country and the hearts of the people. Gover-
nor Lee’s father, James A. Lee, was also a
native of Fleming County, Kentucky, and by
occupation a merchant, and incidentally a
farmer. In early youth he freighted goods
and produce in flatboats on the Ohio and
other rivers, by which he acquired sufficient
capital to go into the mercantile business. In
1857 he sold out his interests in Kentucky
and emigrated to Missouri, locating in St.
Louis. On the breaking out of the Civil War
he joined his fortunes with those of the South,
removed his family to New Orleans, and en-
tered the Confederate Army. He served
throughout the war with a bravery and devo-
tion to duty that won for him well merited
promotion, which, with his business sagacity
and ministerial ability, secured for him the
position of quartermaster in General Lovell’s
Brigade, one of the most famous brigades of
the Confederate Army. During the war Gov-
ernor Lee pursued his studies in the schools
of New Orleans, and returning after the war
to Kentucky, he entered and graduated from
Forest Home Academy in Jefferson County.
Soon after leaving college he was made
deputy circuit clerk of Fleming County, and
employed his spare time in reading law. He
was thus engaged for two years, but, al-
though he prepared himself for the bar, he
never practiced the profession, owing mainly
to a flattering offer to énter mercantile life as
a bookkeeper with a Louisville firm. His
affable nature, pleasing address and business
ability soon commended him to the attention
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of a large wholesale house, resulting in a pro-
posal for him to go on the road for the firm.
He finally accepted and commenced one of
the most successful careers known in those
days among commercial travelers. For twelve
years he traveled out of Louisville, New York
and St. Louis, and into nearly every State in
the Union. He was not only a successful
salesman, but his affable nature and genial
disposition made him a universal favorite

among the traveling fraternity. He
was one of the organizers of the
Travelers’  Protective  Association  of

America. For four successive terms he was
elected national president of the order, when
he declined to longer serve. During his ad-
ministration the association grew from 3,500
to 13,000 members, and now (1901) has a
membership of 18,000. He has also served
one term as director of the Western Com-
mercial Travelers’ Association. In 1891 he
embraced the opportunity of entering the
journalistic field by establishing in St. Louis
the now far-famed trade journal known as the
“Interstate Grocer.” He still owns this valu-
able journal, and is ever improving and ex-
tending its field of usefulness. Governor Lee
early evinced an interest in politics, and being
a Democrat by birth and education, zealously
enlisted under its banner. So valuable were
his services in the campaign of 1891 that Gov-
ernor Stone conferred upon him the appoint-
ment of police commissioner of St. Louis,
which position he filled with great credit from
1893 to 1897. In 1896 the Democratic State
Convention nominated him for presidential
elector at large, but he withdrew in order to
promote fusion with the Populists by allow-
ing them a place on the electorial ticket. In
1896 he was also a candidate for Lieutenant
Governor, and although he entered the race
only two weeks before the convention, he
came within a few votes of securing the nomi-
nation, This short and phenomenal race at-
tracted attention to him all over the State,
and won for him hundreds of warm friends
and admirers. In St. Louis politics he has
long been one of the most trusted leaders and
wise counselors, and has been honored with
various party positions of trust, among them
the chairmanship of the executive commit-
tee of the city central committee and chair-
man of the general or precinct committee. On
June 5, 1900, he was, after a long and brilliant
campaign, nominated for Lieutenant Gover-
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nor over several popular competitors, and at
the ensuing election in November was elected
by an overwhelming vote. In the convention
that nominated him there was a total vote of
1,208. On the first ballot he received 323
votes, on the second 403, and on the third was
unanimously nominated, all opposing candi-
dates withdrawing. During his campaign he
won high encomiums as a public speaker. He
has a fine command of language, is a clear
and logical reasoner, forceful in expression,
and being a man of strong convictions,
never fails to impress his audience with his
earnestness. To a magnificent physique is
added an erect; graceful carriage and a pol-
ished address that gives him a commanding
presence in any assemblage of men, and yet
there is no suspicion of haughtiness or con-
scious superiority. On the contrary he is
always natural, easily approached and a gra-
cious listener, even to the most lowly. His
disposition can be no more aptly expressed
than in the word “Lovable,” for all who
know “John A.,” as he is familiarly called,
testify to his uniform kindness and disposi-
tion to oblige all whom it is his power to help,
be they friends or strangers. He was mar-
ried June 3, 1880, to Miss Martha Virginia
Gathright, of Louisville, Kentucky. To them
have been born four children named respect-
ively, Virginia D., Minnie D., James Owen
and Eva G. Lee. Mrs. Lee is an accomplished
lady and as popular in social circles as her
husband is in political circles. She is secre-
tary of the St. Louis Chapter of the Daugh-
ters of the Revolution; president of the St.
Louis order of the Daughters of the Con-
federacy, and identified with a number of
charitable and social organizations. Both
Governor Lee and his wife are members and
zealous workers in the Christian Church. He
is also a member of the Royal Arcanum, Or-
der of Ben Hur, Blue Lodge Chapter and
Commandery of the Masonic order, and
Knights of Pythias. One of the most taste-
ful and delightful homes in St. Louis is that
of Governor Leg, in the aristocratic neighbor-
hood known as Cabanne Place. Everything
about the home bespeaks refined tastes and
solid comfort, and no home is more noted for
its generous, open-hearted hospitality.

Lee’s Summit.—A town in Jackson
County, platted in 1865. It is situated on the
Missouri Pacific Railroad and contains many
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stores, two banks, a newspaper, five churches,
a graded school, hotels, etc. It is noted for
its nurseries and large orchards. Its busi-
ness is extensive and the surrounding coun-
try is rich in agricultural products. It has
a mayor and aldermen, and its population is
2,000.

Leeper, Wadsworth Daniel, lawyer
and legislator, was born in Chillicothe, Mis-
souri, June ¢, 1867. His father was Rev.
Daniel Ashby Leeper, and his mother, Jeru-
sha M. Leeper. The elder Leeper was born
in Hopkinsville, Kentucky, March 15, 1818,
and came of Scotch-Irish ancestry, represent-
atives of his family having been early settlers

in Virginia, Tennessee and Kentucky. His-

father came to Chariton County, Missouri,
with his family in 1819, and was numbered
among the pioneers who laid the foundations
of the present splendid commonwealth. In
1832 he removed to Livingston County, Mis-
souri, where he died in 1845. Rev. Daniel A.
Leeper was one of the pioneer Southern
Methodist ministers of Missouri, and was well
known throughout the State as an eloquent
and popular pulpit orator. He preached in
Kansas City for years when that place was
known as Westport, later removed to Chilli-
cothe and died there March 14, 1868. His
remains now rest at Independence, Missouri.
His wife, the mother of Wadsworth D. Lee-
per, was born in Morgan County, Missouri,
May 1, 1833, and was reared mainly in Jack-
son County, of this State. In 1900 she was
still living, her home being at Chillicothe,
Missouri. In his early boyhood Mr. Leeper
attended the public schools of Chillicothe, and
when he was fifteen years of age learned the
printer’s trade. He afterward set type for
three years, and with money saved from his
earnings attended Central College at Fayette,
Missouri, during three ycars following. After
completing his academic studies he entered
the St. Louis Law School at St. Louis, and
later went to Yale Law School, from which he
was graduated with the degree of bachelor of
laws in the class of 1893. Immediately after-
ward he began the practice of his profession
at Chillicothe, and at once gave evidence of
the fact that the same industry, tenacity of
purpose and close application which had car-
ried him successfully through the educational
period of his life, was certain to carry him

forward rapidly in his profession. He has
since given close attention to the practice of
law, and by force of his high character and
ability has gained enviable distinction in his
chosen calling. Except while pursuing his
studies, his entire life has been passed in Chil-
licothe, and his home of to-day stands on the
ground on which he was born. The friends
of his boyhood have been the friends of his
manhood, and the honors which have come to
him have come from those who have known
him from his youth up. Soon after his entry
into professional life he was elected mayor of
Chillicothe and served in that capacity during
the years 1895 and 1896. In the last named
year he was chosen a member of the House of
Representatives in the General Assembly, and
represented Livingston County in that body
for two years. While serving the public in
this capacity he was a member of the house
committees on appropriations and criminal
jurisprudence. On behalf of the Democrats
of the House of Representatives he was
chosen to make the nominating speech when
Honorable George G. Vest was presented to
that body for re-election to the United States
Senate in January of 1897. In 1898 he was
the choice of the Democrats of Livingston
County for Congress, and was presented as
such to the Democratic convention of his
congressional district, held in June of 18g8.
In 1900 he sat as a delegate in the National
Democratic Convention which met at Kan-
sas City July 4th, and nominated William J.
Bryan and Adlai Stevenson for president and
vice president. The public positions which
he has held at the hands of the Democratic
party bear evidence of the fact that he has
been an ardent champion of its principles and
policies, and from early manhood he has been
prominent in its councils. He has taken an
active part in State and national campaigns,
is an able and forceful public speaker, and is
known throughout the State as one of the
most promising of the younger generation of .
Democrats now in public life. In religion he
is a Methodist and he has been a member of
the Elm Street Southern Methodist Church
of Chillicothe since he was fifteen years of
age. Active in all the work of the church, he
is a member of its board of stewards and is
also a Sunday school teacher. His fraternal
affiliations are with the Free Masons and
Knights of Pythias. Mr. Leeper is unmarried.



LEFFINGWELL—LEGAL PROFESSION OF ST. LOUIS. 19

Leflingwell, Hiram Wheeler, was
born at Norwich Hill, Hampden County,
Massachusetts, May 3,1809. At the age of ten
years he was brought by his parents to Mead-
ville, Pennsylvania. After receiving a good
education he taught school in Ohio and Penn-
sylvania for several years, and in 1838 came
to St. Louis. He next went to Galena, and
spent two years in trading between that place
and Chicago, but returned to St. Louis in
1843, and became deputy county surveyor
and also deputy United States marshal. His
surveying led him finally into the real estate
business, and for a number of years his work
in this field was very large. His firm was
originator and one of the founders of the
suburban town of Kirkwood. He laid out
Grand Avenue in St. Louis, in 1852, when it
was so far out in the country that even he
proposed it more as a suburban drive around
the city than in the expectation that it would
ever become the chief thoroughfare through
the heart of it. His great work was the es-
tablishment of Forest Park, in St. Louis,
which he originated and urged before the
public, the Legislature and the city authori-
ties. Subsequently he was appointed United
States marshal at St. Louis. At the end of

his term of office he removed to Florida, and

died there in 1897 at the age of eighty-eight
years,

Legal Interest.—The legal rate of in-
terest in Missouri, when not stipulated by
contract, is 6 per cent, but 8 per cent is ad-
missible under agreement.

Legal Profession of 8t. Louis.—
As compared with other cities of the same
magnitude and importance, the bar of St.
Louis has maintained a uniformly high
standard, although it has not, perhaps, num-
bered among its members as many lawyers
of national reputation. The reason for this
fact will readily appear upon a consideration
of the peculiar conditions under which that
bar has -developed. )

When the State of Missouri was admitted
to the Union, many of the most important
questions arising under the National Con-

stitution had already been settled by the
S}‘Preme Court of the United States. The
aty of St. Louis, originally a French trading

Dost, had developed steadily, but slowly, into

a oty of size, but it had not attained the

rank of a great commercial or manufactur-
ing center, or a terminus of the larger rail-
road systems. Hence there have been want-
ing in its history (until in recent years its
mercantile, railroad and other interests
reached the volume which cause great legal
contests) those features which create numer-
ous legal controversies involving large sums;
and as the strength of a bar grows in direct
proportion with the difficulties of its litiga-
tion, that of St. Louis was not called upon
for those extraordinary efforts which have
produced the great professional reputations
in other cities.

The kinds of litigation out of the ordinary
which have occupied the bench and bar of
this city are few, that relating to the old
French and Spanish titles, under which the
real estate in its limits was held, being, per-
haps, the only one worthy of special notice.
The controversies which arose in connection
with these in the early history of the city
developed a class of practitioners deeply
versed in the French and Spanish laws under
which these titles devolved, and in the prog-
ress of this litigation vast research was dis-
played by the leaders of the bar; but the
settlement of nearly all of these titles, more
than a generation ago, put an end to this
class of litigation, and made useless the mass
of special learning which it had called forth.
Few great constitutional questions have
arisen in the city, and these have been such
as had but local or temporary interest. The
class of litigation which was dependent upon
the river trade practically disappeared when
the railroads took away the business from
the river, and hence the litigation which has
occupied the bar of this city has been, as a
rule, of a character not calculated to evoke
the highest qualities of the lawyer.

Nevertheless, a roster of the St. Louis bar
shows a long list of able and brilliant men,
When the State was admitted to the Union,
and a codification of its laws became neces-
sary, there came to the front a man pre-
eminently fitted for that duty and for the
long and brilliant career which was after-
ward his, in the person of Henry S. Geyer.
Of exceptional natural parts, he was thor-
oughly grounded, both in general scholar-
ship and the history, principles and preced-
ents of the law. To these gifts he added an
indefatigable industry, which, during his
long practice, enabled him to accomplish a
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vast amount of labor. He was concerned in
all the greater controversies which arose dur-
ing the long period of his professional life,
and upon every occasion distinguished him-
self by a display of ability and learning which
raised him to the position of undisputed pre-
eminence in the profession.

James S. Green was another member of
the profession who illustrated the power of
patient industry, coupled with exceptional
ability. He was a man of acute perceptions,
deep learning and great native ability, and
he impressed himself upon his contempora-
ries as one who was entitled to rank among
the first in the profession at any bar.

Josiah Spaulding,deeply versed in the equi-
ty jurisprudence of England, lives in the
memory of the profession as one of its
ablest members, and overtopped most of his
contemporaries in the clear, logical precision
which characterized his professional address,
and won material success by his indefatigable
labor and application.

Willis L. Williams gained special promi-
nence by reason of his proficiency in the law
of real estate, and maintained an eminent
position among his contemporaries in litiga-
tion of that character.

Uriel Wright early acquired and long main-
tained a great reputation as a most success-
ful trial lawyer. He was gifted with extra-
ordinary readiness and ingenuity, and, espe-
cially in the management of criminal cases,
maintained a position of great eminence until
the time of his death.

Few men at any bar have ever possessed
the native ability of Roswell L. Field, who,
by patient assiduity, acquired a depth of
learning in real property law second to none
of his contemporaries, excepting, perhaps,
Geyer. To these he added an almost invin-
cible power in the presentation and mainte-
nance of legal propositions, and throughout a
long and arduous practice maintained a posi-
tion among the very foremost leaders of the
bar.

Of a somewhat later date, but already ap-
proaching his maturity, when Williams, Field
and Wright were at their zenith, came Sam-
uel T. Glover, a man of transcendent natural
powers, supplemented by an almost super-
human industry and zeal. Mr. Glover, ranked
by many of his contemporaries as superior
even to Mr. Geyer, was a man of the most
extraordinary capacity and power. Through-

out a practice of over forty years he dealt
with nearly all of the great controversies of
his time, and whether in the office, in the
trial court or in the courts of last resort,
exhibited a force, a brilliancy and a compre-
hensive capacity to deal with questions of
the greatest magnitude rarely excelled and
seldom equaled. In the famous case of Blair
vs. Ridgley, involving the validity of certain
provisions of the State Constitution of 1868,
he displayed a wealth of knowledge and
acuteness of intellect, a familiarity with the
greatest legal principles, seldom, if ever, ex-
celled by any member of the profession, and
at his death he had for nearly a whole gen-
eration held the unquestioned leadership of
the bar.

Thomas T. Gantt is a name which will long
be familiar to the bar of St. Louis by its
association with abilities of the highest or-
der, coupled with a wide and thorough learn-
ing, as well in the humanities and general
scholarship as in the profession. As a trial
lawyer he was distinguished as a most ex-
pert cross-examiner, and in the appellate
courts realized extraordinary success by vir-
tue of an insistent determination, which often
dominated the courts, and by sheer force of
his individuality carried the day for his
client.

Among his contemporaries the name of
James O. Broadhead stands out prominently
as one of the ablest opponents of Gantt and
Glover, and, in some respects, their superior.
Lacking Mr. Glover’s versatility, Colonel
Broadhead’s great powers were concentrated
upon the more profound branches of the
law, relating especially to constitutional ques-
tions. In these he was almost without a
peer in his ability to analyze the question
submitted to its fundamental principles, and
to solve it by reference to the great under-
lying principles of law which govern State
and national charters; and his fame rests
upon that enduring basis which results from
the exercise of great intellectual powers upon
the greatest questions which interest the pro-
fession. In the famous express cases and the
Mormon Church case his great powers came
into full play, and the opportunities they
gave him to measure himself against some
of the greatest lawyers of the land resulted
most creditably to his reputation.

Henry Hitchcock has long and justly
stood as one of the chief ornaments of the
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St. Louis bar. Of fine natural gifts, he has
throughout a long professional life displayed
an assiduity which alone would have ranked
him high in the profession, but he has added
to this a depth of learning in the law un-
equaled in the local profession. He has,
perhaps, been concerned in more of the great
litigation than any other member of this bar,
and to-day enjoys a mnational reputation
greater than that of any of its members. His
learning is finished, scholarly and profound,
and he is at the present time universally con-
sidered as the leader of the profession.
John W. Noble has for many years main-
tained a high and creditable position in the
Profession. Of considerable learning, forci-
le address and large experience, he has al-
:’;Y; creditably sustained a reputation for
cﬁ;hty and devotion to the interests of his

Ats in the numerous and important con-

Versies in which he has been engaged.

ustavus A. Finkelnburg is one of the men

who has risen from small beginnings into a

wel deserved prominence by indomitable

will, clear, logical thinking, and careful study
ol the principles and precedents of the law.
His special characteristic is the lucidity with
which he presents his cases, and his success
1s largely due to this quality which, as all
members of the profession recognize, is of
s0 much importance in the management of
causes,

Until his retirement from the practice a
few years since, George A. Madill stood
among the foremost, if not first, in the ranks
of the profession in St. Louis. Without any
pretensions to eloquence or learning outside
of the profession, Judge Madill early gained
and steadfastly maintained his high position
b_y means of an indomitable energy and per-
sistence and the faculty of clear and exhaust-
wve analysis. The most marked qualities dis-
Played by him as a lawyer were the facility
with which he reduced a controversy to its
simplest terms, and his capacity for reconcil-
Ing the elements of a case with the funda-
mental principles of the law. He was es-
Sentially 3 lawyer of principle rather than
Precedent, and in many and notable litiga-
tions in which he was concerned, his suc-
Cess was largely due to that faculty, coupled
Wlﬁ_l the studiously cultivated habit of clear,
logical statement.

Britton A. Hill was a man of extraordinary
natura] capacity and vast learning, especially

in relation to the law of real property. His
personality was impressive, and his successes
were due to that combination of personal
force and learning so rare in the profes-
sion.

John W. Dryden, who, for many years,
sat upon the supreme bench, illustrated in
his professional life the power of patient
industry, united with strong natural qual-
ities.

William B. Napton, also a member of the
supreme court of the State for many years,
added greatly to the strength of the local
bar. He was of a clear, discriminating intel-
lect, and forcible method of expression. Dur-
ing the twenty-five years which he spent upon
the supreme bench he was of great service to
the profession by his industry and his valu-
able opinions.

St. Louis has developed but few great
criminal lawyers for the reason that very
few of the crimes committed in it are of an
extraordinary character. Among these, how-
ever, Charles P. Johnson stands to-day as
the acknowledged leader of the profession
in that branch. Possessed of a pleasing and
impressive personality, he has long been
famed for the astuteness with which he man-
ages the affairs of his clients and the nota-
ble successes which have attended his ef-
forts. '

As a bar has no existence separate from
that of its membership, this brief account
of the best exponents of the legal profession
in St. Louis must suffice as a description of
the profession itself. It must be said of the
bar as a whole, that it has always maintained
a very high standard of professional integ-
rity. Only once in its history has the bar
association found it necessary to proceed
against any one of its members for unpro-
fessional conduct, and then only for what
has been shown to be an exceptional viola-
tion of the ethics of the profession, and while
it can not be claimed, as to its individual
members, it has produced so many great
names as some of the older cities, yet its
average has been high, and its traditions and
ethics admirably maintained.

JamEs L. BLAIR.

Legg, Jerome Bibb, architect, was
born in Schuyler County, Illinois, November
12, 1838. He attended school at Canton,
Missouri, and completed his academic studies
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at Middle Grove Academy. In 1864 he came
to St. Louis. In 1867 he entered the employ
of G. I. Barnett, then the leading architect of
St. Louis, and afterward worked with a
builder. He was entrusted with the work of
planning the architectural details and super-
intending the construction of the Centenary
Methodist Episcopal Church, of St. Louis.
Upon its completion he opened an office and
entered upon a remarkably successful profes-
sional career as an architect. Within three
years he planned and superintended the build-
ing of the Illinois Institute for the Education
of the Blind, at Jacksonville, Illinois, and
shortly after that planned and erected the
Normal School building at Litchfield, Illinois.
Since then he has occupied an exceedingly
prominent position among Western archi-
tects, and many notable public buildings have
been erected in accordance with his plans and
designs. He was the architect of the St.
Louis Exposition and Music Hall building,
the Missouri State Capitol building, and had
also furnished the plans for operahouses,
courthouses, hotels, schoolhouses, churches
and bank buildings in widely separated locali-
ties, his professional labors having extended
into a dozen States.

Legion of Honor.—This order orig-
inated in St. Louis in May, 1879, and in the
following July a charter was obtained. The
name is derived from the celebrated French
Legion of Honor instituted by Napoleon, and
the badge adopted is a facsimile of the
French badge. The American order bearing
the same name is a benefit order, which pays
to the family or dependents of a deceased
member a certain specified sum of money
at his death. The founders were prominent
St. Louis men. Judge John H. Terry was its
first supreme chancellor. Its charter author-
ized it to extend its membership throughout
the entire State of Missouri, maintaining
headquarters in St. Louis.  Starting with
thirty members in that city, it now has a
membership of nearly 4,000.

Legislative Department.—In Mis-
souri the legislative power is vested in the
General Assembly of the State, which alone
has authority to make laws, its authority be-
ing limited only by the constitution of Mis-
souri, which is the supreme law of the State,
and the constitution of the United States,

which is the supreme law of the land. The
General Assembly, or law-making body, con-
sists of two houses—tlie Senate, or upper
house, as it is sometimes called, and the
House of Representatives, sometimes called
the lower house. The Senate is composed
of thirty-four members elected by the people
in senatorial districts, and holding office for
four years, one-half the number being chosen
every two years. The House of Representa-
tives is composed of a larger number of mem-
bers, there being one representative from
each county, and several from the larger
counties, Representatives are chosen for
two years, serving for one General Assembly,
the Senators serving for two. The General
Assembly meets once in two years, though it
may be convoked oftener in special session
by the Governor. The two houses meet on
the first Wednesday after the first day of Jan-
uary of the odd years, in the Capitol or State-
house at Jefferson City, and sit at the same
time,but in different chambers. Neither house
alone can make a law—it must be passed by
both, and then approved by the Governor, or
passed a second time by both houses over the
Governor’s veto, to make it a law. The Gen-
eral Assembly of Missouri is forbidden to
pass local or special laws in thirty-two speci-
fied cases, and in addition to this it is forbid-
den to pass a local or special law in any case
where a general law can apply.

Legislature.—The law-making body in
a government. In Missouri this body is of-
ficially known as the General Assembly.

Legislature, Pay of Members of.
In Missouri the pay of members of the State
Legislature is $5 a day and mileage, for sev-
enty days; $1 a day after seventy days. Ses-
sion not limited. Thirty dollars in lieu of
stationery. Sessions biennial, but the Legis-
lature may be convened by the Governor
whenever in his judgment necessary.

Le Grand Village Sauvage.—When
the territory now comprising Perry County
was first settled, the Delaware and Shawnee
Indians occupied it as their hunting grounds
and had a number of villages, one of which,
about nine miles south of the present site of
Perryville, was called by the French Le
Grand Village Sauvage or “the Village of
the Savages.” As late as 1822 this village
had more than eighty huts.
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Lehmann, Frederick William, law-
yer, was born February 28, 1853, in Prussia,

and came to America with his parents in early.

childhood. His early education was obtained
in the schools of Ohio and Indiana, and his
acadeinic studies were completed at Tabor
College, of Tabor, Iowa, from which he grad-
vated in 1873. Prior to his graduation he had
begun the study of law, and a few months
after leaving college he was admitted to the
bar in Tama County, Iowa. He began
practice at Nebraska City, Nebraska, and in
1876 removed to Des Moines, Iowa. He left
Iowa in 1890 with the reputation of being one
of the most brilliant lawyers of the State, and
came to St. Louis as the general attorney of
the Wabash Railway Company. He held the
chief attorneyship until June 1, 1895, when
he resigned to become a member of the firm
of Boyle, Priest & Lehmann. He has partici-
pated in much of the most important litiga-
tion which has occupied the attention of the
State and Federal courts of St. Louis. He
presents his cases in court with consummate
skill and ability. In oral argument he is
notable for the clearness and perspicuity of
his statements, his apt illustrations, logical
reasoning and correct conclusions. Prior to
1896 Mr. Lehmann affiliated politically with
the regular organization of the Democratic
party, but in that year he supported Palmer
and Buckner for the presidency and vice
presidency, respectively. His public utter-
ances in that campaign attracted much atten-
tion, and his speeches were widely published
and read. December 23, 1879, Mr. Lehmann
married, at Des Moines, Iowa, Miss Nora
Stark, of that city. Their children are Sears,
Frederick W. Lehmann, Jr., and Jack Leh-
mann,

Le Houllier, George, physician, was
born July 26, 1858, at St. Genevieve, Cham-
plain District, in the Province of Quebec,
Canada. His parents were Onesimus and
Theresa (Lheureux) Le Houllier. He was
educated in the common schools of his native
village, and the Christian Brothers’ school
at Three Rivers, in the Province of Quebec,
remaining in the latter institution for four
years and completing what was practically
a collegiate course. When he was twenty
years of age he removed to Meriden, Con-
necticut, where he remained for four vears,
engaged in a silver-plating establishment,

then in a drug store and in the office of a phy-
sician. During this time he devoted all his
spare hours to the study of medicine. He
then returned to Canada, where for a year he
continued his professional studies in the office
of Dr. Alain, at Batiscan. Following this he

took a two years’ course of medical instruc-

tion at Victoria College, in Montreal, and
then entered the Hotel Jeanne Hos-
pital, where he remained for one year.
He was now well equipped for the
practice of his profession, having had
the advantages of instruction from pro-
fessors of the highest attainments, as well
as of clinical observation and practice in two
of the leading hospitals in the Dominion of
Canada. Immigrating to America, he located
in 1886 in Florissant, St. I.ouis County, Mis-
souri,and entered upon the professional work
in which he is now engaged. To a thorough
technical knowledge and skill in the various
departments of his profession he unites those
sympathetic qualities so desirable in one of
his calling, and he enjoys more than local
fame as a successful practitioner. In a social
way he is highly esteemed, while as a citizen
he is greatly respected for his deep and active
interest in all matters for the advancement
of the moral and material prosperity of the
community. Education has claimed much of
his intelligent effort, and he has rendered to
the public valuable services as a member of
the district school board and as president of
that body. In politics he is a Democrat, and
in religion a Catholic, earnest in maintenance
of his principles, but always regardful of the
rights of others in matters of opinion. He was
married, June 30, 1891, to Miss Marie Louise
Fugere, of Batiscan, Canada. Of this union
three children have been born, Florence,
Alma and Eugene Pierre.

Leighton, George Eliot, in his early
manhood a member of the St. Louis bar, but
in later life widely known as a manufacturer
and public benefactor, was born in Cam-
bridge, Massachusetts, March 7, 1835. Heis
a lineal descendant of Captain John Leighton,
who came to America in the year 1650. He
graduated with class honors from Woodward
College, Cincinnati, Ohio, began the study of
law, and, after three years’ preparation was
admitted to practice. In 1858 he came to St.
Louis. In April of 1861 he was com-
missioned a lieutenant in the Third Missouri
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Infantry Regiment of the United States Re-
serve Corps. Some time later he was pro-
moted to major of the Fifth Missouri State
Militia Cavalry, and still later transferred to
the Twelfth Cavalry Regiment. In the
autumn of 1861 he was assigned to duty as
provost marshal of the St. Louis division,

under command of General H. W. Halleck.

He was later promoted to colonel of the Sev-
enth Regiment, Enrolled Missouri Militia,
and served in that capacity until the close of
the war. He resumed his law practice in
1865. His intellectual vigor and superior
attainments as a lawyer soon impressed them-
selves upon the bar, and, in addition to a
large general practice, he became general
counsel of the MissouriPacific Railroad Com-
pany, continuing to occupy that position until
1874. Through this connection he acquired
certain railroad interests, and, being largely
interested also in manufacturing enterprises
after 1875, he was compelled to relinquish his
law practice and devote himself entirely to his
business affairs. The Bridge & Beach Man-
ufacturing Company was then, and is still, one
of the largest iron manufacturing establish-
ments in the West. Colonel Leighton be-
came president of this corporation in 1875,
and for twenty years a large share of his time
was devoted to its interests. He has been
officially connected with the Union Pacific
Railroad Company, Union Trust Company,
and the Boatmen’s Bank, and with numerous
other private corporations, and also with
many corporations public or semi-public in
character, among them being the Bellefon-
taine Cemetery, Washington University, the
Missouri Historical Society, the Commercial
Club of St. Louis, of which for four years he
was president, the St. Louis Academy of
Science, the St. Louis School of Fine Arts,
and the St. Louis Medical College. He is a
member of the Missouri Commandery of the
Loyal Legion, of the Missouri Society of the
Sons of the American Revolution, of which
he has been president, and the Society of
Colonial Wars. He was one of the founders
of the National Arts Club (New York), and is
one of the trustees as also one of the vice
presidents of that organization.

For more than a score of years he has been
a member of the board of trustees of Wash-
ington University, and for over ten years he
was president of the board. Not less im-
portant have been the services which he has

rendered to the Missouri Historical Society,
of which he was for ten years president and
to which he has been a most generous donor.
He has an especial fondness for the collection
and study of historical literature, and his
library—the largest private library in St.
Louis—contains more books, manuscripts,
pamphlets, early maps, and other historical
data relative to the Mississippi Valley and the
building up of the great empire of the West,
than any other private library in the United
States. It is particularly rich in French and
Spanish literature relating to the discovery,
exploration and settlement of this great val-
ley.

Acting with the Republican party, he has
taken a prominent part in promoting some
of the more important policies of that party,
and in 1896 he was made president of the
National Sound Money League.- He was a
participant in the non-partisan convention
which met in Indianapolis to consider mat-
ters relating to the financial affairs of the
country. Congress having failed to create a
monetary commission, the commission pro-
vided for at the Indianapolis conference was
formed, and began its sessions in Washing-
ton City in September of 1897. Colonel
Leighton was made a member and vice
chairman of this commission, and thus be-
came a participant in the most important
financial conference and report in the history
of the country. In religion he is a Unitarian.
Colonel Leighton married, in 1862, Miss Isa-
bella Bridge, a daughter of Honorable Hud-
son E. Bridge, of St. Louis. Mrs. Leighton,
a most estimable lady, died in 1888. Their
only child is George Bridge Leighton, born
July 19, 1864, who graduated from Harvard
College in the class of 1888, married Miss
Charlotte Kayser, of St. Louis, and, with his
father, occupies the family homestead, which
has so long been one of the domestic centers
of culture and refinement in St. Louis.

Leming, Merritt Elmer, manufac-
turer, was born March 14, 1862, in Dearborn
County, Indiana, son of William and Mary
E. (Rosecranz) Leming. In 1868 his parents
removed to Boone County, Kentucky, where
his father engaged in the sawmilling busi-
ness. In 1874 the elder Leming died, leaving
his widow and family small resources. At
this time Merritt E. Leming was twelve vears
of age, and upon him devolved the respon-
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sibility of caring for his mother and family.
He secured employment on a farm, and when
he was afforded the opportunity, he attended
the public schools. When he was eighteen
years old he secured a position in a sawmill
at Lawrenceburg, Indiana. After two years’
hard work as a helper at the sawmill he was
advanced to sawyer. At the end of another
year, with his savings and some money bor-
rowed from a friend, he purchased the mill
in Boone County, Kentucky, which his father
some years before had run. In 1887 a fire
destroyed the mill, and the young lumberman
was left penniless. He secured a position as
a lumber salesman, and with his small earn-
ings speculated in the lumber business. At
the end of another year he purchased an in-
terest in a lumber yard at Petersburg, Ken-
tucky, and carried on business under the
name of M. E. Leming & Company. In the
spring of 1889 M. E. Leming & Company
bought out a lumber company at Lawrence-
burg, Indiana, and took into partnership Mr.
Charles Schramm. For a year he remained
in charge of affairs at Lawrenceburg, then
turning the management of the firm to his
partner, he bought an interest in a lumber
mill at Malden, Missouri. In 1892 Mr. Lem-
ing disposed of the last named mill and
located at Cape Girardeau, where he estab-
lished the M. E. Leming Mills, which are
among the largest hardwood mills in south-
east Missouri, the sawmill having a capacity
of 30,000 feet a day, and the planing mill
15000. The greater part of the product of
the mills is marketed in the East. Mr. Lem-
ing is also president of the Southeast Savings
& Loan Association, and is among the most
enterprising of the business men of southeast
Missouri. In 1899 he was appointed receiver
of the Southeast Missouri District Agricul-
tural Society, and at the present time (1900)
is settling its affairs. Mr. Leming is a mem-
ber of the Republican party, and in 1900 was
honored by that party by being chosen a
delegate to the National Republican Conven-
tion which met in Philadelphia. He is a
member of the Methodist Episcopal Church,
South, and an Odd Fellow and Knight of
Pythias. September 30, 1885, Mr. Leming
was married to Miss Eugenia Bouchmann,
daughter of Nicholas and Rosa E. Bouch-
mann, of Petersburg, Kentucky. Of this
union four children have been born, Paul B.,
born July 4, 1886; Rosa E. born July 13,

1889; William E., born June 5, 1896, and
Merritt E., born October 1, 1899.

Lemoine, Edwin 8., physician, was
born August 27, 1826, in Petersburg, Vir-
» ginia, son of John E. and Mary B. (Spots-
wood) Lemoine. He obtained his early
education in Virginia and was then sent to
New Jersey—now Princeton—University,
graduating in 1845, when he was under nine-
teen years of age. He attended lectures at
the Richmond Medical College, and was for
two years a student at the medical depart-
ment of the University of Pennsylvania, re-
ceiving his degree in 1848. In 1848 he came
to St. Louis in response to an invitation of
Dr. Thomas Barbour, and became associated
with Dr. Barbour in practice in 1849.
Though repeatedly invited to occupy
professorships in medical colleges in
St. Louis and other cities, he has
declined these honors out of regard for
his duties as a practitioner, but during all his
professional life has been actively iden-
tiied with movements designed to ele-
vate the standard of his profession.
In 1853 he was elected secretary of
the American Medical Association. He
served as secretary of the association
also at its session held in St. Louis the fol-
lowing year, and vacated the office in 1855.
In 1890 he was one of the representatives of
that body at the International Medical Con-
gress, which met at Berlin. He has been a
member of the St. Louis Medical Society ever
since its reorganization, and also of the Med-
ical Association of Missouri, and is a member
of the St. Louis Academy of Science and of
the: Missouri Historical Society. He was
elected president of the St. Louis Obstetrical
and Gynecological Society in 1892, and re-
_elected in 1893 for the year ending in No-
vember, 1894 ; was one of the founders of the
medical staff of St. Luke’s Hospital, of which
he is still a-member, and is also one of the
consulting physicians of the Martha Parsons
Children's Hospital. He was the first physi-
cian to the Memorial Home of St. Louis, and
still continues his connection with that insti-
tution. Dr. Lemoine is a Presbyterian
churchman, and a ruling elder in Compton
Avenue Church. He is a member of the Mis-
souri Society of the Sons of the Revolution.
He married, in 1857, Katharine P. Rice,
daughter of Rev. Nathan L. Rice, D. D.
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Nine children were born of this union, of
whom two died in early infancy, and one,
John B. S. Lemoine, Jr., at sixteen years of
age, from.accident. The living children are
Louis R. Lemoine, married and living in
Philadelphia; Edwin S. Lemoine, Jr., married
and living in New York; Katharine L. Guy,
wife of William E. Guy, of St. Louis, and
three younger unmarried daughters.

LeMoyne, Sauvolle, “first Governor
of Louisiana, under the French domination,
was born in Montreal, Canada, about 1671,
and died in Biloxi, Mississippi, July 22, 1701.
He inherited a large fortune from an aunt,
and was sent to be educated in France, where
he was a favorite in society and so remark-
able for his attainments that he was known
as the American prodigy. Racine pro-
nmounced him a poet, Bossuet predicted that
he would be a great orator, and Villars called
him a marshal of France in embryo. He
accompanied Iberville and Bienville to the
Mississippi, and the former left him in com-
mand of the colony there. Louis XIV ap-
pointed him its Governor in 1699, and he
retained the office till his death.”—(Apple-
ton’s “Cyclopedia of American Biography.”)

Lemp, William J., prominently identi-
fied with the brewing interests, and one of the
most extensive operators in that line in the
United States, was born in Germany in 1836,
son of Adam Lemp, who immigrated to this
country in 1836, making his permanent home
in St. Louis in 1838, where he became one of
the pioneer brewers of the city. He spent
his early childhood days in Germany, and in
1848 was brought by his father to St. Louis,
where he attended school, finishing his schol-
astic education at the St. Louis University.
While yet a young man, he engaged in his
father’s business, which rapidly grew, and
soon acquired such a knowledge of its affairs
as made him indispensable. As foreman, and
afterward as manager, he exhibited the
executive talents which have since carried the
concern to wonderful prosperity and emi-
nence. At the opening of the Civil War
voung Lemp joined the Third Regiment
United States Reserve Corps. He was mus-
tered out of service as orderly sergeant of his
company in the fall of 1861. At his father’s
death, in 1862, he assumed full control of his
business, manifesting a spirit of enterprise

apparently at variance with the modest, un-
assuming and retiring character of the man.
The brewery back from Second Street, with
its large hall in front, where many of the
notables of the city sipped their lager fresh
from the vaults, was too circumscribed in
space to supply the demands of the fast in-
creasing trade. . A tract at the corner of
Cherokee Street and Second Carondelet Ave-
nue—now Thirteenth Street—was purchased,
and thither in due time the brewery was re-
moved and spaciously housed, the plant
being added to from time to time, until now
the buildings, covering five blocks, look like
a miniature city, with railway trains running
in and out, and with a population of 700 em-
ployes. Lemp Avenue is named after the
founder of this little metropolis. In 1892 the
concern was incorporated as the Wm. J.
Lemp Brewing Company, William J. Lemp,
president. A member of the Merchants’ Ex-
change, he has served as vice president of
that body, and on numerous important com-
mittees, which have prominently brought him
in contact with many movements designed to
advance the commercial and manufacturing
interests of St. Louis. December 3, 1861, he
married Julia Feickert, noted for her beauty
and accomplishments. Five sons and three
daughters are children of this marriage.

Lentz, Erastus Ransom, lawyer, was
born February 19, 1848, in Defiance County,
Ohio, son of Elias and Nancy (Fisher) Lentz.
The elder Lentz, who was a native of Penn-
sylvania, came to Ohio in his early childhood
and grew up there. Until his death, in 1869,
he followed agricultural pursuits and was a
prosperous man of affairs. He took an active
interest in politics and, beginning with 1856,
represented his county two terms in the Gen-
eral Assembly of Ohio. After passing
through the common schools and the high
school of Defiance, Erastus R. Lentz entered
the Ohio Wesleyan University at Delaware,
Ohio, in which he was a student until 1869.
His father’s death in that year made it neces-
sary for him to leave college, and for some
time afterward he taught school in the coun-
try districts of northwestern Ohio. He was
a successful teacher and for a time filled the
position of principal of the public schools of
Perrysburg. At a later date he taught school
in Logan County, Illinois. In 1872-3 he at-
tended the Cincinnati Law.School, and for
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some time after completing his law studies
he traveled for an insurance company. At
the end of two years devoted to this business,
he began the practice of his. profession at
Lincoln, Illinois. In October of 1878 he re-
moved to Butler County, Missouri, and
located at Poplar Bluff, where he continued
the practice of law until 1881, when he pur-
chased the business of a land and abstract
company at that place, to which he devoted
a considerable portion of his time for several
years thereafter. In 1890 he resumed the
active practice of law, and has since devoted
all his time to that calling, in which he has
gained well merited distinction. Politically
he is id entified with the Democratic party,
and he is a member of the Presbyterian
Church. December 27, 1876, he married
Miss Sophia B. Lindsay, of Logan County,
Illinois. Their children are Edna F., Flora
B., Charles E. and Bertha Lentz.

Leonard, Abiel, lawver and Judge of
the Supreme Court of Missouri, was born at
Windsor, Vermont, in May, 1797, and died
at Fayette, Missouri, March 28, 1863. He
was educated in the schools of his native
town and at Dartmouth College, and then
removed to Whiteboro, New York, where he
practiced for a time. In 1819 he came West,
making the voyage down the Ohio River and
up the Mississippi- River to St. Louis in a
skiff. Old Franklin, in Howard County, was
at that time a town of considerable promise,
and he made his way thither, and soon be-
came one of the foremost lawyers of central
Missouri, practicing at Boonville, Fayette and
New Franklin, as well as at Old Franklin.
In 1820 he became involved in a personal
quarrel with a Major Berry, who inflicted
upon him the gross insult of cowhiding. He
challenged Berry, and, in the duel that fol-
lowed, killed him. For this he was disbarred
and disfranchised, but the Legislature at the
next session restored to him his rights. In
1855 he was made Judge of the Supreme
Court of the State, and held the place till
1858.

Leonard, Abiel, a leading business man
of Marshall, was born at Bellair, Cooper
County, Missouri, May 24, 1851, son of
Nathaniel and Margaret (Hutchison) Leon-
ard. His father was born in Windsor, Ver-
mont, in 1799, and at the age of thirty years

removed to Missouri and located in Cooper
County after the establishment of the colony
founded there by Daniel Boone. There he
spent the remainder of his useful life, his
death occurring in 1888. In the early days
of his career in Missouri, a year or two be-
fore locating in Cooper County, he engaged
in the fur trade, dealing with a prominent
firm in St. Louis, his expeditions among the
Indians carrying him as far north as Mack-
inaw. The farm in Cooper County, which
he subsequently improved, was an extensive
one and became known as one of the hand-
somest and most productive in the United
States. Mr. Leonard affiliated with the Whig
party until its disruption, when he became a
Democrat, but he never sought or held public
office. He was a man of unbounded influ-
ence in his community, and during his entire
career was never known to perform a deed
which from any standpoint might be con-

- strued as dishonorable. His brother, Honor-

able Abiel Leonard, was one of the most
distinguished jurists of Missouri, and for
many years occupied the supreme bench of
the State. He was possessed of extraor-
dinary legal talent and was a man of the
utmost integrity and high public spirit. Abiel
Leonard, the subject of this notice, began his
education in the district school at Bellair.
His college preparatory course was taken in
Kemper Military School, at Boonville, and
in 1868 he entered Dartmouth College, where
his studies were continueéd for three years.
In the summer of 1872 he went to Saline
County, and with his brother, William H.
Leonard, began the operation of a farm in
Elmwood Township. This was situated in
the western part of Saline County, at a point
afterward named Mount Leonard, in honor
of the family who had done so much for the
development of the community. For a period
of twenty years Mr. Leonard continued to
operate this farm in connection with his
brother, William H., devoting his energies
very largely to the breeding of shorthorn
and Scotch polled cattle. During this period
the brothers imported from Spain numbers
of jacks and jennets which they bred on an
extensive scale, their herd being one of the
most noted in the United States. In this
industry they were among the early pioneers.
From 1883 to 1886 they imported huhdreds
of head of high-bred cattle. It is generally
understood that their importations of black
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polled cattle exceeded those of any other
stockman in this country. In 1892 Mr.
Leonard removed to Marshall, prompted by a
desire to give to his children better educa-
tional and social advantages than could be
secured at Mount Leonard. Here he at once
engaged in the real estate business with H.
G. Allen, and subsequently with G. W. New-
ton, his present partner. In 1888 he became
identified with the Farmers’ Savings Bank, of
Marshall, as a director, serving in that
capacity until June, 19goo. Though he has
disposed of his farming interests at Mount
Leonard, he retains a valuable farm in
Blackwater Township. Mr. Leonard has al-
ways been an ardent advocate of the principles
of Democracy, but has never desired nor con-
sented to become a candidate for salaried
political office. He has, however, been deeply
interested in the cause of education. From
1896 to 1899 he served as president of the
board of education of Marshall, and from
1895 to 1899 was a trustee of Westminister
College at Fulton, Missouri. Under ap-
pointment by Governor John S. Marmaduke
and re-appointment by Governor Francis, he
served as a member of the State Board of
Agriculture for eight years. He is an elder
in the Presbyterian Church, in which his wife

is also a very active and earnest worker. -

Since 1885 he has been identified with the
Masonic fraternity, in which he is a Knight
Templar. He is also a Noble of the Mystic
Shrine, affiliating  with Ararat Temple, of
Kansas City. Mr. Leonard was married,
May 10, 1883, to Mittie S. Stephens, daughter
of Joseph L. Stephens, and sister of Governor
Lon V. Stephens. They are the parents of
four children, Horace Holly, Joseph L., Mar-
garet Nelson and Speed Stephens Leonard.
Mr. Leonard wields a strong influence among
his fellow men, having inherited those family
characteristics which distinguished his father
and his uncle, Judge Abiel Leonard. He and
his wife occupy one of the handsomest resi-
dences in Marshall, located on East North
Street, where they dispense a generous hos-
pitality among their numerous friends.

Leonard, Homer 0., physician, was
born May 6, 1853, in Kenosha County, Wis-
consin. His parents were Samuel R. and
Sophronia (Stockholm) Leonard, the for-
mer a native of New York, and the latter of
Pennsylvania. Both parents were descended

from patriot families of the Revolutionary
period, and a direct paternal ancestor was a
captain of Vermont troops under General
Stark. During the war with Great Britain in
1812 Captain Stockholm commanded an
American vessel on Lake Erie, and received
wounds in action which caused his death.
Samuel R. Leonard, educated for the Baptist
ministry, was a finished scholar and an ac-
complished linguist; impaired health obliged
him to abandon his calling, and in 1846 he
located on a farm in Wisconsin. His son,
Homer O., was educated in the common
schools of his native town, and at North-
western University, at Evanston, Illinois, and
after leaving the last named institution taught
in public schools in Wisconsin for four years.
He then began medical study under the tutor-
ship of Dr. Joseph Taylor, near Waukegan,
Illinois, later entering the Chicago Medical’
College, from which he received his degree in
1875. For three months following his grad-
uation he was first interne in the Mercy Hos-
pital at Chicago, Illinois. For four years he
practiced his profession in Milburn, Illinois,
and for five years following at Rosecrans,
Illinois. In 1884 he located in Kansas City,
Missouri, where he now has a large and remu-
nerative practice, especially in obstetrics. He
now occupies the position of assistant to the
chair of obstetrics in the University Medical
College, and of obstretrician to the Door of
Hope. He is a member of the American Med-
ical Association, the Missouri State Medical
Society, the Kansas City District Medical So-
ciety, the Jackson County Medical Society
and the Kansas City Academy of Med-
icine. In religion is a Congrega-
tionalist, and in politics a Republi-
can. Dr. Leonard was married to Miss
Elsie J. Thain, of Millburn, Illinois; she re-
ceived a liberal academical education at Wau-
kegan, Illinois. Five children have been born
of this marriage, of whom the eldest, Homer
O. Leonard, Jr., was a student in Drury Col-
lege, at Springfield, Missouri, in 1900.

Les Mamelles.—Two symmetrical
mounds, two and a half miles northwest of St.
Charles. They stand on the prairie some dis-
tance in front of the bluff, are 150 feet in
height, without trees or shrubs, but covered
with grass, and afford a fine view of a very
beautiful country. They take their name from
their resemblance to female breasts.
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“Les Petite Cotes.”—This was the
name given by the French settlers to the vil-
lage of St. Charles, its English equivalent be-
ing “the little hills.”

Lesterville.—A village in Reynolds
County, seven miles east of Centerville, the
county seat. It was the first seat of justice
of the county. It has a church, schoolhouse,
hotel, two flouring mills and two general
stores. Population, 1899 (estimated), 200.

Lesueur, Alexander A., editor and
former Secretary of State of Missouri, for
many years editor of the Lexington “Intelli-
gencer,” and an active and zealous member
of the Missouri Press Association, was born
in St. Louis, November 25, 1842, grew up
in that city, and was educated at St. Louis
University. His father—who was also named
Alexander A. Lesueur—came to St. Louis
at an early day, and died there in 1851. His
mother was Octavia, the daughter of Lucien
Dumaine, and was said to be the most beau-
tiful woman of her day in St. Louis. His
great-grandfather on the maternal side was
Vincent Bouis, who, in 1782, married Miss
Robert, of Carondelet, and in this line he is
descended from some of the earliest settlers
of St. Louis. In his young manhood Captain
Lesueur engaged in mercantile pursuits in his
native city, but his soldierly instincts soon
led him into military life, when he enlisted in
Captain George W. West’s Company, Frost’s
Brigade, in what is historically known as the
Southwest Expedition, in 1860. On May 8,
1861, he left St. Louis as a private in Captain

Joseph Kelly’s company of infantry, Missouri -

State Guards, and was subsequently pro-
moted to sergeant major of battalion. At
Cassville he organized an artillery company,
and at Camp Bragg became its commanding
officer. At the close of the war he was chief
of staff and chief of artillery on the staff of
General Province, at Camden, though still
in immediate command of his own battery,
which was familiarly known in the command
and throughout Arkansas and Louisiana as
“Lesueur’s Battery.” He settled in Lafay-
ette County, in August, 1865. He was the
first chairman of the Democratic county com-
mittee of Lafayette County after the war, and
held that office for a number of years there-
after. He was married January 8, 1868, to

Miss Florence Estill Trigg, daughter of Wm.
King Trigg, of Lafayette County, the culmi-
nation of a romantic attachment beginning in
Texas during the war, where Miss Trigg and
her family were temporarily living as South-
ern refugees from Missouri. The Trigg fam-
ily is one of the most prominent in the civil
and military life of the country,beginning with
the Revolutionany period, and lives in the
pages of the history of Virginia, Kentucky
and Missouri. As stated in the above, Cap-
tain Lesueur was for many years editor of
the “Intelligencer” at Lexington, and during
his editorial service was elected to represent
Lafavette County in the Thirtieth General
Assembly, being chairman of the penitentiary
committee in that body and the author of the
present penitentiary law. He is also the au-
thor of a large part of the corporation and
banking laws of the State, the anti-pool and
trust laws, and much other valuable legisla-
tion. In 1882 he was president of the Mis~
souri Press Association, and has always been
one of the staunchest friends of that organi-
zation. In 1888 he was nominated on the first
ballot by the Democratic State convention
for Secretary of State, and was duly elected

"to that office. He was renominated without

opposition in 1892 and again elected, receiv-
ing the highest vote cast for any candidate
on his ticket. He was again renominated by
acclamation and without opposition in 1896
and was again. elected, leading the Demo-
cratic ticket. Before the close of this term he
became interested in the “Kansas City
Times” and is now editor of that paper. Dur-
ing his incumbency as Secretary of State he
distinguished himself by the prompt and ef-
ficient manner in which he discharged his
official duties. In office he proved himself the
invaluable friend of the newspaper press of
the State, aiding it in every way in his power.
The demands upon him by the editorial pro-
fession have been constant, but he has never
declined any request for news or historical
information. His “Official Manual” is in the
hands of nearly every editor of the State, and
is well nigh indispensable-to them as a work
of reference. The compilation of this work
has been of incalculable value to the State.
He is an Episcopalian, for many years senior
warden of his parish church, and has been
three times a delegate to the national con-
vention of the church, sitting in council at
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New York, Minneapolis and Washington
City with many of the eminent men of the
church and country.

Letord, Joseph Secord, dentist, was
born October 22, 1840, in New Orleans,
Louisiana. His parents were Joseph and
Louise (Gillemont) Letord. The father was
a native of Switzerland, of French descent;

the mother was born in Dijon, France. They

immigrated to America the year previous to
the birth of their son, locating in New Or-
leans, where the father engaged in various
business ventures, but with little success.
They removed from there to New York,
where both died in 1850. Young Letord, at
the tender age of ten ycars, without kinsmen
or friends, was thrown entirely upon his own
resources. He sought all manner of work in
which he was capable to earn a livelihood,

" devoting his nights to close study of books,

being utterly unable to attend school. Among
his occupations were those of cabin boy on
steamers upon the great lakes. He afterward
worked for a wigmaker in New York City,
and in establishments in which he gained
knowledge of the perfumery and fancy goods
trades. In 1870 he located in Sedalia, Mis-
souri, where he conducted a store, at the
same time devoting every spare hour to the
study of medicine and dentistry. In 1874 he
entered the office of Dr. L. O. Ellis, known
throughout the State as a most accomplished
dental operator and teacher. Here he gained
such practical knowledge of the profession
as to earn the commendation of his tutor, at
whose side he practiced for about one year,
then removing to Nevada, Missouri, where
he was engaged for six vears. After a brief
sojourn in Chicago he located in Kansas City
in 1883. In common with many of the most
eminent dental practitioners, his professional
training took place in a day when dental col-
leges were unknown in the West, but this
want was compensated for by a closer per-
sonal interest on the part of the professional
tutor, whose student was enabled to witness

“and assist in all operations, and also by

knowledge ~ gained -at the various dental
clinics held throughout the State. The earnest
ambition which enabled Dr. Letord to acquire
a fair education outside the school room,
served him to keep abreast with the most
capable men in his chosen profession. He has
never ceased to be a student, and his work

has been to the advantage of dental science.
He was one of the founders of the Western
Dental College, was its first vice president,
and served as president the second year, after
which he severed his connection with this col-
lege that he might give more attention to his
personal practice. He was among the first to
use electrical devices in dental operations,
and delivered special lectures upon the ap-
plication of electricity in dentistry, before col-
lege classes. He originated the process of
casting gold plate, and exhibited his work
before the Missouri State Dental Associa-
tion, where it attracted much attention, and
was reported at length in the published min-
utes of that body. Out of this naturally grew
the casting of gold cusps. He was author of
the use of photographic plates for mak-
ing matrices for amalgam work, which came
into general use; and of a process for making
impression with model of tooth to mould the
cusps in a piece of cuttlefish bone, drawing a
thin piece of rubber dam over the model, re-
ducing it to absolute smoothness, where pre-~
viously the surface of the casting had been
left rough. All these processes have been
widely used, and with entire success. In poli-
tics he is a Democrat. Three children, now
well established, were born of his early mar-
riage, the wife being long deceased. Dr.
Henry Letord, brought up in the office of
his father, and afterward graduated with the
highest honor from the Kansas City Dental
College—winning the Dr. Griffith prize for
best examination in oral surgery; the Dr.
Patterson prize for best examination in dental
pathology, and a prize of $25 for best general
examination—is a practitioner in Orlando,
Florida. William O. Letord having finished a
four years’ enlistment in the United States
artillery service, re-enlisted for the Spamsh-
American War, and as acting sergeant major
accompanied General Miles’ command to
Santiago, and thence to Puerto Rico. In the
campaign in the latter named island he par-
ticipated in three engagements, in one of
which a horse in his gun-team was- disabled
by a Mauser ball. He successfully passed a
civil service examination and was discharged
from military service to enter upon his pres-
ent position of assistant chief clerk in the
office of the Adjutant General of the depart-
ment of Havana, Cuba, General William Lud-
low commanding. A daughter, Ella, is the
wife of Hubert Stone, Mamager of the Cud-
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ahy Packing Company branch house at Mo-
bile, Alabama; she is a graduate of the
Kansas City high school.

C. B. HEwWITT.

Letter Carriers’ Mutual Aid Asso-
ciation.—This St. Louis association was
organized in May, 1884, with sixty charter
members. Its object is mutual assistance and
relief. Sick members are paid $10 a week, and
on the death of a member the family receives

$500.

Levee.—The word levee, which is of
French origin, and which had its earliest use
in connection with the Mississippi River at
New Orleans, means literally, “an embank-
ment to prevent inundation.” In St. Louis
it was first used to designate the steep bank
of the river, but in popular usage it now ap-
plies to the wharf and the paved slope rising
from the water’s edge. While this term is no
longer used in official references to the river
. front,it was so used in early directories, and
old ordinances establishing certain streets
used the word interchangeably with landing
and wharf. (See “Wharf.”)

Lewis, Benjamin Franklin, was
born December 28, 1831, at Independence, in
Jackson County, Missouri. His father, John
Lewis, a native of Kentucky, died September
22, 1884, at the age of seventy-seven years.
His mother, Susan Houx, was also a native
of Kentucky, and died March 17, 1882, aged
seventy-five years. The parents were mar-
ried in Cooper County, Missouri, March 17,
1831. The first member of the Lewis family
to come to Missouri, was William, the
grandfather of the subject of this sketch. He
removed from Kentucky to this State and
located in Cooper County, where he resided
but a few years, going to Jackson County
in 1831 and founding a permanent home
there. His son, John Lewis, learned the
saddler’s trade while he was living in Cooper
County, and when he went to Independence
he opened a shop. He also erected the first
brick house built in Independence, and its
construction marked an era in the life of a
town that has grown to be notably a city
of beautiful homes. Mr. Lewis was one of
the reliable, prominent business men of
Jackson County in those pioneer days, and
during the prosperity of the Santa Fe and

Mexican trade he gave up his workings in
leather and engaged in the outfitting business -
and merchandising. The only political office
ever held by him was that of deputy sheriff.
He built the first church in Independence, the
Cumberland Presbyterian, and until his death
was an officer in that church. The members
of the Houx family were early settlers of
Cooper County, removing to this State from
Kentucky. John Lewis and wife were the
parents of eight children, seven sons and one
daughter, and B. F. Lewis is the eldest son.
He was educated in the common schools and
spent two terms at Chapel Hill College,
Lafayette County, Missouri. For thirty-five
years farming was his occupation. In 1886,
associated with A. M. Woodson, he engaged
in the flour, feed, hay, grain and coal busi-
ness in Independence, and was so engaged
until February 1, 1900. Since the latter date
he has led a life of comfortable retirement.
Mr. Lewis’ tenure of public office has been
limited to service as school director. Politi-
cally he has always been a Democrat. He
is a member of the Cumberland Presbyterian
Church, and his connection with that organ-
ization dates back to 1853. For forty years
he has been an officer in the church. He
was married February 1, 1853, to Miss Esther
Alder, daughter of James B. and Esther
P. (Paul) Alder. James B. Alder was a native
of England, and, coming to this country in
an early day, located at Louisville, Kentucky.
In 1849 he removed to Missouri. He was
an extensive manufacturer of woolens and a
business man of prominence. He died April
19, 1866. Mrs. Alder died April 24, 1867.
Mr. and Mrs. Lewis are the parents of six
daughters, all of whom are married, as fol-
lows: Mrs. Susan Ruffner, of Bates County,
Missouri; Mrs. Eleanor Noland, of Hous-
ton, Texas; Mrs. Esther Mace, of Bates
County, Missouri; Mrs. Mary DeCourcy, of
Independence, Missouri; Mrs. Nancy Nich-
ols, of Jackson County, Missouri, and Mrs.
Dora Jones, of Johnson County, Missouri.

Lewis, Benjamin W., manufacturer,
was born in Buckingham County, Virginia,
January 10, 1812, the eldest of six children.
His widowed mother removed to Missouri
in 1831. In 1837 he went to Glasgow and
entered a tobacco factory as a member of
the firm of Swinney & Lewis. In 1847 his
two younger brothers, James W. and William
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J. Lewis, had established a tobacco factory in
St. Louis, under the name of J. W. & W. J.
Lewis, and after the dissolution of the Glas-
gow firm of Swinney & Lewis, the three
brothers organized the new firms of B. W.
Lewis & Bros., of Glasgow, and Lewis &
Bros., of St. Louis. Continued success at-
tended their operations, and in 1855 Thomas
J. Bartholow became a member of the Glas-
gow firm, and John D. Perry of the one in
St. Louis. The name of the St. Louis firm
was changed to Lewis, Perry & Co. The
hands employed in the Glasgow factory were
nearly all slaves, the Lewises themselves
owning about 125 of them. They were kind
masters and outright Union men, and sup-
porters of that cause in the Civil War, and
they demonstrated their political convictions
and their liberal humane spirit, at the same
time, by setting their colored people free a
year before President Lincoln’s emancipation
proclamation, and then employing at wages
those who chose to remain in their service.
Benjamin W. Lewis’ well known Unionism
made him the victim of cruel maltreatment at
the hands of Bill Anderson’s guerrillas on
the occasion of their irruption into Glasgow,
in October, 1864, and it was thought that this
hastened his death, which occurred in 1866,
at the age of fifty-four years. He left an
estate valued at about $800,000, one of the
largest fortunes in Missouri, outside of St.
Louis, and all accumulated through his own
industry, thrift and prudent management.
Central Missouri has been fortunate in pos-
sessing many liberal, public-spirited and
broad-minded men, who left their impress
upon its society, its politics and industries,
and among these Benjamin Lewis stands
eminent. Diligence, fidelity to engagements,
innocence of life, uprightness and liberality,
were his principles of conduct, and, founded
on these, he reared a personal character that
is an honor to his descendants and the ad-
miration of his friends. The Lewis name,
together with the mementos of the liberality
of the manwho bore it,are frequently encoun-
tered in the beautiful little city of Glasgow.
Glen Eden, with its stately mansion, built by
Mr. Lewis in 1862, is one of the most attrac-
tive places in the State; Lewis Library is a
beautiful edifice, to the founding of which he
bequeathed $10,000, and which, after his
death, his brother James W., and his widow
and son, Benjamin, erected at a cost of $26,-

000; and Lewis College, which, together
with the Lewis Library, is under the control
of the Methodist Church, of which Mr. Lewis
was an exemplary member, is another institu-
tion founded by the liberality of his family.
Mr. Lewis enjoyed the friendship of Presi-
dent Lincoln, for whom he had a high admir-
ation. In April, 1865, he was sent to
Washington to represent the grievances of
the Union citizens of central Missouri and
present a plea for additional protection for
them. He was received kindly and familiarly
by Mr. Lincoln, who invited him to dine with
him, and he sat at the same table
with the martyred President the very
day of the night that he was as-
sassinated at Ford’s Theater. He also
accompanied the funeral cortege from Wash-
ington City to Springfield, Illinois. Mr.
Lewis was married three times—his first wife,
Miss Amanda Barton, daughter of Joseph
and Elizabeth Barton; his second, Mrs.
Early, a widow; and his third, Miss Eleanor
Turner, daughter of Talton Turner, one of
the pioneers of Howard County. By his first
wife he had two children, Benjamin W.
Lewis, of St. Louis, and James B. Lewis, of
Howard County. There were no children by
his second wife, who lived only a short time
after their marriage. By his last wife, who
survives him and is living in St. Louis, he had
three children, Richard E. Lewis, who died
May 29, 1896; Rebecca E. Lewis, now the
wife of L. D. Dozier, of St. Louis, and Anne
Lewis.

Lewis, Charles Jay,was born Sep-
tember 21, 1840, in Bethel Township, Wind-
sor County, Vermont, son of Reubem
Tinkham and Jane Caroline (Sanders) Lewis.
In the paternal line he is descended from a
Virginia family which removed to Vermont
in Colonial days. Reuben T. Lewis was a
shoemaker by trade and during the greater
part of his life carried on a merchandising
business in that line in Vermont. The
mother of Charles J. Lewls came of a well
known Vermont family. All the children of
Reuben T. and Jane C. Lewis are at this.
time (1900) still alive. They are Edgar R.
Lewis, now of Worcester, Vermont ; Augusta
A. Lewis, now Mrs. William Albin, of
Springfield, Massachusetts ; Nancy A. Lewis,
now Mrs. John Cary, of Stowe, Vermont;
Charles J. Lewis, the subject of this sketch,
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and Laura A. Lewis, now the wife of John
Little, of Wolcott, Vermont. Charles ]J.
Lewis received his earliest instruction in the
rudimentary branches at his own home under
the direction of his elder sisters and at the
pay schools of Petersburg, Illinois, to which
place his parents removed on account of the
ill health of his mother when he was five
years of age. Seven years later the family
returned to Vermont, and Mr. Lewis then
entered the public schools of his native State,
which he attended for two years thereafter.
At the end of that time he became a pupil
at the People’s Academy, of Morrisville, Ver-
mont, from which he was graduated at the
end of a full academic course. After his
graduation from the academy he matriculated
in Middlebury College, at Middlebury, Ver-
mont, where he passed through the freshman
and sophomore years, taking the prescribed
literary and mathematical courses. In 1857
he passed the regular examinations and re-
ceived a school-teacher’s certificate. His first
experience as a teacher was during the winter
term of a country school in the town of Wol-
cott,Vermont, where he built fires, swept out
the school room and boarded around in the
district, receiving $12 a month as his salary.
At the close of his sophomore year in col-
lege he enlisted in the Eleventh Regiment of
Vermont Volunteers, known as the First
Regiment of Heavy Artillery, for service in
the Union Army during the Civil War. This
regiment he assisted to recruit, and at its
organization was appointed second lieutenant
of Battery D. He served until the close of
the war and was present at Lee’s surrender
at Appomattox. May 15, 1865, he was mus-
tered out of the army with the rank of cap-
tain. Among the important battles in which
he participated were those of the Wilder-
ness, Cold Harbor, Spottsylvania, Peters-
burg, Charleston, Winchester, Fisher’s Hill,
Cedar Creek and Five Forks. For several
months he was on detached service, being
assigned to duty in the construction of the
fortifications north of Washington, D. C.
He was also post adjutant of Fort Stevens,
an earthwork fort in that line of defenses.
After the war he completed the study of law
and was admitted to the Lamoille County bar,
in Vermont, in December of 1866. For two
years he was State’s attorney of that county,
and also held the office of superintendent of
public instruction for one term. In 1869 he
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removed to Lawrence, Kansas. In 1870 he
was elected judge of the Lawrence City Court
and filled that office one term, being a mem-
ber of the Douglas County, Kansas, bar
during that time. At the close of his official
term as judge he became connected in a busi-
ness way with the gas works at Lawrence,
Kansas. This led to his entering other fields
of enterprise, and in 1874 he built the gas
plant at Sherman, Texas. In 1875 he con-
structed a similar works at Joplin, Missouri.
Two years later he constructed the gas works
at Carthage, Missouri, and became the man-
ager of the gas plants of both Carthage and
Joplin, and was also manager of the Joplin
waterworks. He resided in Joplin from 1876
to 1888, when he removed to Hannibal, Mis-
souri, and took charge of the management
of the gas works and waterworks of the last
named city. Since then Hannibal has been
his home and he has been known as one of
the leading business men of that city. Cap-
tain Lewis cast his first vote for Abraham
Lincoln, and affiliated with the Republican
party until 1876. He then united with the
Democratic organization and was an active
worker in that party, without being in any
sense an office-seeker, until 1896, when he
declined to endorse the Chicago platform and
the nomination of William J. Bryan for Pres-
ident. In the presidential campaign of that
year he supported the Palmer and Buckner
ticket, was one of the electors from the First
Missouri District, and is known as a sound
money Democrat of the Cleveland school.
In early life he was a member of the Univer-
salist Church, but later became an Episcopal
churchman, and is now a vestryman in the
church of which he is a communicant at Han-
nibal. He is chairman of the executive com-
mittee of the Relief Society of Hannibal, and
is also a member of the directory of the
Home for the Friendless in that city. Im
1864 he was made a Master Mason in Leb-
anon Lodge, No. 7, of Washington, D. C.
He is now a member of Hannibal Lodge No.
188, A. F. and A. M., a member and past
high priest of Hannibal Royal Arch Chap-
ter, No. 7, and a member and the eminent
commander of Excalibar Commandery, No.
5, of Knights Templar at Hannibal. He is
a past post commander of Warner Post,
Grand Army of the Republic, of Morrisville,
Vermont, and past adjutant general, Grand
Army of the Republic, of the department of
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Vermont, and a member of W, T. Sherman
Post of that organization at Hannibal. Feb-
ruary I, 1866, Captain Lewis married Maria
Lucy Slocum—who had been his schoolmate
in the academy at that place—at Morris-
ville, Vermont. Mrs. Lewis is a daughter of
Nelson and Lucy (Goodall) Slocum, both of
whom were natives of Vermont. She is one
of four living children. Her brother, Sanford
Slocum, resides in Morrisville, Vermont.
One sister, Mary Slocum, is now the wife of
Benjamin Wood, of San Francisco, Cali-
fornia, and her other sister, now Mrs. Guy
Hamilton, resides in Healdsburg, California.
Henry Nelson Lewis, the only child born to
Captain and Mrs. Lewis, died in infancy and
was buried at Lawrence, Kansas.

Lewis, Eugene Rateliffe, surgeon,
was born June 7, 1853, in Randolph County,
Missouri. His parents were Richard K. and
Emma Duke (Wight) Lewis. The Lewis
family were influential in Buckingham Coun-
ty, Virginia, from Colonial times. Colonel
Thomas Lewis was a soldier in the Revolu-
tionary War; his son Henry removed to Mis-
souri in 1819, locating near the confluence of
the Chariton and Missouri Rivers,andin 1830
was county judge of Howard County, by
appointment of Governor John Miller, the
commission now being in possession of Dr.
Eugene R. Lewis. Richard K., son of Henry
Lewis, was born in Missouri; he was a prac-
ticing physician until his death, in 1859, in the
Galt House, Louisville, Kentucky, where he
was visiting. He was buried in the Lewis
cemetery, Glasgow, Missouri. His wife,
Emma Duke Wight, who was a daughter of
James Wight, a farmer of Shelby County,
died two years previous to her husband, who
was buried at her side; her brother, John F.
Wight, was a member of the Kentucky Leg-
islature. The son, Eugene R., received his
literary education in Missouri schools, the
Pritchett Institute, at Glasgow, and the Cen-
tral College, at Fayette, being graduated
from the School of Physical Sciences of the
last named institution. Connected with the
Pritchett Institute is the Morrison observa-

" tory, located on the old Lewis farm, the boy-

hood home of Dr. Eugene Ratcliffe Lewis,
one mile east of Glasgow, where he was
raised by his uncle, John F. Lewis. The
observatory was endowed by Berenice Mor-
rison Fuller, a cousin of the parent Lewis,

and here Professor Pritchett has performed
notable astronomical work which has at-
tracted attention in Europe as well as in the
United States. Eugene R. Lewis studied
medicine under Dr. C. W. Miller and Dr. C.
W. Watts, at Fayette, and afterward at the
Jefferson Medical College, of Philadelphia,
from which he was graduated in March, 1874.
He located in Kansas City, and almost im-
mediately entered upon an extensive practice,
as well as being called upon to take posi-
tions of importance, particularly in surgical
lines, to which he devotes his entire attention.
He was the prime mover in the establishment
of the University Medical College, paying for
its charter out of his own means; he was its
first professor of surgical anatomy, and he
delivered the initial lecture which marked
the college opening. At the death of Dr.
J. W. Jackson he was elected to the chair
of surgery, which he recently vacated. He
is now professor of the principles and prac-
tice of surgery and clinical surgery in the
Medico-Chirurgical College, and professor of
surgery and president of the board of trus-
tees in the Woman’s Medical College. He
has seen twenty-five years’ service with what
is now the Wabash Railway system, having
been division surgeon of the St. Louis, Kan-
sas City & Northern Railway until it was
merged into the former, when he became
local surgeon. For several years he has been
treasurer of the International Association of
Railway Surgeons. In 1877-8 he was coroner
of Jackson County, and city physician for two
terms, from 18go to 1893. Under the admin-
istration of Governor Phelps, he was presi-
dent of the civil organization, and surgeon
of the local company of the Missouri National
Guard, and provided the car which brought
the Governor and staff to the celebration of
Jackson Day in Kansas City in 1876. He is
now a member of the Jackson County Medi-
cal Society and of the Missouri State Medical
Association, and a permanent member of the
American Medical Association. In politics
he is a Democrat, and in religion a Meth-
odist. He has advanced far in Masonry, but
does not give attention beyond the command-
ery. He is also a member of the Knights of
Pythias. Dr. Lewis was married, April 6,
1880, in Montgomery County, to Miss Nan-
nie Pitman, daughter of Dr. H. W. Pitman,
of Jonesburg. The first child born of this
marriage died when one month old. The
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living children are Richard Pitman and
Eugene Ratcliffe Lewis, Jr. The last named,
now (1899) ten years old, is noted as the
youngest policeman in the world. When he
was five years old, Thomas M. Speers, chief
of police of Kansas City, took a liking to
him, and furnished him a police uniform,
miniature revolver and club. The boy took
the matter in earnest, reported daily for
duty, and was given a beat. In later days
he appears in uniform at conventions and
public gatherings, but now regards it as for
-amusement. His picture has been taken,
showing him at the side of Policeman Smith,
of the same city, who is the tallest policeman
in the world, measuring six feet ten and one-
half inches in height. This picture has
appeared in both English and American
periodicals.

Lewis, James Mc¢Kamy, distin-
guished as lawyer and public official, was
born in Polk County, East Tennessee, in
1858, and died in St. Louis, December 21,
1899. He was sent to the University of Ten-
nessee, where he received a classical educa-
tion. He then came to St. Louis and enrolled
himself as a student in the law office of his
relative, John B. Henderson, and, in 1879,
was admitted to the bai. Soon after he re-
moved to Louisiana, Pike County, Missouri.
He returned to St. Louis in 1882 and became
associated professionally with his former
preceptor, Senator Henderson. Through
this association Mr. Lewis came at once into
active practice in that city and quickly evi-
denced his superior intellectual attainments
and his eminent fitness for the duties of his
profession. He was honored by the Ameri-
can Bar Association by election to the vice
presidency of that organization in 18go, and
again at the session of 1893, held at Mil-
waukee, Wisconsin. He is an ardent believer
in the principles of the Democratic party,
and has rendered valuable assistance to the
party. In 1889 Governor Francis commis-
sioned him judge advocate general of the
National Guard of Missouri, with the rank
of brigadier general. In 1897 Governor Lon
V. Stephens appointed him police commis-
sioner for the city of St. Louis. He is a
member of the St. Louis, University, Noon-
day and Jockey Clubs.

Lewis, Lilbourn A., merchant, was
born October 4, 1843, in New Madrid

County, Missouri, son of Lilbourn and Han-
nah (Hayden) Lewis, the first named of
whom was born in Albemarle County, Vir-
ginia, and the last named in Cape Girardeau
County, Missouri. The elder Lewis came to
Missouri in 1829, and established his home in
New Madrid County, on what was afterward
called Lewis Prairie. There he was engaged
in extensive farming operations until his
death, which occurred in 1876. His son, Lil-
bourn A. Lewis, was reared on his father’s
farm and early in life learned that industry
is one of the cardinal virtues. He had lim-
ited school advantages, and acquired the
major part of the education which has made
him a successful man of affairs through read-
ing and private study. He was twenty-one
years of age and in the flush of a vigorous
young manhood when the Civil War began,
and his antecedents and inherited tendencies,
as well as his own firm convictions of right,
carried him into the Confederate Army.
Early in 1861 he enlisted in the First Regi-
ment of Missouri Infantry, commanded by
Colonel Bowen. He was with this regiment
until 1863, serving most of the time as Col-
onel Bowen’s orderly. After the fall of
Vicksburg he joined the famous cavalry com-
mand of General N. B. Forrest, with which
he served until he was captured by the Union
forces in 1864. He was brought to St. Louis
as a prisoner of war, and held as such until
the memorable conflict between the States
ended, and he was released and permitted to
return to his home. He then resumed farm-
ing in New Madrid County on his father’s
“home place,” and was engaged in agricul-
tural pursuits until 1875, when he became a
member of the drug firm of Latham & Lewis
in New Madrid. The firm which thus came
into existence has now been in business con-
tinuously for twenty-five years, and has
gained an enviable reputation for fair deal-
ing and successful conduct of its affairs. In
1880 Mr. Lewis also established a hardware
store in New Madrid, and in 1888 added gro-
ceries and general merchandise to this stock.
All his merchandising operations have been
successful, and in 1899, feeling that he could
afford to lay aside a share of his burdens, he
disposed of his general store. His remain-
ing mercantile interests and his land holdings
have since received such share of his atten-
tion as he has cared to give to active busi-
ness. A Democrat in politics, Mr. Lewis
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has taken an active part in political affairs
from time to time, and has been honored by
his fellow citizens with various local offices,
having served several terms as mayor of New
Madrid. He is a member of the Ancient Or-
der of United Workmen, and has taken an
active interest in promoting the welfare of
that organization. January 3, 1866, he was
married, in Lake County, Tennessee, to Miss
S. C. Merriwether, a niece of Governor Mer-
riwether, of that State. Mrs. Lewis died in
March of 1874, leaving two sons, L. G. and
Winston Lewis. In January of 1878 Mr.
Lewis married Miss Emma La Forge, who
was born in New Madrid County, Missouri.
The children born of this marriage have been
Frederick and Lottie Lewis.

Lewis, Meriwether, Governor of
Louisiana Territory, was born near Char-
lottesville, Virginia, August 18, 1774, and
died near Nashville, Tennessee, October 8,
1809. He was a grandnephew of Fielding
Lewis, the Revolutionary patriot, of Fred-
ericksburg, Virginia. Leaving school when
he was eighteen years of age, he gained his
first military experience as a volunteer, serv-
ing with the troops called out to quell the
“whisky insurrection” in Western Pennsyl-
vania. In 1795 he entered the United States
Army, and became a captain in 1800. From
1801 to 1803 he was private secretary to
President Jefferson, who was personally
much attached to him., When Jefferson de-
termined to send an exploring expedition
into the Northwest, he recommended Cap-
tain Lewis to Congress to take command of
the expedition. In the summer of 1803, ac-
companied by Captain William Clark, he set

out on this expedition, which was destined to -

not only give him lasting prominence in the
history of this country, but to be prolific also
of momentous results. With a company of
about forty-five men they left St. Louis in
the spring of 1804 and began the ascent of
the Missouri River. Reaching a latitude of
forty degrees twenty-one minutes, north,
they sent the following winter among the
Mandan Indians, and April 7, 1805, began
again the ascent of the Missouri. They
reached the great falls about the middle of
July, and near the close of that month at-
tained the confluence of three streams of
nearly equal size, to which they gave the
names of Jefferson, Madison and Gallatin.

LEWIS.

The Jefferson they traversed to its source,
and then made their way across the moun-
tains to the plains of the Pacific slope. In
October they embarked in canoes on a
branch of the Columbia River, called the
Kooskoosky, and reached the mouth of the
Columbia, November 15th following. There
they constructed an intrenched camp, in
which they spent the following winter, begin-
ning the return voyage and march early in
the spring of 1806. After ascending the Co-
lumbia, they journeyed across the mountains,
and, re-embarking upon the Missouri,
reached St. Louis in September, after an ab-
sence of two years and four months. Con-
gress made grants of land to the men con-
nected with this expedition, and Lewis was
appointed Governor of Louisiana Territory
soon after his return to St. Louis. In 1809
he was called to Washington, and while on
his way thither, while suffering from hypo-
chondria, he committed suicide.

Lewis, William J.,merchant and man-
ufacturer, was born in Buckingham County,
Virginia, October 27, 1825, and died in St.
Louis, July 14, 1879. At an early age he en-
tered the tobacco factory in Glasgow, Mis-
souri, in which his brother was interested. In
1847 he removed to St. Louis, and with the
experience he had acquired started a factory
of his own, in partnership with his brother,
James W,, the name of the firm being Lewis
& Bro. The enterprise was so prosperous
that in a few years their factory was ac-
counted one of the largest in the State. He
afterward retired, and embarked in the com-
mission business in 1870, having houses in
St. Louis, New Orleans and New York. The
Memphis Packet Company was at this time
in a tottering condition, but under his man-
agement it was extricated from its difficulties
and restored to its old popularity. In 1870
Mr. Lewis was elected president of the Mer-
chants’ Exchange, the first non-partisan
candidate to fill that position. He took an
active and leading part in the organization
of the Commercial Bank in 1866, was one of
its incorporators and its second president,
serving in that capacity for ten years without
salary. He was associated with insurance in-
terests, and devoted no small attention and
effort to the development of the coal and
iron business of St. Louis. Mr. Lewis was
married, in 1852, to Miss Rebecca Turner,
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daughter of Talton Turner, of Howard
County, Missouri. She survives him, with
their six children—Mrs. Julia L. Knapp, Tal-
ton Turner Lewis, Mrs. Sallie L. Johnson,
Benjamin W. Lewis, William J. Lewis and
J. D. Perry Lewis.

Lewis and Clark Expedition.—
History has given this name to an expedi-
tion conducted by Captain Meriwether Lewis
and Captain William Clark, which opened the
way for the settlement of the Northwestern
portion of the United States. The expedition
started from St. Louis and returned to that
place more than two years later, and both the
leaders were afterward conspicuously identi-
fied with the early history of Missouri. These
two explorers “were the first men to cross
the continent in our zone, the truly golden
zone. A dozen years before them Mackenzie
had crossed in British dominions far north,
but settlements are even now sparse in that
parallel. Still earlier had Mexicans traversed
the narrowing continent from the gulf to the
Pacific, but seemed to find little worth dis-
covery. It was otherwise in the zone pene-
trated by Lewis and Clark. There develop-
ment began at once and is now nowhere sur-
passed. Along their route, ten States, with
a census in 1890 of eight and a half millions,
have arisen in the wilderness. The
credit of our great Western discovery is due
to Jefferson, though he never crossed the Al-
leghanies. When Columbus saw the Orinoco
rushing into the ocean with irrepressible
power and volume, he knew that he had an-
chored at the mouth of a continental river.
So Jefferson, ascertaining that the Missouri,
though called a branch, at once changed the
color and character of the Mississippi, felt
sure that whoever followed it would reach
the innermost recesses of our America.
Learning afterward that Captain Gray had
pushed into the mouth of the Columbia only
after nine days’ breasting its outward cur-
rent, he deemed that river a worthy counter-
part of the Missouri, and was convinced that
their head waters could not be far apart in
longitude. Inaugurated in 1801, before his
first presidential term was half over, he had
obtained, as a sort of secret service fund, the
small sum which sufficed to fit out the expe-
dition. He had also selected Lewis, his pri-
vate secretary, for its head, and put him in a
course of special training. But the actual

voyage up the Missouri was not begun till
the middle of May, 1804. Forty-five persons
in three boats composed the party. . . . Aft-
er 171 days the year’s advance ended with
October, for the river was ready to freeze.
The distance up stream they reckoned at
1,600 miles, or little more than nine miles a
day, a journey now made by a railroad in
forty-four hours. Winter quarters
were thirty miles above the Bismarck of our
day. Here they were frozen in about five
months. The huts they built and abundant
fuel kept them warm. Thanks to their hun-
ters and Indian traffic, food was seldom
scarce. Officials of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany (who had a post within a week’s jour-
ney) and many inquisitive natives paid them
visits. From all these it was their tireless
endeavor to learn everything possible con-
cerning the great unknown of the river be-
yond. Scarcely one could tell about distant
places from personal observation, but some
second-hand reports were afterward proved
strangely accurate, even as to the Great Falls,
which turned out to be a thousand miles
away. It was not long, however, before they
learned that the wife of Chaboneau, whom
they had taken as a local interpreter, was a
captive, whose birth had been in the Rocky
Mountains. She, named the Bird-woman,
was the only person discoverable after a win-
ter’s search who could by possibility sérve
them as interpreter and guide among the un-
known tongues and labyrinthine fastnesses
which they must encounter. Early in April,
1803, the explorers, now numbering thirty-
two, again began to urge their boats up the
river, for their last year’s labor had brought
them no more than half way to their first ob-
jective point, its source. No more Indian
purveyors or pilots; their own rifles were the
sole reliance for food. Many a wigwam, but
no Indian, was espied for four months and
four days after they left their winter camp.
It was through the great Lone Land that
they groped their dark and perilous way. In
twenty daysafter the spring start theyarrived
at the Yellowstone, and in thirty more they
first sighted the Rocky Mountains. Making
the portage at the Great Falls cost them a
monthof vexatious delay. Rowing on another
month brought them, on August 12th, to a
point where one of the men stood with one
foot one each side of the rivulet, and ‘thanked
God that he had lived to bestride the Mis-
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souri, heretofore deemed endless.” They
dragged their canoes, however, up the rivu-
let for five days longer. It was 460 days since
they left the mouth of the river, and their
mileage on its waters had been 3,096 miles.
A mile further they stood on the great di-
vide, and drank of springs which sent their
water to the Pacific. But meantime they had
been ready to starve in the mountains. Their
hunters were of the best, but they found no
game ; buffaloes had gone down into the low-
lands, the birds of heaven had fled, and
edible roots were mostly unknown to them.
For more than four months they had looked,
and lo! there was no man. It was not till
August 13th that, surprising a squaw so en-
cumbered with papooses that she could not
escape, and winning her heart by the gift of
a looking-glass and painting her cheeks, they
formed friendship with her nation, one of
whose chiefs proved to be a brother of their
Bird-woman. Horses were about all they
could obtain of these natives, streams were
too full of rapids to be navigable, or no tim-
ber fit for canoes was within reach. So the
party, subsisting on horse flesh, and after-
ward on dog meat, toiled on along one of the
worst possible routes. Nor was it till the 7th
of October that they were able to embark,
in logs they had burned hollow, upon a
branch of the Columbia, which, after mani-
fold portages and perils, bore them to its
mouth and the goal of their pilgrimage, late
in November. Its distance from the starting
point, according to their estimate, was 4,134
miles. . (“The Nation,” October 26,
1893.) After passing the following winter in
an intrenched camp on the south bank of the
Columbia, Lewis and Clark began the ascent
of that stream on their homeward journey,
in March of 1806. In May they abandoned
their boats and re-embarked on the Missouri
River, which they descended, reaching St.
Louis, September 23d, two years and four
months from the time they set out from that
place.

Lewis County.—A county in the north-
eastern part of the State, bounded on the
north by Clark County, east by the Missis-
sippi River, which separates it from Illinois,
south by Marion and Shelby Counties, and
west by Knox County; area, 322,000 acres.
The county fronts the Mississippi River for
twenty-five miles, along which is a wide, rich

alluvial bottom, with deep soil and capable
of producing great crops. Back from the
river bottoms the surface of the county is
diversified, rising from level and undulating
prairies to gentle hills. The county is well
watered and drained. The chief streams are
the Wyaconda and its tributaries, Sugar
Creek in the northeast; North Fabius and
Middle Fabius in the central part; Grassy,
Troublesome and South Fabius in the south-
west, and Durgan’s Creek in the southeast.
The county has a general incline toward the
southeast, in which direction all the streams
flow, joining the waters of the Mississippi.
Along the streams are occasional tracts of
bottom land, back of which the country
breaks into fine rolling prairie, the soil of
which in places is light. Fruits of all kinds
adapted to the climate grow well on the river
bluffs and the uplands. About 85 per cent
of the land is under cultivation, the remain-
der in timber, consisting of oak, hard maple,
hickory, walnut, ash, elm, sycamore, hack-
berry, sassafras and cherry. The general
average yield of the leading crops to the acre
are corn, 32 bushels; wheat, 15 bushels; oats,
30 bushels; potatoes, 100 bushels; timothy
hay, 1 1-2 tons; clover hay, 3 tons. All the
different kinds of vegetables grow abun-
dantly, There are some indications of coal
in the central part of the county. Plenty of
limestone suitable for lime and for building
purposes exist in different parts of the
county. According to the report of the Bu-
reau of Labor Statistics in 1898, the exports
of surplus products from the county were:
Cattle, 7,222 head; hogs, 52,970 head; sheep,
7,016 head; horses and mules, g60 head;
wheat, 15,825 bushels; oats, 13,132 bushels;
corn, 126,912 bushels ; hay, 3,664,200 pounds;
flour, 1,029,200 pounds; ship stuff, 431,000
pounds ; lumber, 5,023,400 feet; walnut logs,
72,000 feet; cross-ties, 2,270; cooperage, 10
cars; coal, 23 tons; poultry, 948,275 pounds;
eggs, 305,140 dozen; butter, 66,728 pounds;
cheese, 7,070 pounds; game and fish, 32,320
pounds; tallow, 10,715 pounds; hides and
pelts, 38,404 pounds; fresh fruit, 15,927
pounds; vegetables, 1,360,550 pounds; furs,
3,951 pounds; feathers, 4,960 pounds; milk,
12,387 gallons. Other articles exported
from the county are corn meal, clover seed,
cord wood, stone, ice, wool, dressed meat,
lard, strawberries, molasses and nuts. Up
to 1804 the Sac Indians occupied the terri-
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tory now Lewis County, and for many years
afterward, annually visited it. About two
miles below Canton are a number of Indian
mounds ; there are also a number of Indian
earthworks in the vicinity of what is called
Indian Grove Lake, and on the Wyaconda.
In a mound near Canton, in 1843, a skeleton
measuring eight feet in length was found.
About the beginning of the nineteenth cen-
tury a Frenchman named Lesseur built'a hut
on the west bank of the Mississippi River, at
the site of the present city of La Grange, and
commenced trading with the Indians. He
was the first known white settler to make a
"home for himself in the territory now Lewis
County. Lesseur was only a temporary resi-
dent and occupied his hut only during the fall
and summer months. According to the most
reliable tradition and record, the first one to
become a permanent resident and to cultivate
the soil was John Bozarth, a native of Gray-
son County, Kentucky, who, in the spring of
1819, settled near the site of the present city
of La Grange, and broke twenty acres of
land, which he planted with corn. In No-
vember of the same year he returned to Ken-
tucky and removed his family and slaves, in
all eighteen people, to his new home. He
built the first log cabin in what is now Lewis
County. It was a roughly constructed affair,
containing only one room, no chimney, a
hole in the roof allowing the smoke from the
hearth in the middle of the room to escape.
For the first year, and until the cabin was en-
larged, all the members of the family occu-
pied this one room. Their food was princi-
pally boiled corn and honey, fish and game.
Corn was prepared for bread by pounding it
in a mortar, and clothes were made of
“home-tanned” buckskin. John Bozarth en-
tered land on April 20, 1819, and the same
day Isaac Norris and Robert M. Easton en-
tered land in what is now Union Township.
On the next day, April, 21, William Pritch-
ard filed his claim to land in what is now

Canton Township, and three days later Rob-

ert Jones entered land in what is now the
upper part of Union Township, and Aaron
T. Crane entered land in what is now Canton
Township, settling near Pritchard. No other
entry of land was made until June 2, 1819,
when Llewellyn Brown filed on land near
Bozarth. In a few years other settlers lo-
cated near the Mississsippi, and along the
Wyaconda bottoms. The richness of the

country became known and a healthy immi-
gration started, and in ten years after the
first settlement was made there were more
than one thousand people in the territory,
now Lewis County. The Indians were a lit-
tle troublesome at times, especially about the
breaking out of the Black Hawk War. In
this war many of the early settlers took part,
and the usual precautions were taken to pro-
tect the residents, especially the women and
children. The first town was laid out in the
territory, now Lewis County, in 1820-1, and
was called Waconda (Wyaconda). This
town was described by Dr. Beck in his “Ga-
zetteer,” published in 1826. There was lo-
cated the first mill in this region, run by John
McKinney, and the place was also known °
as McKinney’'s Mill. The town was washed
away by the river nearly three-quarters of a
century-ago. Lewis County was organized
by legislative act approved January 2, 1833,
and named in honor of Captain Meriwether
Lewis, of the Lewis and Clark expedition,
and Governor of the Territory of Louisiana
from 1807 to 1809. The commissioners ap-
pointed to select a permanent seat of justice
were William Blakely, William F. Foreman
and Joshua Feazel. Later Stephen Cleaver
was appointed one of the county seat com-
missioners. They selected a tract of sixty
acres now part of the site of Monticello. This
tract was donated to the county by Andrew
P. Williams, and was described as the west
one-half of the east quarter of Section 6,
Township 61, Range 7. September 29, 1833,
the commissioners made their report to the
county court and the same was approved. A
year later the land was surveyed under the
supervision of Silas Reddish, who had been
appointed commissioner of the seat of jus-
tice, and was named Monticello after the
country residence of Thomas Jefferson.
Later town lots were sold for the benefit of
the county building fund. In June, 1834, a
temporary courthouse was completed, and
soon after it was replaced by a brick struc-
ture, which served the county until 1875,
when the present building was erected at a
cost of $10,175. In 1873 a poor farm was
established. The first County Court of Lewis
County met at the house of John Bozarth, a
short distance below the present site of La
Grange, on Wednesday, June 5, 1833. Greg-
ory F. Hawkins and John Taylor, two of the
three judges, were present. Robert Taylor
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was the first clerk, and Chilton B. Tate the
first sheriff, and both were in attendance and
presented their credentials. The absent
judge, Alexander McMorrow, forwarded his
resignation to the court, and James A. Rich-
ardson was appointed his successor. The
third term of the county court met at the
house of Morton Bourne; the fourth term
was held at the house of U. S. Gregory, at
Canton; the fifth at the house of Joseph
Trotter, at Canton, and the sixth meeting,
held on June 2, 1834, was in the new court-
house in the town of Monticello. The first
Circuit Court for Lewis County was directed
to meet July 14, 1833, at the house of John
Bozarth. Judge Priestly H. McBride failing

+ to appear, on July 17th, the sheriff declared

the court postponed. The first meeting of
the court was held October 14, 1833, at the
house of U. S. Gregory, in Canton, and was
presided over by Honorable Priestly H. Mc-
Bride. The first lawyers to be admitted to
practice before the courts of the county were
Thomas L. Anderson, Uriel Wright and
Stephen W. B. Carnegy—all of whom years
later became noted in public life. The sec-
ond session of the circuit court was held
June 10, 1834, in the courthouse at Monti-
cello. Since 1897 alternate sessions of the
circuit court are held at Canton. In 1832 the
first church organization of Lewis County
was formed by the members of the Methodist
Episcopal denomination at the house of Cap-
tain William Pritchard, on Cottonwood Prai-
rie. The earliest ministers of the Methodist
Church were the Rev. Mr. Dole and Rev. L.
B. Staley. They held meetings at Canton
and La Grange as early as 1835. In 1835 a
Baptist minister, Rev. J. M. Lillard, preached
in different parts of the county. In 1834 the
Dover Baptist Church was organized in Un-
ion Township, and in 1840 the Wyaconda
Church was organized. The first newspaper
in the county was the “Express,” established
at Canton in 1843. During the Civi] War
the county suffered from the raids of nfpraud-
ing parties and some property was desiroyed.
Like many other counties in the' State,
Lewis was not a pleasant place to live in
those trying times. Some good citizens lost
their lives, but all in all, the county fared
better than some neighboring counties. Re-
covery from the effects of the war was rapid.
Lewis County is divided into eight townships,
named, respectively, Canton, Dickerson,

Highland, La Belle, Lyon, Reddish, Salem
and Union. The assessed valuation of real
estate and town lots in the county in 1898
was $3,145,840; estimated full value, $8,000,~
000; assessed value of personal property,
including stocks, bonds, etc., $1,578,105; esti-
mated full value, $2,080,000; assessed value
of railroads and telegraphs, $432,979.35.
There are 45.45 miles of railroad in the
county, the St. Louis, Keokuk & Northwest-
ern running near the Mississippi River in the
eastern part, and the Omaha, Kansas City &
Eastern passing from the center of the west-
ern border in a southeasterly direction to

east of the center of the southern boundary-

line. The number of public schools in the
county in 1899 was 93; teachers employed,
105; pupils, 5,122; permanent school fund,
$24,808.62. The population in 1900 was
16,724.

Lewiston.—An incorporated town in
Lewis County, on the Omaha, Kansas City
& Eastern Railroad, six and a half miles
from Monticello, and twenty-six miles from
Quincy, Illinois. It was founded in 1870. [t
has two churches, a graded school, two
banks, a creamery, flouring mill, opera hall,
two hotels, a newspaper, the “Journal,” and
about twenty other business places. Popu-
lation, 1899 (estimated), 500.

" Lewiston.—See “Burlington Junction.”

Lewiston.—A town founded in Mont-
gomery County in 1825. It became the
county seat of that county in 1826, and re-
mained such until 1834, when the seat of jus-
tice was removed to Danville. All trace of
the old town of Lewiston (which was named
in honor of Colonel Meriwether Lewis, of the
Lewis and Clark expedition) has long since
disappeared. Lewiston was only a short dis-
tance west of the present town of High Hill,
which is the historic successor of the old
town.

Lexington.—The county seat of Lafay-
ette County. It is situated upon high and
broken ground, on the south bank of the
Missouri River, and upon the Missouri Pa-
cific, and the Jefferson City, Boonville &
Lexington Railways, 244 miles west of St.
Louis. The Santa Fe Railroad touches the
opposite shore, and connects with the Wa-
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bash Railway four miles inland. The older
portions of the city yet retain the bus-
iness houses and residences belonging to
the days of river trade, and present
a quaint appearance. The newer portions
contain handsome modern business and
residence edifices. The city is supplied
with water by an adequate plant ; direct pres-
sure is utilized by a volunteer fire company
in case of fire. A private company supplies
electric light for the streets and private pur-
poses. A local and county telephone system
is maintained, with long-distance connection.
The courthouse is a massive brick edifice,
and adjoining is a large brick building for the
offices of the clerk and other officers. The
educational institutions are of first impor-
tance, and have given the city high reputa-
tion. Private schools are the Baptist Female
College, the Central Female College, the
Elizabeth Aull Female Seminary (tempo-
rarily closed), and the Wentworth Military
Academy. The public school system includes
a heautiful High School Building, of brick,
with stone trimmings, two stories and full
basement, with a handsome stone arched en-
trance, surmounted with a circular tower,
erected in 18go at a cost of $20,000, and four
ward schools, one of which is for colored pu-
pils. The aggregate value of school prop-
erty is $50,000. There are eighteen teachers
employed ; the number of pupils enrolled is
1,000. The library contains 3,000 volumes.
The bonded indebtedness is $17,000. All the
principal religious bodies have spacious
houses of worship. Of these, the Catholic
and Presbyterian Churches are new and
modern edifices; others are of many years’
standing. The fraternal societies are repre-
sented numerously. Newspapers are the
“Intelligencer,” daily and weekly, and the
“News,” both Democratic. There are four
private banks, with capital of $50,000 to $75,-
000 each, and a first-class building and loan
association. The industries include two steam
flourmills, a furniture factory, two large
cigar factories and an ice plant and brewery.
Coal mines in the suburbs produce a stand-
ard quality of bituminous coal, and brick
yards ship largely of their product ; these two
industries employ about one thousand men.
In 1900 the population was 4,190. The city
was named for Lexington, Kentucky, by im-
migrants from that State. It was platted
April 22, 1822, by James Rounds, John Dus-

tin and James Lillard, and it was located near
the site of the present freight depot of the
Missouri Pacific Railway. In 1836 George
Houx, James H. Graham, William Spratt and
James Aull, as trustees for a company of cit-
izens, laid out an addition reaching to the
river; this was followed with other additions
by these and other parties, and such additions
substantially comprise the present city. In
1845 the two towns, old and new, were in-
corporated as one city under a special char-
ter, which was operative until March 10,
1870, when an amendatory act of the General
Assembly was passed, which was practically
a new charter.

Lexington, Battle of. —After the bat-
tle of Wilson’s Creek, August 10, 1861, Gen-
eral Sterling Price, of the Confederate side,
started northward, his objective point plainly
being Lexington, at that time the largest and
most important town on the Missouri River
between St. Louis and St. Joseph. There
was a small Union garrison in the place,
which was reinforced from time to time dur-
ing Price’s northward march, until it con-
sisted of the Thirty-third Illinois—the Irish
Brigade—under Colonel J. A. Mulligan; the
First Illinois Cavalry, under Colonel J. M.
Marshall; the Thirteenth Missouri, under
Colonel Peabody, and a body of Home
Guards, under Colonel White—altogether,
2,640 men, under command of Colonel Mul-
ligan. The center of the position was the
Masonic College, a large brick building situ-
ated on a hill northeast of the town, over-
looking the Missouri River, around which
defensive works had been thrown up, with a
broad, deep ditch and pits beyond for ob-
structing the advance of an enemy. The
garrison had six small brass cannon and two
howitzers, the howitzers being useless for
want of shells. On the 12th of September
the advance of Price’s army made its appear-
ance, driving in the Union pickets and open-
ing fire upon the college with Bledsoe’s Bat-
tery, which, in the absence of the commander,
who had been wounded a short time before
at Drywood, was in charge of Captain Em-
met McDonald, and Parsons’ Battery,
under Captain Guibor. The firing was kept
up on both sides throughout the day without
any considerable effect, and at night the as-
sailants withdrew to the fair grounds to
await the arrival of their wagon train and re-
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inforcements. Two days before, on the 10th,
Mulligan had sent a messenger, Lieutenant
Rains, to General Fremont, at St. Louis, an-
nouncing the approach of Price’s army and
asking for reinforcements, but the steamboat
“Sunshine,” with Lieutenant Rains on board,
was captured by Price’s men forty miles be-
low Lexington, and the message never
reached its destination. For six days after
the cannonade on the 12th the assailants con-
tented themselves with the investment of the
place, and the garrison improved the time in
strengthening the defenses; but, on the 18th,
General Price, who had arrived with his
whole force—estimated at 15,000 men—set
vigorously about the task of bringing the
garrison to terms. It was isolated from the
town, which deprived it of its supply of water
from that source, a steamboat laden with
stores was seized, and the handsome resi-
dence of Colonel Thomas B. Wallace which
commanded the Union position, was occu-
pied. General Price then sent to Colonel
Mulligan a peremptory demand for sur-
render, and received the reply: “If you want
us you must take us.” The attack then be-
gan in earnest, the garrison making a heroic
defense for two days and keeping the assail-
ants out of the works until the 2oth, when the
Confederates, finding a large quantity of
hemp bales in McGrew Brothers’ factory,
conceived the device of a movable line of
breastworks, from which they might more
safely and effectually conduct their attack.
The hemp bales were brought out, soaked in
the river to prevent them from being fired by
the shots of the garrison, and placed two tier
deep around the grounds of the college.
Protected by this improvised rampart, the as-
sailants poured an incessant fire on the gar-
rison, pushing it steadily forward up the hill
until it was within fifty yards of the line of
defense around the college, and the garrison
found itself completely hemmed in by the
constantly contracting line of fire, from
which the final assault might be looked for
at any moment. The assailing force was too
great to be cut through in a charge, however
desperate; in the rear was the Missouri
River, with no means of crossing, and com-
manded above and below and on the oppo-
site bank by the besiegers; and, in addition,
the garrison was without water, except the
limited quantity that could be caught from
pass$ing showers, and the stench from the

carcasses of dead horses and mules had be-
come excessively offensive. Colonel Mulii-
gan had held out in the hope of receiving
succor, but it never came, and he could not
expect that his men, exhausted by an attack
which had lasted without cessation for fifty-
two hours, could longer stand the strain. The
situation was hopeless; and, therefore, on the
afternoon of-the 2oth, a white flag was raised
by Major Becker, of the Home Guards, in
token of surrender, and the battle of Lexing-
ton was over. The loss on the Union side
was forty killed and one hundred and twenty
wounded, and on the Confederate side
twenty killed and seventy-five wounded.
Colonel Mulligan, commander of the
garrison, was wounded in the right arm
and leg; Colonel Marshall, of the First Illi-
nois, was wounded in the breast, and Colonel
White, of the Home Guards, was among the
killed. The captors secured 3,000 prisoners,
six cannons, two mortars, over 3,000 mus-
kets, 750 horses, with wagons and commis-
sary stores valued at $100,000.

Leyba, Don Ferdinand de, Lieu-
tenant Governor of Upper Louisiana, came
to St. Louis by appointment of Governor
Bernardo Galvez, June 17, 1778. Nothing
can be gleaned from the old records concern-
ing his earlier life, but it is certain that his
education and experience had not fitted him
to exercise wisely the functions of Governor
of a new colony. Lacking in tact and judg-
ment of men and affairs, he aroused antag-
onisms, and became exceedingly unpopular
personally. He was charged by some of his
contemporaries with being intemperate in his
habits, and weak and vascillating in the ad-
ministration of the government, and while
much of the criticism of that period seems to
have been harsh and undeserved, it is certain
that he left upon the community a less pleas-
ing impress than any other man who held the
office of Lieutenant Governor under the
Spanish administration. He died in office,
June 27, 1780, and was buried in the village
churchyard on the following day.

Liberal.—A city of the fourth class, in
Barton County, on the Kansas City, Fort
Scott & Memphis, and the Missouri Pacific
Railways, eighteen miles northwest of La-
mar, the county seat. It has a public school,
a Methodist Church, two newspapers, the
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“Independent” and the “Enterprise,” both
independent; Liberal Lodge, Ancient Free
and Accepted Masons; two banks, the Ex-
change Bank and the Bank of Liberal; and a
steam cornmill. It was platted by M. N.
+Wills, and incorporated November 7, 1881;
the latter act was irregular, and reincorpora-
tion was effected March 3, 1884. It was
founded by a community holding to entire
independence of the Christian religion, set-
ting up as a standard of morality the maxim:
“Be True to Thyself.” The community es-
tablished, at a cost of nearly $6,000, a num-
ber of neat frame buildings, in which are
maintained a Liberal Normal School and
Business Institute, a Sunday school, the
Ladies’ Progressive Lyceum, and other liter-
ary clubs. In 1899 the population was goo.
In the immediate vicinity are extensive mines
of excellent coal, and quarries of black
sandstone of superior quality which is much
used in the large cities for ornamental pur-
poses in public and office buildings.

Liberty.—The county seat of Clay Coun-
ty, fourteen miles northeast of Kansas City,
and three and one-half miles north of the
Missouri River. Its railways are the Chicago,
Milwaukee & St. Paul, and the Kansas City
branch of the Hannibal & St. Joseph; the
tracks of the latter road are also used by the

Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railway. Itis
an important educational center, and is the
seat of William Jewell College and of Liberty

Ladies’ College, both of which are noted un-

der their respective titles in this work. Public
schools are liberally maintained, being in no
wise disparaged to favor the collegiate in-
stitutions. The buildings for white pupils are
two substantial structures which cost about
$20,000, and include a high school building
erected in 1896. Ample provision is made for
the instruction of colored children, taught by
teachers of their own race. The schools num-
bered in 1900, 681 pupils, of whom 112 were
in the high school; 15 teachers were em-
ploved; and the annual expense was$9,401.75.
There are well supported churchesof the Bap-
tist, Christian, Methodist Episcopal South,
Old-School Presbyterian South, and Catho-
lic denominations, and churches are main-
tained by colored Baptists and Methodists.
An Episcopal house of worship has not been
occupied for some years. The Masons main-
tain a lodge, chapter and commandery, and

the Odd Fellows a lodge and encampment.
There are three weekly newspapers, all Dem-
ocratic. The “Tribune” was founded in 1846
by Robert H. Miller, who conducted it until
1885 ; during all that period it failed of but
one issue, in 1861. In 1885 it was purchased
by Honorable John Dougherty, who disposed
of it soon afterward. The other papers are
the “Advance,” founded in 1875, and the
“Herald,” founded in 1895. The banks are
as follows: The Liberty Savings Association,
the oldest banking house in the county, was
established in 1865, with Thomas McCarty
as president; its capital is $50,000, and its
resources are $157,671; W. F. Gordon is
president, and D. Gittings is cashier. The
Commercial Savings Bank of Liberty was or-
ganized October 4, 1866, with A. J. Calhoun
as president and David Roberts as cashier.
It became the Commercial Bank of Liberty,
and it was rechartered May 23, 1896. The
capital is $75,000; James M. Sandusky
is president, and L. B. Dougherty is cashier.
The First National Bank of Liberty, the
only national bank in Clay County, was char-
tered in 1887, with Daniel Hughes as first
president. John S. Major became president
in 1897. Its capital is $50,000, its issue is
$12,500, and its resources are $252,000.

The city contains one steam flouring mill,
two large hotels and numerous large stores.
South of the city is the Odd Fellows’ Home
of Missouri, noted under its title. In 1900

the population of Liberty was 2,407.
The first settler on the site _of
Liberty was John Owens, who built

a house where is now the northeast cor-
ner of Water and Mill Streets. His place was
a tavern, and there the- first court sessions
were held. (See “Clay County.”) The site was
selected as a county seat in 1822, and John
Owens and Charles McGee each donated
twenty-five acres of land for public uses. July
4 of the same year the first lots were sold.
The same year the first store was opened by
William L. Smith, at his residence. Leonard
Searcy opened a licensed tavern in 1826, and
conducted it for several years. Laban Gar-
rett engaged in a similar business in 1827, and
John Chauncey in 1832. Until 1826 there
were probably not more than a dozen houses
in the place, and all but one were of logs.
May 4, 1829, the town of Liberty was in-
corporated, with Lewis Scott, John R. Peters,
Eli Casey, Samuel Ringo and John Baxter as
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the first board of trustees. In 1837 the town
contained fourteen stores, and the “Far
West” newspaper had been established.
About 1850 Michael Arthur, E. M. Samuel
and Colonel A. W. Doniphan organized an
insurance company which existed for several
years. In 1828 the building of the first court-
house was begun; some of the lower rooms
were occupied in 1831, and the work was
completed in 1833. The building was of brick,
two stories high. Judge George Burnett was
the architect. The building burned down in
1857, and was replaced by the present edifice,
costing $41,000. The jail, yet standing in
part, was built in 1833; it was built by Solo-
mon Fry, at a cost of $600. Almost from its
founding Liberty was a social and educational
center. In 1827 the military post of Fort
Leavenworth was established. Liberty was
for many years the nearest town to the fort,
and to it came army officers, many of whom
in later years held high rank and performed
deeds which added lustre to American his-
tory; their wives and daughters also came
shopping, or to take part in social affairs, and
their children for education. These condi-
tions produced a charming and cultured so-
ciety, and served as a stimulus to the
ambition and public spirit of the inhabitants
of the place. The early schools were main-
tained by private subscription. At an early
day excellent academical instruction was pro-
vided, and Liberty was recognized as a leader
in educational concerns. As early as 1828
Mrs. Frances A. Peters opened a high school
for girls, continuing it until 1838. In that
year a brick seminary building was erected
by the people, Colonel Shubael Allen and
Andrew Robertson being among the con-
tributors. James Love, with the assistance
of his wife Lucy, successfully conducted Clay
Seminary for several years, beginning in
1854. A female college was opened under
the patronage of the Baptists in 1854, and
was conducted for five years by J. T. Davis,
who was succeeded by J. B. Toombs. In 1864
it was consolidated with Clay Seminary and
placed under the management of B. R. Vine-
yard, whose successors in turn were X. X.
Buckner, the Rev. A. Machet and the Rev.
A. B. Jones. A deeply religious sentiment
pervaded the early settlers, and churches
were soon established ; of some of these there
is now little authentic record. The first
church organized in Liberty was the first

Baptist Church (Primitive), September 17,
1828. At the organizing meeting Elder B.
W. Riley was moderator, and the Rev. Henry
Hill was clerk. Services were at first held at
the houses of John Peters and other members
and then in the courthouse, until 1831, when,
the “Stone Church” was built. Elders John
Edwards and Henry Hill supplied the pulpit.
In 1870 the building was sold, and the con-
gregation built another, six miles northeast of

_Liberty. The latter was sold recently and the

church has become extinct. The Second Bap-
tist Church was organized May 19, 1843, by
the Rev. A. P. Williams, with thirteen mem-
bers who had withdrawn from the Rush
Creek and Mount Pleasant Churches on ac-
count of their adherence to mission views.
Services were held in the old Seminary and
in the courthouse until about 1850, when a
brick house of worship was finished. The
building was destroyed by a wind storm in
1882, and the following year the present edi-
fice was built at a cost of about $12,000.

What is now the Old-School Presby-
terian Church, South, had its begin-
ning August 29, 1829, in the open

air, in what was then a grove on
ground now within the city limits, west of
the courthouse. The Rev. Hiram Chamber-
lain presided and was assisted by the Rev.
N. B. Dodge, of Harmony Mission. Mr.
Chamberlain preached,a covenant was drawn,
and Robert Elliott, James McWilliams and
William Modrell were chosen elders. August
30 the Lord’s Supper was first commemo-
rated. Meetings were held irregularly until
March, 1834, when the Rev. John L. Yantis,
of Kentucky, became the first stated supply.
During the early years services were held
in private houses, and afterward in the court-
house. In 1852 a brick building was erected
on the site of the present edifice, and was
dedicated by the Rev. N. L. Rice. The build-
ing now in use was built in 1888, at a cost of
$6,500.

The Christian Church in Liberty dates
from 1837, when two small bodies were
formed. One was called the “Church of God.,”
and it numbered thirty-five members. The
congregations were united in May, 1839, and
formed the Christian Church of Liberty.
Services were held in the courthouse until
1839, when a brick house of worship was
erected at the foot of College Hill. In 1852 a
larger church edifice was erected at a cost of
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$4,000; about 1880 it was remodeled at an
outlay of $5,000, and in 1889 an annex was
built at a cost of $2,500. Alexander Camp-
bell, the founder of the sect, preached in the
church in 1845, in 1852 and in 1859. The first
minister was A. H. F. Payne, who served till
18s0.

The Liberty Methodist Episcopal Church,
which attached itself to the Southern Con-
ference at the division, was organized in 1840.
About two years later a brick house of wor-
ship was erected, and in 1857 a frame build-
ing was constructed at a cost of $1,800, and
was dedicated in 1859, by Bishop R. A.
Young. In 1895 the present building was
erected at a cost of $6,000, and was dedicated
by Bishop E. R. Hendrix.

St. James Roman Catholic Church was or-
ganized in 1847, and the present church edi-
fice was erected the same year at a cost of
$2,500, and was consecrated the following
year by Archbishop Kenrick. The first rector
was the Rev. Father Bernard Donnelly, the
pioneer priest of Kansas City, whose history
is contained in an article by the Rev. Father
Dalton in this work.

At the outbreak of the Civil War, Liberty
was a thriving city, with a branch of the
Farmers’ Bank of Lexington, a woolen mill,
rope walks and hemp factories, and a number
of flourishing business houses. Its industries
were seriously impaired during the period of
civil disturbance, and some of them were not
re-established. With the restoration of peace
and the reopening of William Jewell College
and the building of railways a new era of
progress began. Liberty is a city of wealth
and refinement and, while it is of considerable
importance in a commercial and financial
sense, its highest worth and most enduring
influence are found in its splendid educational
institutions.

Liberty Arsemal. —A United States
military storehouse on the Missouri River, in
Clay County, three and one-half miles south
of Liberty, the county seat. It was established
in 1837 on land purchased by the Federal
government from Joel Turnham, and the
buildings were constructed out of stone quar-
ried and brick made in the vicinity. December
4, 1855, a Clay County company numbering
about 100 men, under the command of Major
Ebenezer Price, seized the arsenal, then un-
der the command of Luther Leonard, United

States military storekeeper, and removed
from it three brass field pieces, 55 rifles, 67
sabres, 100 dragoon pistols and 20 revolyers,
together with equipments and ammunition.
With these arms the captors repaired to a
pro-slavery camp on the Wakarusa River.
December 10 Major William N. R. Beall
came from Fort Leavenworth with a com-

- pany of the First United States Cavalry Regi-

ment, and made demand of leading citizens
of Liberty for the return of the public prop-
erty. The following day all was returned to
the arsenal save about $400 worth. There
were no proceedings taken against the
depredators. April 20, 1861, the arsenal was
seized by a body of about 200 secessionists,
comprising a Jackson County company un-
der Captain McMurray, of Independence, and
a Clay County company under Colonel Henry
L. Routt, who commanded the expedition.
Being without resisting force, Storekeeper
Nathaniel Grant, in charge of the arsenal,
submitted under protest. The property taken
comprised three brass field pieces, mounted ;
12 six-pounder and one three-pounder iron
guns, not mounted ; caissons, artillery equip-
ments and ammunition; 1,180 muskets, 243
rifles, 121 carbines, 923 pistols, 419 sabres
and other small arms; 12,700 pounds of pow-
der for cannon, muskets and rifles; 400,000
small arm cartridges, and accoutrements and
equipments for cavalry and infantry. The
property was distributed among the secession
companies forming in Clay and adjoining
counties. Whether this act had the sanction
of the State authorities or was due entirely to
the local excitement is a controverted point.
The seizure of the arsenal was nine days
after the firing upon Fort Sumter, and was
the first act of aggression against the Federal
authority in Missouri. It was condemned
by leading secessionists as premature, in
that it placed the Unionists in St. Louis upon
their guard, and defeated the capture of the
more important arsenal near that city. The
Liberty arsenal remained in possession of
the Federal government until 1869, when it
was abandoned, and the ground and buildings
were sold to Amos S. Kimball. All that now
remains is the building which was occupied
by the storekeeper, now used as a residence
by a farm tenant.

Liberty Ladies’ College.—A college
home for young ladies, at Liberty, Clay
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County. It provides classical, scientific and
literary courses of study, both prescribed and
elective. It is undenominational, but is con-
trolled by the principles of the Christian re-
ligion. It includes the American Mozart
Conservatory of Music and Fine Arts. The
building is entirely modern in construction
and in equipment. The school was founded
in 1890 by Professor Flourney Menefee, who
had been president of the Baptist Female
Seminary at Lexington. L. B. Dougherty
and O’Fallon Dougherty donated a ten-acre
tract of land-for a building site, and other
citizens of Liberty contributed $15,000. This
was conveyed to Prof. Menefee as a gift, and
with the cash donation as a nucleus he built
the fine college edifice the same year. The
school was conducted by Professor Menefee
under the name of the Liberty Female Col-
lege. In 1895 the property was purchased
by the present proprietor, Prof. C. M. Wil-
liams, A. M., for seven years a professor and
co-principal of Hardin College. April 18,
1898, the institution was chartered as Lib-
erty Ladies’ College. The property is valued
at $50,000, and the equipment at $10,000. In
1900 nine teachers were engaged in the col-
lege and seven in the Conservatory of Music
and Fine Arts. The total number of students
was 150, of whom 112 were boarders.

Liberty Landing.—A small place on
the Missouri River in Clay County, three and
a half miles from Liberty. Before the Civil
War, when the Missouri River was full of
steamboats, it was an important shipping
point, and contained a large hemp factory,
but the building of railroads in the State de-
prived it of its trade and it declined.

Liberty Non-Sectarian Mission.—
A mission first organized in St. Louis under
the name of the “Liberty Evangelical Mis-
sion,” by Rev. E. T. Colman, on the gth of
January, 1887, in Spellbrink’s Hall, on
Franklin Avenue. Its objects were “to res-
cue the perishing, care for the dying, lift up
the fallen, without distinction of nationality,
class or creed; to provide a night’s lodging
for the homeless and deserving strangers in
the city, and to relieve, so far as the means
would allow, their bodily wants, to secure
employment for those out of work, and to
administer the consolations of religion to the
vast population of churchless poor, lying at

the very doors of our business marts.” It was
also declared that to dispense this Gospel was
the only object, and not to follow the doc-
trines or specific rules of amy particular
church. After a few years the word “Evan-
gelical” was dropped from the name, giving
place to the term-non-sectarian. The institu-
tion is sustained by subscriptions from busi-

" ness men and merchants, who purchase tick-

ets and issue them to the hungry, homeless
and deserving poor who apply to them for
assistance. It feeds, on an average, 200 per-
sons a day. There are fifty beds, and when
these are occupied the last comers have to
sleep on the floor. Admission is gained by
tickets issued by the purchasers, which are
thus largely distributed, one gentleman alone
having bought 3,000 of them at one time. A
free employment bureau for men, women and
boys is maintained in connection with the
mission. In 1898 it was under the manage-
ment of Rev. E. T. Colman, and was located
at 703 North Fourteenth Street.

Libertyville. —A village in Liberty
Township, St. Francois County, nine miles
southeast of Farmington. It is located in
Cook’s settlement and is one of the oldest
communities in the county. It has a large
roller flouring mill, three stores, a brick
schoolhouse and a brick church. Its nearest
shipping point is Knob Lick, six miles dis-
tant. Population 200.

Libraries of St. Louis, Public.—
The first recorded effort of St. Louisans to-
ward providing themselves with a public
library is found in a notice given in February,
1811, that a meeting would be held at the
house of Henry Capron for the purpose of
forming a library association. Nothing came
of this effort, either in establishing a library
or the museum of natural curiosities which
was to be an adjunct. The next move was in
1819. A committee of the St. Louis Debat-
ing Society, which was composed of the
brilliant and intellectual men in St. Louis at
that time, prepared the following resolutions,
concerning a library, to be submitted to the
citizens: _

“Section 1. The stockholders, or subscrib-
ers, and their successors shall be associated
by the name and style of ‘The St. Louis
Library Company.’

“Sec. 2. The amount of stock of the said
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library shall be $5,000, in 200 shares of $25
each,

“The undersigned, having been appointed
commissioners by the St. Louis Debating
Society, inform the public that the books of
subscription will be opened on the 10th day
of the present month, at 10 o’clock a. m., at
the store of Dr. Nelson, and at Mr. Bennet’s
tavern.”

This was signed by the committee, consist-
ing of Thompson Douglass, Horatio Cozens,
Jeremiah Conner, Henry W. Conway and
Arthur Nelson.

This effort also was futile, and nothing
more is heard of libraries until 1824, in which
year a meeting of citizens was held in the
office of Mayor William Carr Lane, the first
and one of the ablest mayors ever elected in
St. Louis, to consider the establishment of a
circulating library. Mayor Lane presided,
Archibald Gamble acted as secretary, and the
constitution adopted was prepared by Chas.
S. Hempstead. A permanent organization
was formed under the name of the St. Louis
Library Association, and a committee, con-
sisting of Salmon Giddings, Wilson P.

Hunt, Josiah Spalding, Captain Gabriel Paul,
Horatio Cozens, Honorable James H. Peck
and Daniel B. Hough, was appointed to
solicit subscriptions.

In less than a month these gentlemen re-
ported that they had received about 8oo
books, from fifty persons. The price fixed
upon a share in the corporation was $5,
which could be paid either in money or in
" books. In 1824, 181 of these shares were sold,
and over 1,000 books had been obtained. A
constitution, the by-laws, and a catalogue of
the 1,042 volumes in the collection was pub-
lished in this year. The library was to be
kept open on Saturdays from g to 12 a. m,,
and from 2 to § p. m. Every shareholder
might take out one volume, octavo or larger,
or two volumes, duodecimo or smaller, at a
time, if it was the same work. Colonel De
Launay is the first librarian mentioned, and
he was succeeded in 1833 by Dr. Garnier, a
professor of modern languages. In the same
year the association received from the mem-
bers of Missouri Lodge No. 1, A.F. & A. M,,
$250. The collection, then amounting to
about 2,000 volumes, was purchased by the
St. Louis Lyceum, a society organized in 1831
for “the intellectual improvement of its
members by means of debates, essays and

lectures.” Prosperous for a while, the society
lost cohesiveness after ten years of existence,
and after struggling along for a few more
years at the expense of the more devoted
members, it was decided, in 1851, to merge
the library in its possession, which had still

. some 2,000 volumes, and was valued at

$1,000, into the Mercantile Library Associa-
tion, which was then a young, but vigorous
organization. Each of the members of the
Lyceum, of whom there were but twenty left,
became a beneficiary member of the Mercan-
tile Library for ten years. The boeoks and the
records of the first public library in St. Louis
thus passed into the keeping of the Mercan-
tile Library.

The Academy of the Sacred Heart, founded
in 1827, has a library of 6,000 volumes and
300 pamphlets for reference and circulation
among all who are connected with the insti-
tution. The circulation is about 2,000 a year,
and the reference books used number about
1,500. The collection is general in character,
fiction being made the least important class,
and a certain amount of reading from the
library is made a part of the school work by
the pupils. The library is maintained entirely
from the resources of the academy.

The founding of the first considerable
library, which is still in existence, that of the
St. Louis University, was made in 1829 by
some Catholic priests, who came from Bel-
gium, bringing with them a small collection of
books. This collection has grown gradually
until it now numbers about 50,000 volumes
and pamphlets, including the 10,000 books in
the students’ society libraries. The books
circulate only among the faculty and the
students, but the resources of the library are
placed at the command of all who wish to use
them for reference purposes. It is mainly an
ecclesiastical library, being especially rich in
the writings of the early Catholic fathers,
rare editions of the Bible, some illuminated
manuscripts of the middle ages, treatises on
canon law and church history, and complete
collections of theological writings, ancient
and modern.

One of the most important libraries in the
city, the St. Louis Law Library, was founded
in 1838, and incorporated in 1839, by the St.
Louis bar, which had then less than forty
members. Among the twenty incorporators
were John F. Darby, Montgomery Blair, Bev-
erly Allen, Edward Bates, Josiah Spalding,
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Hamilton R. Gamble, Trusten Polk and War-
wick Tunstall. Each member agreed to pay
$5 admission fee and $5 quarterly thereafter.
For years there was discussion over the ad-
mission fee, which was raised and lowered
many times between the limits of $20 and $60
before it was made $20 by unanimous adop-
tion in 1850. Forty new members were
added immediately after this decision.

The first record of the number of books is
for 1842, when the association owned but 640
volumes. It now has a valuable library of
25,000 volumes, almost exclusively on law,
with a few miscellaneous reference books. Its
popular librarian, Mr. Gamble Jordan, who
has filled the position most satisfactorily for
nine years, reports that the library is practi-
cally complete in the line of reports, statutes
and digests of the United States, England,
Scotland, Ireland, and the British colonies;
that in its collections of treatises it has every-
thing of value on American law and an excel-
lent library of foreign treatises, including
works on civil and canon law, and treatises
and codes of the countries of continental
Europe, and that it is particularly well
equipped with standard works on French and
Spanish law.

Lawyers of good standing, practicing in the
city and county of St. Louis, who are ad-
mitted to the bar within two years,are eligible
to membership on payment of a $20 fee. The
fee for those admitted for two years or more
is $30. The annual dues are $15, payable
semi-annually. Members of the bar outside
of the city and county are allowed free access
to the library, and it is frequently patronized
by such persons. The books, which are kept
at the courthouse, may be taken to courts of
record in the city, but nowhere else. The
law library has no endowment, and is not the
recipient of any considerable gifts, being sup-
ported by membership fees and dues.

Much of the value of the library is due to
the interest and devotion of Mr. Arba N.
Crane, who has served it as director and pres-
ident for thirty years. He spent a large part
of five years in making a law catalogue which
makes this one of the most complete working
law libraries in the country. One of the most
valuable features of the catalogue prepared
by Mr. Crane is a very complete subject in-
dex to the leading law periodicals and anno-
tated reports, which is recognized among law
librarians as the best thing of its kind.

Messrs. Fowser and Woodward, of the Lit-
erary Depot, announced, in 1839, that they
were increasing the stock of books in the cir-
culating library which they had recently
established. In 1842 R. Jones Woodward,
who seems to have become sole proprietor at
No. 32 Chestnut Street, issued a catalogue of
the 10,000 volumes of history, biography,
theology, voyages, travels, adventures, nov-
els, romances, tales, poetry, etc,, which
formed what he claimed to be the largest
circulating library in the United States. He
also advertised a valuable collection of
French books. His terms of subscription
were $6 a year, $3.50 for six months, and $2
for two months. Non-subscribers could take
out books at the rate of 1214 cents a week
for a duodecimo, 1834 cents for an octavo,
and 25 cents for a quarto volume.

The Missouri Medical College founded a
library in 1840, which contained 1,000 vol-
umes in 1876, but this collection is no longer
in existence, the books having been gradually
carried off by the students.

The library of the St. Louis Medical Col-
lege, established in 1844, has been more care-
fully preserved, and now contains about 2,000
books, besides periodicals. It consists ex-
clusively of medical books, which are for
reference by the students, and it is supported
entirely by voluntary contributions. Its most
important acquisition was the library of Dr.
Charles A. Pope, containing 500 volumes,
which the college obtained, half by purchase
and half by gift, of Mrs. Pope, in 1875.

The library of the Missouri Historical So-
ciety owes its existence primarily to a meet-
ing of gentlemen held in the Senate
chamber in Jefferson City, in 1844, for the
purpose of encouraging and promoting the
study of the history of this State, and to aid
in its development. The society was incor-
porated in the following year as the Missouri
Historical and Philosophical Society, with the
following members: Messrs. George W.
Hough, William Claude Jones, Willam M.
Campbell, James L. Minor, Hiram B. Good-

rich, George W. Waters, John I. Campbell,.

John H. Watson, Adam B. Chambers, John
McNeil, Samuel Treat, Robert I. Boas, Erich
Plump, John G. Walker, George W. Huston,
Hiram H. Baber, John C. Edwards, Benjamin
Stringfellow, B. M. Hughes, Trusten Polk,
Robert Wilson, John D. Colter, William Car-

son, George A. Carrell, Thomas G. Allen,.
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William G. Eliot, William G. Minor, R. G.
Smart, Mann Butler, S. H. Whipple, Robert
T. Brown and Harrison Hough.

Andrew Jackson, of Tennessee; George
Bancroft, of Massachusetts; Albert Gallatin,
of New York; Jared Sparks, of Massachu-
setts; P. A. Brown, of Philadelphia; Judge
Hall, of Cincinnati; W. Gilmore Simms, of
South Carolina, and E. Lewis Cass, of Mich-
igan, were elected honorary members at the
first meeting.

The Rev. Dr. Goodrich gave thé first book

to the library, a copy of “Travels in North
America,” by the Marquis de Chastelux, and
the first contribution to the museum, which
was a facsimile engraving of six brass plates
found in a mound in Illinois in 1842. Wm.
Campbell, of St. Louis, a man remarkable for
his attainments upon all subjects, and par-
ticularly the early history of Missouri, was
the first president, and served in that capacity
until 1849. The first accurate knowledge of
the resources of the State is due to a geolog-
ical survey made in response to a petition
addressed by the society to the General As-
sembly in 1847. David Todd, of Columbia,
was the second president of the society; but
the association languished after the death of
Mr. Campbell, whose interést and energy had
been the mainspring of its activity. The last
meeting was held in 1851. After this the
books were moved to the basement of the
capitol building, where they suffered neglect,
and were finally largely destroyed during the
Civil War, when the basement was used as a
prison. Subsequently (in 1878) some rem-
nants of the collection were found by Colonel
James O. Broadhead, and presented to the
Missouri Historical Society, which was or-
ganized in 1866, with James H. Lucas ‘as
president, and Elihu Shepard as secretary.
The aims of the new society were stated as
follows :

“The undersigned, old residents of St.
Louis, who have spent the flower of their
lives in advancing its interests, and still bear
a conspicuous part in promoting its future
greatness, respectfully address you on a sub-
ject of lasting interest to us and to pos-
terity.

“An authentic history of the city from its
first settlement, written under the supervision
of a directory selected from our best schol-
ars, is a desideratum which should be imme-
diately supplied.

Vol.1IV—4

“This would insure a carefully prepared
record of its founding, progress, institutions,
benefactors, prominent men, and events that
mark its different epochs.

“We now have the means, the talent and
the time to accomplish it, and we must im-
prove the opportunity before it passes away.

“A century will elapse on the 11th day of
August, next (1866), since the first grant of
land was made in St. Louis.

“We propose to celebrate the centenary
anniversary of that event by meeting on that
day at the courthouse at 2 o’clock p. m., and
forming a historical society worthy of our
age.

“We cordially invite all who feel interested
in the enterprise to attend and participate
with their old friends in forming a society
that, we flatter ourselves, will be more lasting
and useful than any other we are now ac-
quainted with, and most likely to do justice
to the subjects on which they write.”

This was signed by the prominent and in-
fluential men in the city, and the roll of offi-
cers contains the best names in St. Louis
history; but the society was not prosperous
and was kept alive in but a fitful way, with
several changes of organization, until 1878,
when it was formally merged into the older
society and received from Colonel Broadhead
what relics of that organization he had dis-
covered in Jefferson City. At this time the
society owned little property, the books,
specimens, etc.,, amounting to about $500,
and there being an indebtedness of $180.

Many new members were added on the
change of organization, and the society en-
tered upon a more active existence, with
Peter L. Foy as its president. '

It now occupies rooms at 1600 Locust
Street, and is free to the public. It numbers
about 5,000 volumes and 4,000 pamphlets,
which mainly relate to the Mississippi Valley
and the Indian tribes of the vicinity. It has
many early maps and original manuscripts,
still unpublished, bearing upon Upper Louisi-
ana, St. Louis, Missouri, and the early set-
tlers of the country, and has also an extensive
and valuable collection of pictures of men
identified with the city and the State, and
views of places in the surrounding country.
The museum contains a fine collection of
archaeological specimens, which is unsur-
passed as a local exhibit. Its completeness
and value are largely due to the devotion of
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Mr. Oscar W. Collett, who was for many
years the secretary of the society.

The Missouri Historical Society is peculiar
in that it has no power to sell or alienate
any of its possessions, no gift to the institu-
tion being susceptible of being transferred.
The present officers of the society are Mar-
shall S. Snow, president ; Melvin L. Gray and
Dr. P. S. O'Reilly, vice presidents; Wm. J.
Seever, secretary; Dr. Charles D. Stevens,
treasurer, and Geo. E. Leighton, Pierre
Chouteau, John H. Terry, Joseph Boyce, D.
I. Bushnell, J. B. C. Lucas and Anthony Itt-
ner, advisory board.

The Residence Library of St. Joseph’s
Church, at 1220 North Eleventh Street, was
founded in 1846, and now contains nearly
6,000 volumes in English, German and Latin,
It is for the use of the priests of the parish,
but is occasionally used for reference by other
persons. The books are on theology, his-
tory and philosophy. The Rosary Library
of St. Joseph’s Church contains 3,895 vol-
umes of biography, history, science and
fiction, and is in circulation among about
1,400 persons, members of five sodalities, or
unions, in the parish. The circulation for
1897 was 1,313, and it is growing steadily.
The Young Men’s Sodality Library of this
same parish, which, like the other two, is
under the supervision of the pastor of St.
Joseph’s Church, consists of over 3,000 vol-
umes, over half of which are in German. It
circulated in 1897 about 2,000 volumes, and
some 1,200 books were consulted in the
rooms. Its directors state that books hostile
to Christianity or good morals are not
allowed.

The Concordia College Library, which was
founded in 1850, comprises 7,248 volumes and
about 1,000 pamphlets, almost exclusively
bearing upon theology. It is a circulating
library for use among the students and fac-
ulty of the college, and may be consulted by
clergymen, both in and out of the city, upon
request. The annual appropriation for its
support is $250, which is furnished by the
Evangelical Luthern Synod of Missouri,
Ohio, and other States. It receives without
charge all publications of the Concordia Pub-
lishing House. One important feature of the
library is the large number of church papers,
German, English, foreign and domestic,
which it keeps on file, and it especially treas-

ures its collection of old Lutheran works.
Its collection of the editions of Luther’s
works is almost complete, from the earliest
edition down to the present time. One of
its books, especially worthy of note,
is a very rare Latin Bible, printed at
Nuremberg, in 1477, by Coburger. It isa
large and thick folio, printed in double col-
umns, with fifty-one lines to the column,
with the initial letters beautifully printed by
hand. It is still in the original binding,
decorated with brass knobs. The present
librarian, Professor L. Fuerbringer, has been
in charge since 1893. '

Eden College, founded in 1850, has a coi-
lection of 4,500 books and pamphlets, the
general character of which is theological. The
library is for reference and circulation
among the students and professors of the
college, to whose use it is restricted.

The library of the Ursuline Academy was
begun in 1850. It now comprises about 1,700
volumes, covering the field of general litera-
ture. It is both a reference and circulating
library among the teachers and pupils of the
academy.

The Missouri School for the Blind was
opened in 1851. Its library has grown with
the institution, and now contains over 11,000
volumes in embossed type. These are text
books and works of general literature. They
are both for reference and circulation, and
are free to the blind of the State of Missouri.
The library receives annually about $350 in
books, which come from the American Print-
ing House for the Blind, this being the per-
centage due the Missouri school from a con-
gressional subsidy fund of $10,000.

The unique library of St. Louis is that be-
longing to the Missouri Botanical Garden.
It was founded in 1852, at the time that the
garden was opened, and the first considerable
collection of books was bought in 1858.
It now contains 12,953 volumes and 18,060
pamphlets, which treat chiefly of botany, and
which are for reference only. Mr. Shaw was
advised in his first purchase of books by the
student and scientist, Dr. Engelmann, who
consulted his friends, Hooker, Decaisne,
Alexander Braun, and other botanists in
making the selection. The collection, which
has been in charge of Professor William Tre-
lease since 1889, is said to be the largest and
best botanical library in the United States,
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and contains some rare and valuable books.
It may be consulted freely by all who wish to
make serious use of the books.

Washington University, founded in 1853,
has four distinct collections of books, all of
which are for reference by teachers and stu-
dents. The general library, in which is in-
cluded the scientific division, contains about
6,000 volumes; the law library has about
3000, and the Mary Institute has 500. The
library has been aided and increased by gifts
from citizens of St. Louis, but with the ex-
ception of the law department not much effort
has been, or will be, made to increase the
library very materially until the university oc-
cupies its proposed new buildings, especially
as the students have ready access to the two
principal libraries of the city. The professors
of the law department gave their salaries for
one year to add books to that collection. Mr.
Stephen Ridgley some years ago donated
property to the library, which is now worth
$80,000, for the purpose of erecting a build-
ing and maintaining the library. This is still
untouched.

The German Turnvereins have several li-
braries in St. Louis in connection with their
Turn Halls. The largest library of this kind
in the city, and also the largest owned by any
of the societies constituting the Nordameri-
kaner-Turnerbund, is that of the St. Louis
Turnverein, at 1508 Chouteau Avenue. This
library was founded in 1855, and now owns
3.483 volumes, only 335 of which are in En-
glish. The yearly appropriation for the library
is about $250, and the books are for reference
and circulation among the members of the
society. No one else is entitled to use them.
The reading room is open two evenings in
the week, and the yearly circulation is about
4,400 volumes.

Another collection is that of the St. Louis
Socialer Turnverein, which numbers between
600 and 700 volumes of a literary and scien-
tific character, for use among the members
of the organization. The yearly circulation
is about 350 volumes.

The Deutsche Schule Verein, at Twentieth
and Dodier Streets, has 3,200 volumes and a
yearly circulation of 1,200.

The Northwest Turnverein owns 1,034 vol-
umes, given by members. The books are of
a historical and classical character, and are
used for both reference and circulation. The
yearly circulation is about 850 volumes.

The St. Louis Academy of Science, founded
in 1856, was the natural heir and successor of
the Western Academy of Natural Sciences,
which was founded in 1837 by Messrs. H.
King, George Engelmann, B, B. Brown, P. A,
Pulte, Wm. Weber, Theodore Engelmann,
and G. Schuetze, the majority of whom were
medical men. The society, which had but
twenty-four names on its register during its
existence, held regular semi-monthly meet-
ings for six years, but after that the interest
was not maintained and the meetings were
discontinued. When the Academy of Science
organized in 1856 its avowed object was the
advancement of science and the establishment
in St. Louis of a museum and library for the
illustration and study of various branches of
science. By the invitation of Dr. C. A. Pope
the meetings of the society were held in
rooms in the dispensary building of the St.
Louis Medical College. This building was de-
stroyed by fire in 1869, and the museum,
which had grown to be a creditable one, was
lost, with the exception of some specimens
which had been taken to Washington Uni-
versity to illustrate a series of lectures. The
library was saved, with damage to some ot
the books. The library and remnants of the
museum were next placed in the Public
School Library rooms. Later they were
moved to Washington University, and still
later to the rooms which they now occupy at
1600 Lucas Place, where the regular bi-
monthly meetings of the society are held.

The society is composed of the leading sci-
entific men of the city. Members are classi-
fied as active members, corresponding mem-
bers, honorary members and patrons. Active
membership i§ limited to persons interested
in science, though they need not of necessity
be engaged in scientific work. Persons not
living in the city or county of St. Louis, who
are disposed to further the objects of the
academy by original researches, contributions
of specimens, or otherwise, are eligible as cor-
responding members. Persons not living in
the city or county of St. Louis are eligible as
honorary members by virtue of their attain-
ments in science. Any person conveying to
the academy the sum of $1,000 or its equiva-
lent, becomes eligible as a patron. The initia-
tion fee is $5, and the annual dues are $6 for
resident and $3 for non-resident members.

The library now contains 12,000 books and
8,000 pamphlets, which are chiefly publica-
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tions of like societies, and is open during cer-
tain hours every day for the use of members
and persons engaged in scientific work. The
society has published six volumes of transac-
tions, and twelve brochures for the seventh
volume have already been printed. It stands
in exchange relations with 550 institutions
with similar aims to its own.

The library of the Christian Brothers’ Col-
lege, which contains about 40,000 volumes
and 175 manuscripts, was founded in 1860. It
is supported by membership fees paid by stu-
dents of the college, and is only for their use
and that of the professors. It is used both
as a reference and circulating library, the
yearly circulation being about 5,000. The
collection is general in character, but the
library especially endeavors to collect old and
rare works and editions.

The Independent Order of Odd Fellows or-
ganized a library in 1868, which was sup-
ported by an initiation fee of fifty cents and a
twenty-five-cent annual fee from each of the
members of ten lodges. This gave the library
a yearly income of $1,500. It subscribed for
all the leading magazines and had a large col-
lection of German books. It was restricted to
the use of members, and was open from 7
a. m. to 10 p. m. After the Public Library
was made free it was found that the members
of the I. O. O. F. library could get their
books quite as satisfactorily in that institu-
tion, and in 1897 the Odd Fellows’ collection,
which then numbered over 5,000 volumes and
had a yearly circulation of 12,000, was moved
to the I. O. O. F. Home at Liberty, Missourl.

The library of Bishop Robertson Hall was
started in 1874. It is now a collection of
about 2,000 volumes, which are used only by
teachers and pupils in the building. It con-
sists mainly of standard general literature
and books of reference.

The St. Louis Young Men’s Christian As-
sociation, founded in 1876, has four libraries
in the city. The largest collection is at the
general office at Twenty-ninth and Pine
Streets. This contains 1,800 volumes of a gen-
eral literary character. The association has
lacked money to devote to the maintenance of
its library for several years past, hence the
circulation is decreasing rather than increas-
ing. The books are circulated among mem-
bers of the association,and may be freely con-
sulted by any one. The Union Station branch
of the Y. M. C. A. has about 175 volumes,

mainly fiction, for circulation among its mem-
bers. The daily and weekly newspapers, the
popular magazines, and the railroad journals
are on file in its reading room. The German
branch, located at 1907-9 St. Louis Avenue,
has nearly 1,000 books, both for reference
and circulation. The books are chiefly of his-
tory, fiction and biography.

The library of the German Free Commun-
ity of North St. Louis was founded in 1878. It
now contains about 2,500 volumes, four-fifths
of which are in German. The English books
in the collection are mainly government pub-
lications. The library has a circulation of
about 1,100 volumes a year among the mem-
bers of. the community and of the Freie
Maennerchor.

The Engineers’ Club of St. Louis has a li-
brary of about 1,000 volumes, both for refer-
ence and circulation, of scientific and tech-
nical books, which are for the use of members
only. The collection was a small one until
the purchase of Mr. Whitman's excellent sci-
entific library, after his death, about ten years
ago, gave it the first decided impetus in
growth. The library is now kept in the rooms
of the Engineers’ Club, at 1600 Locust Street.

In the year 1845 two merchants, while

standing chatting in their

Mercastile Library. adjoining doorways on

Main Street, brought up
the question of a mercantile library in St.
Louis. These gentlemen were Robert K.
Woods and John C. Tevis. The idea seemed
so feasible to them that they mentioned it to
other merchants, to whom also it seemed a
public-spirited and practical undertaking. In
December, 1845, a meeting of eight men was
held in the counting-room of Tevis, Scott &
Tevis, on Main Street. Seven of them—Rob-
ert K. Woods, John C. Tevis, Peter Powell,
John F. Franklin, R. P. Perry, John Halsall
and William P. Scott—were merchants, The
eighth was Colonel A. B. Chambers, editor of
the “Missouri Republican,” a man of great
public spirit, to whose interest and further-
ance the library owed much. After consider-
ing the question the following resolutions
were offered:

“Resolved, That it is deemed expedient by
the merchants of this city to found a Mercan-
tile Library Association, for their own mu-
tual improvement and for the improvement
of those in their employ; and that in so doing
they deem it expedient to form a library prin-
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cipally devoted to such subjects as are useful
to men employed in commercial pursuits ; but
that whilst the primary object is mercantile,
all other professions are respectfully invited
to unite.

“Resolved, That a committee of five be ap-
pointed at this meeting to select a committee
of fifteen to report to a committee of mer-
lcahants and others a constitution and by-

ws.”

The committee appointed in accordance
with the resolution consisted of Messrs. Pow-
el, Budd, Chambers, Kennett, Hall, Rust,
Clark, Barnard, Richeson, Halsall, Dough-
erty, Peterson, Southhack, Glasgow and
Yeatman. Mr. James E. Yeatman was
elected president, Luther M. Kennett, vice
president and Robert K. Woods treasurer.

The project was pushed with such energy
that two months later the directors reported
collections to the amount of $1,809.25, and
subscriptions amounting to $498. Rooms
were rented on the corner of Main and Pine
Streets, Josiah Dent was appointed librarian,
and the library was opened to the public in
April, 1846. By the end of the year it could
show 1,689 volumes on its shelves, a mem-
bership of 283, cash receipts to the amount
of $2,689.92, and the acquisition of property
valued at $1,854.35. The library of the Me-
chanics’ Institute and that of the St. Louis
Lyceum were absorbed in the newer and
more vigorous organization.

Mr. Yeatman, first president of the associa-
tion, long an ardent and active worker for the
library, and still one of its staunchest support.
ers, was succeeded as president by Alfred
Vinton in 1848. Mr. Vinton gave not only
his interest and encouragement to the library,
but bestowed upon it many valuable gifts,

which are still among the choicest treasures
of the institution. He urged the need of a
building fund, and by 1850 the sum of $1,012
had been donated for this purpose. Hudson
E. Bridge, the next president, proposed the
organization of a stock company, which
.should be (as Scharf concisely explains):

“Distinct from the Library Association, in
order to expedite the raising of the funds
needed for the construction of the new build-
ing. The company was formed at once, and
was incorporated February 17, 1851, under
the title of Mercantile Library Hall Company
of St. Louis, with authority to issue stock in
shares of $10 each, to purchase a lot and

erect thereon a building for the library, the
Library Association to be permitted to oc-
cupy such building free of rent, upon their de-
fraying all expenses for taxes, insurance and
repairs, and further paying to the Hall Com-
pany 6 per cent annual interest on all the
stock held by the latter. The company was
required to transfer the premises in fee simple
to the Library Association as soon as the lat-
ter should have become possessed, by pur-
chase or otherwise, of the entire amount of
$100,000.”

At the annual meeting of the stockholders
in January, 1852, a committee of twenty-four
of the best known and most representative
business men of the city was appointed to so-
licit subscriptions to the stock of the new
company, and the following gentlemen were
elected directors: John A. Allen, George Col-
lier, Alfred Vinton, Conrad R. Stein, J. E.
Yeatman, Hudson E. Bridge, William M.
Morrison, H. D. Bacon.

The southwest corner of Fifth and Locust
Streets had already been purchased for $25,~
500 by the directors, and in December of 1852
the plan for a building, drawn by Robert S.
Mitchell, was chosen from the eleven plans
offered. The original plan was for a four-
story building, but the fourth floor, which
was destined for an art gallery, was never
built. The first floor was rented for stores,
the second was eventually entirely occupied
by the library, though up to 1867 the room
afterward used for a reading room was rented
as a hall for lectures and other entertain-
ments, and the third was for many years the
main entertainment hall of the city. The
building, which was of red brick, with stone
facings, cost with the lot, $140,000, and was
considered extremely handsome and a credit
to the city.

Henry E. Bacon helped the library in many
ways at this time, taking $20,000 worth of
stock and advancing $10,000 to the associa-
tion at a critical period in the growth of the
library.

The new building was occupied in 1854.
The report of the library for that year showed
that it owned property to the value of nearly
$23,000; that it numbered 10,565 volumes;
that its membership for the year was 944 its
issue of books was 9,885, and its receipts were
$7,603.27. William P. Curtis was appointed
librarian in 1848, which position he held for
eleven years. The first catalogue of the li-
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brary was issued by him in 1850, which was
followed by a supplement in 1851. Mr, Cur-
tis was succeeded in 1859 by Kdward W.
Johnston,who published the second catalogue
of the library, which then contained about
14,000 volumes. This catalogue was based
on an adaptation of LLord Bacon’s scheme of
classifying books; and Dr. William T. Harris,
now commissioner of education, refers, in his
“Essay on Classification,” to "the eminent
practical success of the catalogue of
that excellent collection, the St. Louis Mer-
cantile Library.”

Mr. Johnston procured for the library a
valuable copy of Audubon’s “Birds of North
America,” which had great additional value
from the fact that it was Audubon’s reserved
copy and bore his signature on each plate,
for the original subscription price of $1,000.

In 1862 Mr. John N. Dyer, who had for a
year or two served as actuary, was appointed
librarian. He continued to fill both offices
until his death. His life was one of untiring,
unremitting devotion to the interests of the
library. His arduous efforts to secure the
funds for the new building, together with the
further task of two removals, following twen-
ty-seven years of close confinement, caused
his premature death July 3, 1889. His name
must forever be associated with the upbuild-
ing of this noble institution.

In 1872 the experiment of keeping the li-
brary open on Sunday, issuing no books and
admitting only members, was tried. The aver-
age attendance for six months was 7134, and
the experiment, not being considered profit-
able, was abandoned.

The twenty-fifth anniversary of the found-
ing of the library was celebrated with much
enthusiasm in 1871. The foremost men of
the city in science, in general culture, in the
professions, and in finance were present at
the reception, which was opened by an inter-
esting address from James E. Yeatman.

In 1874, by an amendment to the charter,
the control of the real estate of the associa-
tion was vested in a board of five trustees.
In this year the library published its third
general catalogue, at a cost of $8,170. A sup-
plement was printed in 1876, in which year
large and valuable additions were made from
the sales of the Drake, Menzies and Squier
libraries.

The library now began to feel cramped in
its building, its rental receipts diminished,

and it was evident that a fresh impulse was
needed. Many plans were discussed, and that
proposed by Mr. James E. Yeatman, being
adjudged the best, was adopted in 1886. The
proposal was that the library should offer for
sale perpetual memberships at $100 each, and
that the proceeds should be devoted to the
erection of a new building, which should
bring in a revenue from its rental of all space
not needed for library purposes. Robert S.
Brookings, then the president of the associa-
tion, carried out this plan most successfully;
$113,800 was realized from this sale of mem-
berships, and $300,000 was borrowed on the
real estate owned by the library. The
demolition of the old building was begun in
1887, and the cornerstone of the new edifice
was laid with appropriate ceremonies by
Henry Shaw on June 1, 1887. Meantime the
books were housed and the work of the li-
brary carried on in the old Pope mansion, at
Tenth and Locust Streets.

The new structure, which was formally
opened for the issue of books on January 26,
1889, is a handsome building of red granite,
brick and terra cotta. Its total cost was
$383,000. The library occupies the sixth
floor and two rooms on the lower floor, leas-
ing the remainder of the building on such ad-
vantageous terms that it is rapidly reducing
its indebtedness, besides making large acces-
sions each year to its valuable collection of
books. Much of the financial prosperity of
the Mercantile Library is due to the good
judgment and wise financiering of Robert S.
Brookings, and to his unceasing watchfulness
of the interests of the library. The library
now contains over 100,000 volumes, and is
especially well equipped to aid advanced stu-
dents in their researches. It adds from 4,000
to 5,000 volumes yearly, and offers to its pa-
trons sixty daily papers and 370 magazines.
It has a membership of 3,455, of which six-
teen are honorary, 1,307 perpetual, 573 life,
and 1,559 annual memberships.

The present librarian, successor to Mr.

Dyer, is Horace Kephart, formerly of Yale .

University Library. Since his incumbency
the library has been entirely re-catalogued,
and has issued a reference list of Missouri and
Illinois newspapers, 1808-1897, chronologic-
ally arranged, and also a list of manuscripts
relating to Louisiana Territory and Missouri,
of which the library makes a specialty.

The present board of directors consists of
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Messrs. Horatio N. Davis, president; Henry
Stanley, vice president; Benjamin S. Adams
and Alfred L. Shapleigh, secretaries; Henry
C. Scott, treasurer, and Robert S. Brookings,
David C. Ball, Lewis D. Dozier, Robert McK.
Jones, George D. Markham, 1saac W. Mor-
ton, Benjamin B. Graham, directors. These
names serve to illustrate the high class of
men who have from the beginning guided the
fortunes of the institution. From the first
directory, headed by James E. Yeatman, to
the present, the board of directors of the
Mercantile Library has been a roll of honor,
including at all times men who have ranked
among the most high-minded and public-
spirited citizens of St. Louis. What was
needed to give concentration, continuity and
thorough effectiveness to the service of these
able men was found in the tireless industry,
unflagging zeal and singleness of purpose of
John N. Dyer.

The terms of membership are as follows:
Any person engaged in mercantile pursuits,
as a proprietor, may become an active mem-
ber by paying an initiation fee of $5 and an
annual subscription, payable in advance, of
$5.

Any person similarly engaged, as a clerk,
may become an active member by paying an
initiation fee of $2 and an annual subscription
of $3.

All other persons may become beneficiaries
by paying $5 annually, in advance, or $2.50
for six months.

Life membership (active) $50.

Perpetual membership (active) $100.

The library has been the recipient of many
valuable gifts of books and works of art, the
value of which latter is estimated at $25,918.
The report of the treasurer for 1897 shows
the property of the library as amounting to
very nearly $813,000, taking its land valua-
tion, which was made in 1868, at $140,000. It
has been generously supported by the busi-
ness men of St. Louis, and has proved itself
worthy of that support by the efficient service
that it has given to its patrons.

Old residents of St. Louis who attended the
public schools in the early
sixties will at once recog-
nize the full-length por-
trait that faces them as they step from the
elevator into the vestibule of the public
library—the tall, slender, dark skinned, black-
bearded Vermonter, who filled the office of

Public Library.

superintendent of public schools from 1857
to 1868. To Ira Divoll that city is indebted
for the first organization of its system of
public schools and for the establishment of
the public school library,which has developed
into the present public (free) library, with
its 120,000 volumes and rapidly growing issue
of more than three-quarters of a million per
annum.

On the 10th of January, 1860, Superintend-
ent Divoll presented to the board of public
schools a report setting forth the necessity of
a public school library as a complement and
a supplement of a system of popular educa-
tion. He showed the inadequacy of mere
text-book education, the folly of teaching
young people to read and not supplying them
with proper books, the insufficiency of a sys-
tem of public instruction which during a few
years gives merely discipline, with but little
instruction, and ceases to operate as soon as
the child leaves the schoolhouse. He also
presented a plan for the organization and
maintenance of the library, essentially the
same as that which was put into operation
five years later.

The report and accompanying resolutions
were referred to a library committee, which
strongly recommended their adoption; but
financial embarrassments of the board, which
grew worse with the opening of the Civil
War, made it impossible to carry out the idea.
Tired of waiting for action by the board, in
1864 Mr. Divoll proposed the formation of a
library society independent of the school
board. This project received at once the
hearty encouragement and support of Hon-
orable Stephen D. Barlow, then president of
the board of public schools, and also a mem-
ber of the Missouri Legislature. Mr. Divoll
drew the charter of the proposed society, and -
Mr. Barlow secured its grant by an act of the
General Assembly, February 3, 1865. This
act constituted Stephen D. Barlow, Ira
Divoll, C. F. Childs and others “a body
politic and corporate by the name and style
of the Public School Library Society of St.
Louis” . . for the “establishment and
maintenance of a Public School Library and
Lyceum.”

The charter further provided that only
“persons who have been heretofore, are now,
or may be hereafter, directors, officers,
teachers or pupils of the St. Louis public
schools may become life members of said
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library by paying to the board of trustees the
sum of twelve dollars.” Other persons “may
be annual subscribers under such conditions
as the board may determine.” Life mem-
bership in the library constituted adults
members of the society, leaving the board to
determine the conditions of membership for
minors. By rule the trustees fixed eighteen
as the age for membership in the society.

The board consisted of sixteen members.
The president of the board of public schools,
the superintendent of public schools, and the
principals of the high and normal schools
were ex-officio members, and the first named
was ex-officio president of the board. The
remaining twelve members were to be elected
by the society from its own membership for
a term of three years, and it was provided
that six of them should be women.

The act authorized the school board “to
appropriate out of its general fund a sum not
exceeding $5,000 for the benefit of said soci-
ety, to be used exclusively for the purchase
of books for said library,” and further au-
thorized the school board “to provide rooms
for said library.”

The charter empowered the board of trus-
tees “to assess all life members any amount
not exceeding $3 per annum.” This power,
however, was never exercised.

The rules adopted by the trustees pro-
vided for the payment of the life member-
ship fee in installments of $1, for which a
certificate was given entitling the holder to
the use of the library for three months; “and
when twelve such tickets shall at any time
be presented to the librarian he shall issue
for them a life membership certificate.” Later
this rule was amended by a provision that
the partial payments should all have been

- made in one name, and the further provision
that the full-amount of $12 should be paid
within a period of four years. Persons not
connected with the public schools could be-
come annual subscribers by paying $3 a
year.

Mr. Divoll, with the active co-operation of

_ Stephen D. Barlow, James Richardson,

Thomas Richeson, Morris J. Lippman, Felix
Coste, and other public-spirited citizens, at

once set to work to raise funds. A canvass
of the city resulted in the collection of $2,151.

Out of this life membership certificates to

the amount of $1,139 were issued, leaving a

net donation of $1,012. An allegory, “The
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Great Rebellion,” given under the manage-
ment of J. M. Hager in the large hall of
the Mercantile Library by the pupils of the
high school, in May, 1865, netted the sum
of $995.15.*

On November 1, 1865, Mr. John J. Bailey
took charge of the inchoate library, consist-
ing of 453 volumes, chiefly school reports and
text-books. There was, however, $5,726.65
in the treasury, and large purchases of books
were made at once. On December 9, 1865,
the library was opened with 1,500 volumes,
chiefly juvenile books. These were displayed
on rough shelving in the session room of
the school board on the second floor of what
was known as the Darby building, on the
southwest corner of Fifth and Olive Streets.
Early in 1866 a large room (130 x 20 feet) in
the same building was leased from Mr.
Darby at an annual rental of $800. This
room was divided intp two nearly equal com-
partments, in one of which were the book-
cases and issue desk, while the other served
for a reading room. The latter was opened
with appropriate ceremonies October 16,
1866.

In the early years of its existence the li-
brary acquired by gift or purchase a num-
ber of small collections. In 1866 the Frank-
lin Library Association donated its 1,060 vol-
umes, and the St. Louis German Institute its
676 volumes, life membership certificates be-
ing issued to prominent members of these
organizations. In the same year the High
School Library Association gave its 812 vol-
umes in exchange for thirty perpetual mem-
berships. In June, 1869, the Henry Ames
Library of the O’Fallon Polytechnic Insti-
tute (5,631 volumes) became a part of the
Public School Library, and in November of
the same year the private collection of Pro-
fessor E. A. Rossmassler (571 volumes) and
that of Dr. B. F. Shumard (1,088 volumes)
were purchased.

Among the public school teachers who
most heartily agreed with Superintendent
Divoll regarding the educational value of a
public school library were Charles F. Childs,
principal of the Franklin School in 1860, and
of the high school in 1865, and William T.

Harris, principal of the Clay School in 1860,

® One or two performances had already been given when the
news of the capture of Jefferson Davis was received. Addi-
tionallines were hastily written and the episode of the capture
was represented, the part of the Confederate leader ing
taken by a high school boy who is now principal of one of our
large grammar schools.
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and assistant superintendent in 1867. Mr.
Childs lived to see the library fairly launched
on its career, serving part of the first year
as an ex-officio member. of the board. Dr.
Harris’ connection with the institution did
not cease until he resigned his position as
superintendent of public schools, and left the
city in 1878. Besides giving his time and
talents to the general affairs of the library,
Mr. Harris prepared a scheme of classification
so comprehensive and so elastic that it serves
as well now for the collection of 120,000 vol-
umes as it did for 20,000. Among the busi-
ness men and members of the school board
who were most active coadjutors of Mr.
Divoll were Stephen D. Barlow and James
Richardson, respectively the first and second
presidents of the library board; Thomas
Richeson, one of the organizers of the Mer-
cantile Library, and a constant and earn-
est friend of every educational enterprise in
St. Louis; Felix Coste, for many years pres-
ident of the school board; Morris J. Lipp-
man, Carlos S. Greeley, George Partridge,
T. B. Edgar, Dwight Durkee, R. J. Rom-
bauer, Eber Peacock, and other well known
citizens.

Rev. William G. Eliot, who, during his
long residence in St. Louis, was a potent
force in all the higher activities of the city,
served as a member of the board from 1865
to 1869. In remarks made at the first meet-
ing of the board, February 25, 1865, he con-
gratulated the movers in this enterprise for
having undertaken a work which promises
most efficient aid to the cause of education
and incalculable good to the community. All
talk about institutions of a higher grade,
without keeping in view from the beginning
to the end the system of public instruction
as the basis and indispensable support, was
utterly futile. By dispensing blessings equit-
ably and justly among all classes and condi-
tions of children, the public schools become
the ground work of our moral, social and in-
tellectual well-being. To enlarge and perfect
them and supply them with such agencies
and facilities as will make them fully ade-
quate to the wants and necessities of the com-
munity was worthy our best thoughts and
efforts. He regarded the establishment of
the proposed library as evidence of a just
appreciation of the exigencies of the hour,
and as the dawn of a brigher era in the his-
tory of educational enterprise.

The ex-officio members of the board in
these early years were Stephen D. Barlow,
Felix Coste, Thomas Richeson and James
Richardson as presidents of the school board;
Ira Divoll and William T. Harris, as superin-
tendents of public schools; C. F. Childs and’
H. H. Morgan, as principals of the high
school, and Anna C. Brackett as principal of
the normal school.

With such direction and with such sup-
port in the community, the institution needed
only a capable executive officer. In John J.
Bailey it found the required intellectual
qualifications and technical knowledge. Mr.
Bailey took up the work with zeal and en-
thusiasm. He visited the schools and ad-
dressed the children; he got up entertain-
ments, wrote plays and acted in them, and
in every way strove to assist the board in
raising funds. The enterprise was a success
from the start. The end of the first year
showed a collection of 9,000 volumes and an
issue of 31,000, a membership of 1,925, and
cash receipts amounting to $9,478. But ini-
itial momentum, however great, is not suf-
ficient. There must be some constant sus-
taining power. The public school library
would doubtless have reached a day of de-
cline before many years if its founders
and friends had not succeeded in their orig-
inal design of securing for it the regular
support and control of the board of pub-
lic schools.

The Library Society, at a meeting Novem-
ber 21, 1868, adopted resolutions favoring
the transfer of the library to the school board,
which was effected by a bond of agreement
signed April 17, 1869. This deed -provided
for the transfer to the school board of all
the property of the Library Society, the
school board binding itself to maintain the
library for the use of the public, in suitable
rooms, properly heated and lighted, and to
appropriate to the library a'yearly sum of not
less than $3,000, besides the regular library
income. In case of failure on part of the
school board to fulfill its contract, provision
was made for the reversion of the library
to a society to be formed of its life mem-
bers.

Under this agreement the school board
contingent to the board of managers con-
sisted of the president of the school board,
superintendent of public schools and prin-
cipals of high and normal schools, with a
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library committee of five members. This
rule continued in force until May 13, 1879,
when the ex-officio members were dropped,
and the representation from the school board
made to consist of the president and vice
" president and seven other members of that
body. The only important change in the
regulations of the library made upon the
school board’s assumption of its mainten-
ance and control was an extension of the
privileges of life membership on the same
terms to all persons without restriction as
to age, sex or occupation. This widened the
ficld of its usefulness, enlisted the interest
of other elements of the community, and
marked the first step toward the ultimate
goal of a free public library.

Circumstances greatly facilitated the trans-
fer, and favored the future of the library. The
school board had recently purchased from
Washington University the “O’Fallon Poly-
technic Institute” building. With this were
included the Henry Ames Library and the
claim of Washington University for $100,-
000 as a residuary legatee under the will of
Henry Ames. It was not till August, 1885,
that the school board obtained the money
in satisfaction of this claim ; but the expecta-
tion of the money served as a justification
for the annual appropriation of $5,900 for
the support of the library. The terms of the
legacy were that the interest on the money
should be expended for library and polytech-
nic purposes. There as no specification re-
garding the amount to be devoted to each
object, and the board therefore complied
with the provisions by devoting $100 a year
to the polytechnic evening school (which was,
with entire propriety, maintained out of the
regular school funds), and turning over the
balance to the Public School Library.

Thus the library came into possession of a
beautiful and well furnished room, with a
collection of 5,000 volumes, and an insured
income sufficient to provide for a reasonable
growth. At the time of its removal to the
Polytechnic building the library contained
12,000 volumes. It had a membership of
3,500, an income of $4,340, and its home issue
for the year ending May 1, 1869, was over
65,000 volumes. And thus happily ended the
first chapter in the history of the Public
School Library.

Besides the Ames collection and others
already mentioned as given or purchased

outright, the library of the St. Louis Acad-
emy of Science was stored in Ames Hall
from 1869 to 1880, and the books of the
St. Louis Law School for a year or two. In
QOctober, 1871, the St. Louis Medical Soci-
ety gave to the library its books, amount-
ing to fifty-six volumes and 491 unbound
pamphlets and medical journals; and, in ac-
cordance with an agreement based on. recip-
rocal resolutions, which became a formal con-
tract March 11, 1879, the society made all its
members life members of the library, the
money thus paid in being expended for med-
ical books and periodicals upon the order
of the society. The agreement included a
further provision, granting free use of the
school board assembly room for the meet-
ings of the society. In December, 1871, a
similar arrangement was made with the St.
Louis Institute of Architects, and in January,
1872, with the Engineers’ Club, the former
giving to the library 13 volumes of archi-
tectural works and 20 unbound volumes of
periodicals, and the latter 52 bound volumes
and 31 unbound volumes. The St. Louis Art
Society deposited its pictures, which, under
the terms of agreement, became the property
of the library.

In 1866 a roughly classified list of the
books then in the collection appeared in a
pamphlet with the charter, regulations and
by-laws. In 1870 a combined alphabetical
and classified catalogue of the collection was
issued, and a supplement to this was pub-
lished in 1872.

In September, 1871, was opened the **Col-
lection of Duplicates,” which continues to
serve its original purpose of supplying mul-
tiple copies of new popular books without
expense to the library. For many years it
was a feature peculiar to this library. It
has latterly been adopted by a few other
libraries.

In the autumn of 1872 an unsuccessful
effort was made to establish a branch in
Carondelet. This was accomplished in 1883.
The school board granted the use of a room
in the Blow school, the shelving being fur-
nished by Mr. Theodore Allen. About 1,500
volumes were sent down, which were gradu-
ally increased to nearly 2,000. The branch
was in charge of Mrs. S. S. Rector, and was
open from 4 to 6 every day, and Saturdays
also from 7 to 9 p. m.

On June 9, 1872, the library was opened
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on Sunday. Results at once justified this
new departure, which has since become a
general custom in public libraries.

The early part of the year 1874 was marked
by two important events. On January 6th
was opened with formal ceremonies the large
reading room, 100 by 50 feet, which had for-
merly served as a lecture hall; and on March
27th was signed a bill, introduced and pushed
to its passage by Honorable John J. O’Neill,
entitled :

“An act to authorize the Board of Presi-
dent and Directors of St. Louis Public
Schools to maintain a free public library and
reading rooms.” ’

This act marked the beginning of the third
stage in the library’s history.

Proceeding upon the authority thus ex-
plicitly granted, the school board made the
library free to all for purposes of reading and
reference within the rooms, and for the year
1874-5 increased its appropriation from
$5.900 to $10,400. The following year there
was a further increase to $12,400, and the
annual appropriation continued to be about
$12,000 until the year 1884-5, when it was
raised to $14,000. Upon this sum, with be-
tween $4,000 and $5,000 received from sub-
scription fees and fines, etc., the library was
supported until it was converted into a free
library with an independent revenue.

On January 17, 1877, Mr. Frederick M.
Crunden was installed as librarian. Some
months before the independent office of actu-
ary had been created, with a view to reliev-
ing the librarian of all responsibility con-
nected with the finances of the institution,
and also of his duties as secretary of the
- board. After a trial of two years the ex-
periment proved a failure, and the office of
actuary was abolished.

Soon after the school board took posses-
sion of the library it began issuing free mem-
berships to evening school pupils as rewards
for punctuality and dilligence. The tempo-
rary certificates thus obtained were ex-
changed for life membership certificates
under certain conditions. This custom, to-
gether with the rule bestowing life member-
ships upon all who continued annual or
quarterly subscriptions for a period of four
years, tended to fill the list with an increas-
ing ratio of non-paying members. As early
as 1875 it appeared that of the total number
of members about one-fourth had never paid

membership fees, while seven-tenths then
paid nothing, being either life members or
evening school pupils. To meet this diffi-
culty, on April 22, 1879, the life membership
fee was raised to $25, payable in four years
at $6.25 a year, and at the same time the
annual subscription fee was lowered from
$4 to $3. November, 1883, the life member-
ship fee was again made $12, with this im-
portant modification of the old rule, that the
purchase could be made only by one cash
payment. This accomplished the object of
securing a revenue from annual subscribers
as effectually as the $25 price. Very few life
memberships were purchased under either of
these rules. It may, indeed, be said that
few life memberships were ever purchased.
They were given to persons who had con-
tinued as annual subscribers for a period of
three or four years, and to pupils who at-
tended the evening schools with punctuality
for two or three seasons. This large annual
addition to the list of free life memberships
became a serious burden on the limited re-
sources of the library, and, therefore, the
custom of giving free memberships to even-
ing school pupils was discontinued with the
close of the season of 1878-9. February,
1885, the school board offered life member-
ship certificates to all who secured diplomas
from the polytechnic evening school. This
rule continued in force until the library be-
came free to all. The year 1883 began with
a further reduction of the annual fee from
$3 to $2; and September, 1885, there was a
further reduction to $1 for persons under
eighteen years of age.

But through all these changes the insti-
tution was proceeding in the path of its
“manifest destiny.” It was already a free
library to some thousands, and its more
thoughtful friends believed that what was
good for a few thousands was good for all
the citizens of St. Louis, and especially for
the children who would have to begin to
earn their own living at twelve or fourteen
years of age, and whose parents were too
poor or too ignorant to secure for them the
opportunities for education offered by the
library. Also it was becoming more and
more apparent that the institution had out-
grown its limitations as merely an adjunct
to the public schools. At the same time
its friends realized that its name and the
original restrictions of membership which
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the latter indicated were a bar to its widest
usefulness to the community as a whole,
Accordingly, on December g, 1884, the name
was changed to the Public Library. Not,
however, till it was made free, and thus be-
came truly a public library, did our citizens
note the change of title or realize that the
library was open on the same terms to all
residents of St. Louis.

In pursuance of its work of popular edu-
cation, the library offered to the people of
St. Louis the second University Extension
course given in the United States. This con-
sisted of ten lectures on political economy
by Dr. Edward H. Bemis, given during Feb-
ruary, March and April, 1889. Each lecture
was followed by a discussion. The course
was attended by all creeds and classes, and
did much to awaken interest in the study of
sociological problems.

As early as 1881 the librarian in his an-
nual report called attention to the inade-
quacy and inconvenience of the rooms in
the Polytechnic building and the ever-present
danger of a destructive fire.* From that time
on he constantly urged the necessity of more
commodious quarters in a fire-proof build-
ing.

On October 2, 1891, was laid the corner-
stone of the “Board of Education Building,”
on the northwest corner of Locust and
Ninth, Very appropriately the ceremony
was performed by the Honorable Stephen D.
Barlow. The programme included music
by a band and a chorus of school children,
and addresses by Honorable Richard Bar-
tholdt, representing the board of public
schools, and Rev. J. C. Learned, president
of the library.

On the evening of February 17, 1893, a
large audience assembled in “Entertainment
Hall” of the Exposition building for the
formal dedication of the new quarters. Ad-
dresses were made by Oscar L. Whitelaw,
president of the library, and by Rev. Edward
Everett Hale, who had come to St. Louis
for that purpose. Dr. Hale, anticipating the
success of the free library movement, “con-
gratulated the city of St. Louis, its present
inhabitants and its future inhabitants on the
birthday of the institution which will do most
for their happiness and intelligence.” He said
he spoke as a prophet in pronouncing the

*The building mufht fire five times and was finally torn
down after a destructive fire in October, 1897.

“institution of a large free public library the
most important event in the education of the
community. . . No man can foresee
the happiness of homes that is thus made
possible. No man can foresee the elevation
and advance of social life and public order.”
He closed with the exhortation to the peo-
ple of St. Louis to “establish here the freest
and best public library in the world.”

The new quarters comprising the sixth and
seventh floors of the Board of Education
building were handsome, commodious "and
well arranged. They would have been en-
tirely adequate for the institution as a sub-
scription library for twenty years or more.
But its change of base was near at hand.

In his annual report for 1882 Mr. James
Richardson, president of the library, urged
that the library be made free. Succeeding
presidents and the librarian renewed this
recommendation from time to time. Rev.
John C. Learned, in particular, constantly
and strenuously advocated the idea. His
address at the laying of the corner stone was
an earnest appeal for “free reading to all
the people in all the homes of St. Louis.”
On November 8, 1884, a paper on “The
Function of a Public Library and Its Value
to a Community” was read by the librarian
before “The Round Table.” The “Post-
Dispatch” published the address, and the
club printed it in pamphlet form for distribu-
tion. A bill authorizing cities, towns, vil-
lages, etc,, throughout the State to tax
themselves for the establishment and main-
tenance of free libraries was drafted by the
librarian and presented in the Legislature
by Honorable James Loring, and approved
April 10, 1885. Several efforts were made
to induce the school board to increase its ap-
propriation sufficiently and make the library
free, but the funds at the disposal of that
body did not justify such action. At length
the board of managers started the popular
movement, which resulted successfully. In
October, 1892, the board obtained from F.
N. Judson, Dsq., an elaborate opinion on
the availability of the act of 1885. This was
indorsed by Honorable G. A. Finkelnburg.
The active campaign began with a small
meeting of the earnest friends of the project,
held in the librarian’s office, January 21, 1893.
Shortly after a larger meeting was held in
the assembly room of the board of public
schools. At this meeting the following gen-



LIBRARIES OF ST. LOUIS, PUBLIC. 61

tlemen were appointed an executive com-
mittee: O. L. Whitelaw, Gist Blair, W. E.
Fisse, Charles Claflin Allen, J. C. Learned,
T. A. Meysenburg, George O. Carpen-
ter, Jr.

The committee added F. M. Crunden to
their number, and appointed Messrs. White-
law, Learned and Crunden a sub-committee
to prepare a plan of procedure. A well-
planned campaign, vigorously carried out, re-
sulted, April 4th, in a vote of 36,235
votes for the fifth-of-a-mill tax to 6,188
against it.

On May 6th Mayor Walbridge appointed
the board of directors. It was a work of
months to secure the signature ot an over-
whelming majority of the life members of
the library, consenting to its transfer to the
directors of the Free Library. The school
board was glad to be relieved of a burden
of $20,000 a year, and at the same time to
be assured that the object for which the
money was expended would be much more
effectually carried out. It was not, however,
till March 1, 1894, that the transfer was con-
cluded. Throughout these important trans-
actions the board enjoyed the legal counsel
and the practical assistance of F. N. Jud-
son, Esq., and Honorable John W. Noble,
which these gentlemen gave gratuitously in
the interest of the public.

Registration began in May, and on June
Ist the library was opened free to all the
residents of St. Louis. The most sanguine
predictions were realized. At the end of the
first year the registration list showed over
26,000 names, more than four times the
highest enrollment of former times, with a
circulation three and a half times as great
as the maximum under the old regime.

On April 30, 1898, the Free Library closed
its third complete year with more than 4o,-
000 card holders and a total issue of 920,-
500 books and periodicals. Of this total
647,360 books were drawm for home reading,
212,360 through thirty-four delivery sta-
tions,

The collection now (June, 1898) contains
120,000 volumes. For the year just closed
$17,000 was expended for books, periodicals
and binding, resulting in the addition of 15,-
500 volumes. The expenditure for mainte-
nance for the year was $58,000. The library
is kept open every day in the year, including
Sundays and holidays. The holiday opening

began with Thanksgiving Day of 18go, on
the urgent advocacy of Colonel T. A. Mey-
senburg, then and now a member of the
board.

With a small fund to cover the whole range
of knowledge and to supply the great de-
mand for books of a popular character, there
has been little to devote to building up any
special departments. The collection is, how-
ever, well balanced throughout, and fairly
strong in sociology, history (including biog-
raphy), and belles lettres, while there are few
libraries that have a better juvenile depart-
ment. During the year just closed 4,800
volumes were sent to our public schools to
serve as supplementary reading. Since the
institution passed from the control of the
school board it has a much closer connection
with the public schools. A few years ago
not more than one-fourth of the public
school teachers were members of the library;
now about thirteen-fifteenths have readers’
cards, and many are further supplied with
special “teachers’ cards,” enabling them to
draw six extra books at a time. In April,
1892, only 671 public school pupils had li-
brary cards; the registration list now shows
many thousands.

The close of the library year of 1897-8 was
signalized by the purchase of a block of
ground, 324 x 282 feet, as a site for a new
building. It is evidence of skillful and care-
ful management of the limited fund at its dis-
posal that the board has been able to make
a cash payment of $130,000 toward the pur--
chase price of $455,000. The library has been
fortunate in having men of the highest ability
and character to shape its policy and guard
its interests. The present board is made up
as follows: President, Thomas Dimmock;
vice president, T. A. Meysenburg, with
Messrs. Amadee B. Cole, William H. Hahn,
Charles W. Knapp, Arthur Lee, John A.
Nies, Dr. Thomas O’Reilly and Edward L.
Preetorius. The other directors since the
establishment of the Free Library were: Mrs.
John W. Noble, Mrs. C. I. Filley, Miss Leo-
nora B. Halstead, Messrs. Jacob Furth, E.
C. Rowse, Hamlin Russell, Charles C. Orth-
wein, Jr., Benjamin Eiseman, F. Louis Sol-
dan and O. L. Whitelaw. Oscar L. White-
law was president for seven years under the
former regime, and, being appointed a mem-
ber of the new board, was unanimously
chosen to the same office, which he con-
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tinued to hold until June, 1897. Colonel Mey-
senburg has been vice president of the board
of directors from its organization, and he was
a member of the old board of managers the
last four years of its existence.

The St. Louis Public Library already ranks
among the foremost public libraries of the
country. The present generation of St.
Louisans can in no other way confer upon
their descendants so great a benefit as by
making it the “freest and best public library
in the world.”

FrREDERICK M. CRUNDEN.

Licenses.—The laws of Missouri provide
for various licenses for the prosecution of
vocations, and for taxing them for the bene-
fit of the State revenue. The most important
of these is the license taxes on dramshops or
drinking saloons, which are to be paid to the
State and also to the county. The State tax

- on a dramshop license may not be less than

$50 nor more than $200, and the county tax
not less than $250, nor more than $400, for a
period of six months. There is a license tax
on auctioneers of $10 for ten days, $25 for one
month, $50 for three months and $75 for six
months. Brokers pay a tax on the amount
of business they expect to do, or upon the
amount of capital invested in the business,
whichever may be the larger, the rates being
on $5,000 or less, $50; on more than $5,000
and not more than $10,000, $75; on more
than $10,000 and not more than $15,000,
$100; on more than $15,000 and not more
than $20,000, $125; on more than $20,000 and
not more than $30,000, $175; on more than
$30,000 and not more than $50,000, $250; on
more than $50,000 and not more than $75,-
000, $300; on more than $75,000 and not
more than $100,000, $350; on more than
$100,000 and not more than $150,000, $400,
on more than $150,000 and not more than
$200,000, $450; on more than $200,000 and
not more than $300,000, $500; on more than
$300,000 and not more than $500,000, $600,
and on all amounts over $500,000, $1,000.
There is a license tax on ferries, which may
not be less than $2, nor more than $5.000
a year, at the discretion of the county court.
Peddlers on foot are taxed on their license
$3 for six months; if they use one or more
horses for carrying their goods or wares, $10
for six months; if they use a cart or other
carriage, $20. The tax on a marriage license

is $1. The special tax on manufacturers and
merchants is sometimes called a license,
though it does not now possess the qualities
of a license. The manufacturers’ tax is the
regular property tax levied on the raw ma-
terial and finished products, as well as on
tools, machinery and appliances, provided it
be valued at over $1,000. The merchants’
tax is the regular property tax rate levied on
the largest amount of goods on hand between
the first of March and the first of June of each
year. In 1899 the General Assembly passed
an act requiring department stores in cities
of 50,000 and more population to take out
license which should not be less than $300,
nor more than $500 for every class or group
of goods, wares and merchandise sold in one
house or series of connected houses, under a
single unit of management. One-third of
the license tax was to go to the State and
two-thirds to the city. In February of 19oo
the supreme court handed down a decision in
which this act was declared unconstitutional
and void.

Licking.— An incorporated town in
Texas County, about sixteen miles north-
east of Houston and twenty-three miles
from Salem, in Dent County, the nearest rail-
road station. It was one of the earliest set-
tled sections of the county and was formerly
called Buffalo Lick. It has two churches, a
graded public school, a bank, two hotels, two
flouring mills, two sawmills (near by) and
about twenty stores in different branches of
trade. One paper is published in the town,
the “News,” edited by B. F. Craven. Popula-
tion, 1899 (estimated), 80o.

Lieutenant Governor.—A State of-
ficer chosen at the same time with the Gov-
ernor, possessing the same qualifications and
having the same term of office. He is pre-
siding officer of the Senate, but has no other
authority except in case of the death, removal
or absence of the Governor, when he suc-
ceeds to the office.

Lieutenant Governors.—The follow-
ing is a full and accurate list of the Lieu-
tenant Governors of Missouri from 1820 to
1900, inclusive, the years of their service and
dates of their death if not living:

William H. Ashley, St. Louis, 1820, four
years. Died in Cooper County, March 26,
1838.
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Benjamin H. Reeves, Howard County,
1824, four years. Died in Todd County,
Kentucky, April 16, 1849.

Daniel Dunklin, Washington County, 1828,
four years. Died August 25, 1844.

Lilburn W. Boggs, Jackson, 1832, four
years. Died in California, March 14, 1860.

Franklin Cannon, Cape Girardeau, 1836,
four years. Died June 13, 1863.

M. M. Marmaduke, Saline, 1840, four years.
Died March 26, 1864.

James Young, Lafayette, 1844, four years.
Died in Lexington, February 9, 1878.

Thomas L. Price, Cole, 1848, four years.
Died in Lexington, Missouri, July 16, 1870.

Wilton Brown, Cape Girardeau, 1852, four
years. Died August 27, 1855.

Hancock Jackson, Randolph, 1856, four
years,
1876.

Thomas C. Reynolds, St. Louis, 1860, four
years. Office declared vacant by State con-
vention July 31, 1861. Committed suicide
March 30, 1887, by plunging down an ele-
vator shaft in St. Louis.

Willard P. Hall, Buchanan, 1861, elected
Provisional Lieutenant Governor by the State
convention in place of Thomas C. Reynolds,
and died in St. Joseph, November 2, 1882.

George Smith, Caldwell, 1864, four years.
Died July 14, 1881. :

Edwin O. Stanard, St. Louis, 1868, two
years. Is yet living in St. Louis.

Joseph J. Gravely, Cedar, 1870, two years.
Died April 28, 1872.

Charles P. Johnson, St. Louis, 1872, two
years. Is yet living in St. Louis.

Norman J. Colman, St. Louis, 1874, two
years. Is yet living in St. Louis.

Henry C. Brockmeyer, St. Louis, 1876,
four years. Is yet living in St. Louis.

Robert A. Campbell, St. Louis, 1880, four
years. Is yet living in St. Louis.

Albert P. Morehouse, Nodaway, 1884, four
years. Committed suicide in Maryville, Sep-
tember 31, 1891.

Stephen A. Claycomb, Jasper, 1888, four
years. Is yet living in Joplin,

J. B. O'Meara, St. Louis, 1892, four years.
Is yet living in St. Louis.

A. H. Bolte, Franklin, 1896, four years.
Serving his term and living in Washington,
Missouri,

Total number of Lieutenant Governors, 23.
Number who became Acting Governors, 4;

Died in Salem, Oregon, March 19, -

namely, M. M. Marmaduke, Hancock Jack-
son, Willard P. Hall and Albert P. More-
house. Presidents of the Senate who became
Acting Governor (for about one month), 1;
namely, Abraham J. Williams. Lieutenant
Governors now living, 8; namely, E. O. Stan-
ard, Charles P. Johnson, N. J. Colman, H. C.
Brockmeyer, Robert A. Campbell, Stephen
A. Claycomb, J. B. O’Meara and A. H. Bolte.

WirLLiaAM F. SWITZLER.

Liggett, John Edmund, manufac-
turer, was born in St. Louis June 11, 1826.
He attended the first public school estab-
lished in St. Louis, of which David H. Arm-
strong was principal. He then pursued an
advanced course of study at Kemper School.
When he was eighteen years old he entered
the employ of Foulks & Shaw, tobacco
manufacturers, the members of this firm be-
ing, respectively, his maternal grandfather
and stepfather. About the time he attained
his majority his grandfather retired from
the firm, and he became a partner in the
business. Hiram Shaw & Co. was the style
of the firm which thus came into existence,
until a year and a half later, when Mr. Lig-
gett’s brother, W. C. L. Liggett, purchased
Mr. Shaw’s interest and the firm became J.
E. Liggett & Bro. W. C. L. Liggett sold
his interest to Henry Dausman, and for
eighteen years thereafter the firm was Lig-
gett & Dausman. In 1873 Mr. Dausman'’s
interest was purchased by George S. Myers,
and thus was formed the firm of Liggett &
Myers. The business was incorporated as
the Liggett & Myers Tobacco Manufactur-
ing Company in 1878, and for many years
thereafter Mr. Liggett continued to be act-
ively identified with the conduct and manage-
ment of that great corporation. His relations
with his employes—at times numbering more
than a thousand—were always of an exceed-
ingly pleasant character, and he missed no
opportunity, apparently, to aid and encour-
age them and to promote their prosperity.
He became interested in many corporate and
other enterprises in St. Louis, with some
of which he was officially identified. He had
large realty holdings in the city, and at the
time of his death, November 23, 1897, he was
president of the Liggett Realty Company.
His estate was one of the largest ever accu-
mulated by a citizen of St. Louis—being
valued in the millions—and it was accumu-
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lated entirely through his own effort, not by
fortunate speculation, but by the building up
of a great manufacturing enterprise. Mr.
Liggett married, in 1851, Miss Elizabeth J.
Calbreath, of Callaway County, Missouri,
and three daughters and one son were the
children born of their union. The son, Hiram
S. Liggett, died in 1892. The surviving mem-
bers of Mr. Liggett’s family are Mrs. Lig-
gett and her daughters, Mrs. Claude Kil-
patrick, Mrs. John Fowler and Mrs. Mitchell
Scott, all of St. Louis.

Light Battery A was organized in
1877, during the railroad riots, by Colonel
Squires, at the request and on the call of
the mayor of St. Louis. Colonel Squires
had been major of artillery in the Confed-
erate Army, connected with the Washing-
ton Artillery of New Orleans. He organized
the battery, as requested, and it was called
the “St. Louis Light Battery.” In 1878 the
citizens requested the old members to form
a battery in the National Guard. This was
done, and the organization was called “Bat-
tery A, St. Louis Light Artillery,” by which
name it went until 1888, when it was
changed to Light Battery A, National Guard
of Missouri. On the 26th of April, 1898, five
days after the declaration of war with Spain,
Captain Frank M. Rumbold, at that time the
commanding officer, received a telegram froin
the Adjutant General of the State of Mis-
souri, ordering him to assemble the battery
for government service. This order was re-
ceived at 12 m., and at 2 p. m. of the same
day, two hours afterward, the men were in
camp at the armory, on Grand Avenue and
Hickory Street. On the 4th of May they
removed to Jefferson Barracks, where, on
the gth of the same month, they were mus-
tered and sworn into the United States serv-
ice. On the 16th the battery left Jefferson
Barracks for Chickamauga National Park,
in Georgia, where it remained until July
24th, when it started to Newport News, Vir-
ginia. From there it departed on the 27th
of July for Porto Rico, on the United States
transport “Roumanian.” In entering the
harbor of Guanilca the vessel struck on a
reef, and lay there ten hours. On getting
off she landed at the town, and the next
morning the battery was ordered to march
at once to Ponce. On their arrival there
they received orders to march “as quick as

possible” to Arroyo and report to General
Brooke. From Arroyo they marched to
Guayama, and there formed the second bat-
tery in the column to attack the Spanish
trenches at the head of the mountain pass
leading to Cayai. The battery was taking
position ready to open fire when the Presi-
dent’s proclamation reached them declaring
a cessation of hostilities. From there they
marched back to Ponce, a distance of forty-
seven and one-half miles, making it in one
day and three-fourths, during the rainy sea-
son and over bad roads. It took the infantry
three and one-half days to make the march.
On the 8th of September the battery left
Ponce for the United States on the United
States transport “Concho,” and landed at
New York September 15th, reaching St.

- Louis on the 18th. The men were placed

on sixty days’ furlough, from September 22d
to November 21st, and on November 3oth
were mustered out of the United States serv-
ice and returned to the National Guard. The
officers of the battery were: Captain, Frank
M. Rumbold; first lieutenants, John E.
Weber and Edward B. Eno; second lieuten-
ant, William J. Murray.

Lighthouse Engineer.— An officer
of the United States Engineer Corps, sta-
tioned in St. Louis, whose duty it is to make
surveys for and establish “light posts” on
the Mississippi and Missouri Rivers for the
protection of navigation.

Lighthouse Inspector.—The river
lights on our Western rivers are set on
wooden posts about sixteen feet high, upon
the top of which is placed a large square
lamp filled with oil, affording an illumina-
tion sufficient to show the pilot the proper
channel at night. The system was author-
ized by Congress in 1874. The Fifteenth
District is under the supervision of a light-
house inspector, who has an office in the cus-
tomhouse building in St. Louis. The dis-
trict extends from St. Paul to Cairo, on the
Mississippi; on the Missouri River, to Rock-
port, and on the Illinois River to Sand Point,
above Peoria. One boat is employed in the
district for placing lights and paying and
supplying the keepers. There are about 523
light posts in this district, of which 465 are
on the Mississippi, and thirty each on the
Missouri and Illinois Rivers. Engineers are
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employed to find the channels and place the
lights.

Lightner, Calvin Runge, physician,
was born in Huntingdon County, Pennsyl-
vania, son of Adam and Elizabeth (Stryker)
Lightner. His antecedents in the paternal
line were English and his immigrant ances-
tor settled in Pennsylvania before the Rev-
olutionary War. The Stryker or Strycker
family, to which his mother belonged, was
of a remote antiquity in Holland. A gene-
alogy of the family, which has been prepared
by William Stryker, Adjutant General of
New Jersey, with much care, shows that one
branch of it has been seated near The Hague
for more than 800 years. In the middle of
the seventeenth century Jan and Jacobus
Van Strycker received from the States Gen-
eral of the Netherlands a grant of land in
the colony of New Amsterdam, upon the
condition that they took out with them to
America twelve other families at their own
expense. Eight years later Jacobus Van
Strycker came to this country, and a year
after he was joined by his brother Jan.
These brothers, who dropped the prefix
“Van” from their name, were the founders
of the Stryker family at New Amsterdam,
which later became New York. To the sev-
enth generation of the descendants of Jan
Stryker belonged the mother of Dr. Light-
ner, whose parents removed from New Jersey
to Huntingdon County, Pennsylvania, about
the year 1818. Dr. Lightner’s father was a
farmer, and he himself grew up on a farm.
As a boy he attended the country schools,and
his scholastic education was completed at a
somewhat noted academy at Bell's Mills,
Pennsylvania. After leaving school he read
medicine under the preceptorship of Dr. S.
T. Davis, a typical physician of the old
school, who had a large general practice at
Lancaster, Pennsylvania. In 1877 he matric-
ulated at Bellevue Hospital Medical College,
and at the end of a three years’ course of
study he received his doctor’s degree from
that institution in 1880. Immediately after
his graduation from the medical college he
began practicing with his old preceptor, Dr.
Davis, at Lancaster, and had three years’ ex-
perience as a general practitioner. At the
end of that time he went to St. Louis, and
X(?r fifteen years he has practiced in that
city, giving special attention to diseases of
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the eye. These years have been years of
careful, conscientious labor, painstaking re-
search and close application to professional
duties, and his reward has been the building
up of a lucrative practice and the establish-
ment of an enviable' reputation within the
field of practice in which he has made use
of his talents and skill. He is a member of
the American Medical Association and St.
Louis Medical Society. Dr. Lightner mar-
ried, in 1893, Miss Attie Elliot, daughter of
Henry Elliot, a well known manufacturer of
St. Louis.

Liles, Robert P., merchant, was born
October 4, 1835, near Nashville, Tennessee,
son of Jesse and Martha E. (Gilbert) Liles.
The elder Liles was a native of Georgia, but
passed his early life in Tennessee, and his
wife was a native of the last named State.
By occupation he was both carpenter and
farmer, and he was a worthy and useful citi-
zen. In his young manhood he served in the
War of 1812 under General Andrew Jack-
son. In 1838 he came from Tennessee to
Cape Girardeau County, Missouri, where he
died in 1866. His wife died in 1878. Robert
P. Liles was three years of age when his
parents came to Missouri, and he was the
eighth of their ten children. Until he was
twenty years of age he lived on a farm, and
in a log schoolhouse near his home he ob-
tained a practical education. From 1855
until 1861 he clerked in a country store and
was then carried away from business pursuits
by the breaking out of the Civil War. On
the 4th of June, 1861, he enlisted in a com-
pany of Missouri State Guards for a term of
six months, and later -was mustered into
Company F of the Eighth Missouri Cavalry
Regiment, which became a part of the Con-
federate States army. In this regiment he
served bravely and faithfully until the close
of the war as a private soldier, although he
had held the rank of first lieutenant in the
organization of State Guards. He was with
General Sterling Price on his famous raid
through Missouri in 1864, and was a partici-
pant in nearly all the important engagements
of the war in Missouri, Arkansas, Tennes-
see and Louisiana. His command was sur-
rendered at Shreveport, Louisiana, in 1865,
and for two years thereafter Mr. Liles lived
at Farmersville, Louisiana. In 1867 he re-
turned to Cape Girardeau County, and after
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devoting two years to farming, removed to
Bloomfield, in Stoddard County, where he
embarked in merchandising. March 21, 1877,
he removed to Poplar Bluff, Butler County,
Missouri, and continued merchandising oper-
ations irr that city successfully until failing
health compelled him to retire temporarily
from active business. Some time later he
resumed merchandising, which he continued
until 1891, when he again sought rest and
recreation and removed to St. Louis. He
was a resident of that city until 1895, when
he returned to Poplar Bluff and became
junior member of the well known and suc-
cessful mercantile firm of Lacks, Liles & Co.,
in which he is still interested, taking an active
part in the conduct of its extensive business.
In 1880 he was chosen to represent his county
in the Thirty-first General Assembly, and
later he served with distinction as a member
of the Thirty-fifth and Thirty-sixth General
Assemblies. He has filled various municipal
offices in Poplar Bluff, and in every official
position which he has held has faithfully,
honestly and efficiently served the public. His
political affiliations are with the Democratic
party, and he and his family are members of
the Methodist Episcopal Church, South. His
only connection with fraternal organizations
is with the order of Knights of Honor. He
married, in 1865, Miss Louisa McLauchlin, of
Louisiana, who comes of Scotch antecedents.
Their only child, a son, died in infancy.

Lillard County.—See “Lafayette
County.”

Lilly, Major James, was born March
26, 1872, on a farm near Levick’s Mill, in
Randolph County, Missouri, son of 'James
Madison and Margaret (Orr) Lilly. His fath-
er, who was born in Oldham County, Ken-
tucky, of Scotch-Irish ancestors, died August
8, 1900, at the age of eighty-four years. His
mother, who is still living at seventy years
of age, was born in Washington County, Vir-
ginia, and is of Irish extraction. Mr. Lnl}y
was educated at the State Normal School in
Kirksville, where he fitted himself for school
teaching as a profession. As a student he
had a great aptitude for the mastery of the
languages and a fondness for the study of

. history and political science, and he has given
more attention to these subjects than to oth-
ers. He began teaching in a country school

in Randolph County in the spring of 18g1.
During the winter of 1892-3 he taught what
is known as the “Peak School,” near Santa
Fe, in Monroe County, Missouri. He then
went to Moberly, Missouri, and during the
school year 1893-4, was principal of .the Cen-
tral School, in that city. During the school
year 1894-5 he was assistant principal of the
Moberly High School, having charge of the
department of civics, history and politicai
science. In the spring of 1895 he was elected
superintendent of the public schools of
Unionville, Missouri, and entered upon the
discharge of his duties in that connection in
September following. He continued at the
head of the Unionville schools until the close
of the term in 1897, when he voluntarily aban-
doned teaching as a profession. Prior to
this and in the year 1894, he had been ap-
pointed school commissioner of Randolph
County by Governor William J. Stone to fill
a vacancy in that office which had been caused
by the death of Professor M. H. Tinsley. He
was elected to the superintendency of the
schools of that county April 2, 1895, but re-
signed the office a few months afterward to
take charge of the public schools of Union-
ville. He was elected clerk of the Circuit
Court of Randolph County in November,
1898, and is now serving his first term as the
incumbent of that office. He has always
been a Democrat in politics and takes an act-
ive part in political campaigns as a public
speaker and champion of the principles of his
party. Since early boyhood he has been a
member of the Cumberland Presbyterian
Church. He affiliates with the Masonic or-
der and the order of Modern Woodmen of
America.

Limitations, Statute of.—The Mis-
souri statute of limitations which, like the
similar statutes in other States, is intended
to allow a reasonable time for the enforce-
ment of rights, and at the same time place
a limit on litigation, prescribes a limit of ten
years for all actions for the recovery of lands;
ten years for personal actions on a writing
for the payment of money or property, or on
a covenant, or warranty in a deed; five years
for actions on a contract, obligation or lia-
bility express or implied created by a statute,
other than a penalty or forfeiture, for tres-
pass; on actions for taking or detaining
goods or chattels, for injury to person, or
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rights, or for relief on-ground of fraud ; three
years for action against a sheriff, coroner or
other officer upon a liability incurred in his
official conduct, or on a statute for penalty
or forfeiture; and two years for actions for
libel, assault, criminal conversation, or false
imprisonment.

Lincoln.—A village in Benton County, on
the Missouri Pacific Railway, twelve miles
north of Warsaw. It has a public school,
Christian, Methodist and Luthéran Churches,
a bank, an independent newspaper, the “Plain
Dealer;” a lodge of Odd Fellows and a Grand
Army post, a rollermill and stores. In 1900
the population was 600. The first settler was
Wiley Vincent, who kept a noted tavern on
the old stage route. The village was incor-

porated in 1869.

Lincoln County.—A county in the east-
ern part of the State, bounded on the north
by Pike County,east by the Mississippi River,
scuth by St. Charles and Warren Counties,
and west by Warren, Montgomery and Pike
Counties; area, 396,148 acres. The surface
of the county is generally gently undulating.
About one-fourth is prairie and the re-
mainder originally timber land. There are
considerable tracts of bottom lands of great
fertility along the Mississippi and different
streams of the county. The soil of the bot-
toms and the greater part of the prairie and
timber lands is a dark loam, plentifully
mixed with sand, with a clayey or gravelly
subsoil, and nearly all is highly productive.
There are small tracts of low swamp lands,
difficult of drainage and worthless, except in
dry seasons, when they afford good pastur-
age. The county is well watered, and has
sufficient incline for the drainage of surplus
water. The chief streams of the county are
North Cuivre, which enters near the north-
west corner, and the West Cuivre, which
enters below the center of the western bound-
ary line, and, uniting near the middle, flow
southeast toward the Mississippi. Other
streams are Bob’s, Bryant’s, Hurricane,
Sugar, Sulphur, Lead, Turkey, Big Creek,
and small tributaries. The Cuivre River
forms part of the boundary line between Lin-
coln and St. Charles Counties, and for a few
months in the year is navigable as far as
Big Creek. The Mississippi River flows
along the eastern border of the county for

about twenty-five miles. The minerals of the
county are coal, which abounds in large
bodies, though the mines are little developed ;
white and blue limestone, white sand in the
northern and central parts. The sand found
in the central part is of superior quality for
the manufacture of glass. The yield per acre
of the principal cereals and grass is: Corn,
28 bushels; wheat, 12 bushels; oats, 25 bush-
els; clover seed, 2 bushels; timothy seed, 4
bushels; timothy hay, 114 tons; clover seed,
2 tons. All the different kinds of vegeta-
bles grow abundantly, as do apples, peaches
and the smaller fruits. According to the re-
port of the Bureau of Labor Statistics, the
surplus products shipped from the county
in 1898 were: Cattle, 6,368 head; hogs, 60,-
182 head; - sheep, 9,020 head; horses and
mules, 228 head; wheat, 71,130 bushels; oats,
12,256 bushels; corn, 12,559 bushels; hay,
168,090 pounds; flour, 429,257 pounds; ship-
stuff, 103,270 pounds; lumber, 130,300 feet;
walnut logs, 12,000 feet; piling and posts,
24,000 feet; crossties, 40,406; cordwood,
1,764 cords; cooperage, 19 cars; wool, 17,-
136 pounds; poultry, 1,305,513 pounds; eggs,
559,335 dozen; butter, 37,383 pounds;
dressed meats, 4,614 pounds; game and fish,
93,686 pounds; tallow, 10,080 pounds; hides
and pelts, 40,844 pounds; fresh fruits, 48,969
pounds; dried fruits, 1,770 pounds; vegeta-
bles, 4,575 pounds; honey, 1,454 pounds;
canned goods, 357,000 pounds ; nursery stock,
14,840 pounds; furs, 2,318 pounds; feathers,
6,768 pounds. Other articles exported were
ice, tobacco, apples, molasses, lime and nuts.
The territory now Lincoln county is one of
the parts of Missouri where those in favor
of the Spanish regime were given grants of
land, though there is no record that any per-
manent settlement was made before 1799.
The real estate transfers recorded in the
courts of Lincoln County show that in 1797
one Louis Brazeau executed at St. Louis a
deed of trust to Antoine Soulard of a part
of his claim in the neighborhood of Cap au
Gris, on the Mississippi. In 1799 Major
Christopher Clark made a trip through the
territory now Lincoln County, and visited the
spot where the town of Troy is now located.
The following year he settled on land three
miles southeast of the present site of Troy,
where he built a cabin, and later a stockade.
The same year Jeremiah Groshong settled
six miles east of Clark’s stockade, and a few
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months later a son, whom he called Jacob,
was born, this being the first white child born
within the present limits of Lincoln County.
Joseph Cattle and Zadock Woods, both na-
tives of Vermont, in 1802 filed Spanish grants
on land near the present site of Troy, where
they built cabins and a stockade. For many
years these two stockades were the central
points of settlements in the county. In
1813-14 Lieutenant Zachary Taylor, later
President of the United States, had his head-
quarteis at Woods’ Fort. Upon the least
alarm of trouble with the Indians the settlers
would gather at the forts and prepare to de-
fend themselves from attack. The pioneers
of Lincoln County had their small troubles,
but they were within easy communication
with St. Charles and St. Louis and did not
necessarily suffer the privations which set-
tlers in the more inland part of the State
were compelled to undergo. During the first
decade of the nineteenth century several
homes were established in Lincoln County
territory, notwithstanding the fact that the
Indians infesting the district were hostile and
troublesome. When the War of 1812 broke
out numerous forts were built—in fact there
" was a well guarded stockade in every settle-
ment for protection from the warlike Indians,
with whom there were many skirmishes.
One of the most horrible incidents of this
warfare within what is now Lincoln County
was the massacre of two detachments of reg-
ular troops near Cap au Gris, in 1814. No
settlement was made west of the Cuivre in
the western part of the county until 1817,
when George W. Jameson and Edward Cat-
tle, who for some time had lived in the
vicinity of Troy, located upon land two miles
east of the present site of Millwood. The
majority of the pioneers of Lincoln County
“were from Virginia, Kentucky, North Caro-
lina, Tennessee, Maryland, Indiana, Ohio and
Vermont. The first foreigner to become nat-
uralized in the county was Eleazer Block, a
native of Bohemia, whose oath of allegiance
to the United States was made before the
court at Alexandria, February 6, 1827.
Zadock Woods, one of the pioneers, and
after whom Woods’ Fort was named, in 1824
went to Texas and lost his life in the war
between Mexico and the Lone Star Republic.
In that war two of his sons were killed. Lin-
coln County was originally in the District of
St. Charles, and when the original districts

werechanged to counties was retained within
its limits, from which it was divided and
created a separate county by territorial act,
passed December 14, 1818, Christopher
Clark was a member of the Legislature from
St. Charles County, and through his efforts
Lincoln County was organized. It is re-
corded that in his speech in favor of the new
county he said: “I'm in favor of the new
county. I was born in Lincoln County,
North Carolina; I lived a year or so in Lin-
coln County, Kentucky, and I want to live
and die in Lincoln County, Missouri.” Thus
it can be seen that the county was named for
counties in two Southern States. The first
term of the Circuit Court for Lincoln County
was held April 5, 1819, at the house of
Zadock Woods at Woods’ Fort, on the site
of the present town of Troy, Judge David
Todd, of the Northwestern Circuit, presiding;
John Ruland, clerk, and David Bailey, sheriff.
At this term of court the sheriff reported
that he had summoned a grand jury com-
posed of the following: Joseph Cattle, John
Null, Prospect H. Robbins, Samuel H.
Lewis, Thacker Vivian, Job Williams,
Alembe Williams, Jr., Jeremiah Groshong,
John Bell, Jacob Null, Sr.,, John Hunter,
Elijah Collard, William Farrell, Jacob
Null, Jr., Isaac Cameron, Hiram Millsapps,
Alembe Williams, Sr., and Zachariah Calla-
way. At the third term of court, held De-
cember 6, 1819, a county seat commission
was appointed, consisting of David Draper,
Hugh Cummins, James White, Abraham
Kennedy and David Bailey. They selected a
tract of land on Cuivre River, twelve miles
east-southeast of the site of Trov, which was
owned by Joseph and Ira Cattle and Nathan-
iel Symonds, and which had been laid out as
a town the previous May. This place was
called Monroe, and was the county seat until
1823, when the reccrds were removed to
Alexandria, five miles north of Troy, and in
1829 Troy became the permanent seat of jus-
tice. The first county court, Ira Cattle and

"Jonathan Riggs, justices, met in January,

1821, at Monroe. As early as 1836, accord-
ing to “Wetmore’s Gazetteer,” published in
1837, Alexandria and Monroe, the former
county seats, had ceased to exist as towns.
In 1843-4 the so-called “Slicker War” caused
much excitement and disturbance in Lincoln
County. In 1844 a small stern-wheel steam-
boat, called the “Bee,” ascended the Cuivre
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River as far as the mouth of Big Creek, the
first steamboat to ascend that far. Owing to
a slight change in the course of the Missis-
sippi since that time, during high water for a
few months in the year, steamers can run up
the Cuivre to the mouth of Big Creek, but
since the completion of the St. Louis & Han-
nibal Railroad but few trips are made.
During the Civil War, Lincoln, like other
counties of the State, was in a disturbed con-
. dition. It supplied soldiers to both sides in
the conflict, and when peace was declared
was quick to recover from the depression
caused by the strife. Lincoln County is
divided into eleven townships, named respec-
tively, Bedford, Burr Oak, Clark, Hurricane,
Millwood, Ménroe, Nineveh, Prairie, Snow
Hill, Union and Waverly. The assessed
value of real estate and town lots in the
county in 1898 was $3,416,700; estimated full
value, $7,000,000; assessed value of personal
property, including stocks, bonds, etc,
$1,322,824 ; estimated full value, $1,980,000;
assessed value of railroads and telegraphs,

$427,938. There are fifty-four miles of rail- -

road in the county, the St. Louis, Keokuk &
Northwestern branch of the Burlington sys-
tem passing along the eastern part near the
Mississippi, and the St. Louis & Hannibal
traversing the center from north to south.
The number of public schools in the county
in 1899 were ninety-five, teachers employed,
112; pupils, enumerated, 6,006; permanent
school fund, $18,826.63. The population of
the county in 1900, was 18,352.

Lincoln Institute.—This institution is
located at Jefferson City. It owes its incep-
tion to the soldiers of the Sixty-second and
Sixty-fifth Regiments of United States Col-
ored troops, who upon their discharge in
1865 contributed $6,379 from their pay for
the purpose of establishing a school for col-
ored youth of both sexes. The institute was
opened in 1868,and the main building in 1871.
The latter was destroyed by fire in 1894 and
rebuilt in 1896. In 1879 it was transferred
to the State, which adopted it as a normal
school, and appropriated $15,000 to erect dor-
mitories, provide scientific apparatus, and add
to the library. The Thirty-fourth General
Assembly added collegiate and preparatory
departments, and the Thirty-sixth General
Assembly established- an industrial depart-
ment. The mechanical products, engines,

dynamos and other machinery, made by the
students, are of high merit. The girls are
taught all kinds of needlework and dressmak-
ing. The diploma of the institute admits the
bearer to teach in public schools without
further examination. In 1898, 236 pupils
were in attendance.

Lindell, Peter, pioneer merchant, was
born March 26, 1776, in Worcester County,
Maryland, and died October 26, 1861, in St.
Louis. Until he attained his majority he
worked on a farm and attended the schools of
his native county, in Maryland. When he
was twenty-one he had his first experience in
merchandising as the proprietor of a general
store in the neighborhood of his early home.
In 1811 he settled in St. Louis and estab-
lished a general store which was larger than
any which had previously existed in the
town. The business grew rapidly, and in
process of time Mr. Lindell and his brothers
became owners of boats and established the
first packet line between St. Louis and Pitts-
burg, Pennsylvania. He continued his mer-
chandising operations until 1824, when he
began investing in real estate in St. Louis.
He became the owner of a vast quantity of
realty, and at his death left a very large
estate. He was one of the incorporators of
the old Missouri Insurance Company and
was a director of the Branch Bank of the
United States. He was also one of the pro-
moters of the first Lindell Hotel enterprise,
and his name and that of his brother, Jesse
Lindell, are perpetuated in this connection,
and also in the name of Lindell Boulevard,
Lindell Street Railway Company, and various
other enterprises. His brother, JESSE
LINDELL, was born December 16, 1790, on
the eastern shore of Maryland, and died in
St. Louis, February 2, 1858. Through the
assistance of his brother, Peter Lindell, he
enjoyed excellent educational advantages and
after completing his studies he came to St.
Louis and became a member of the mer-
chandising firm which Peter Lindell had
established. In 1825 he abandoned merchan-
dising and engaged in real estate operations.
Like Peter Lindell, he was connected with
nearly all the important enterprises of his
day. He was a director in the old Missouri
Bank, the Missouri Pacific Railroad and
other corporations. In 1825 he married Mrs.
Jemima Smith, who survived him many years.
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Linden.—A hamlet with about seventy-
five inhabitants, in Atchison County. It was
the first county seat of the county, and was
laid out in 1846, but after the removal of the
county seat to Rockport, in 1856, its trade
left it and it sunk into a place of little im-
portance.

Lindenwood College.—A high-class
academical school for young ladies, at St.
Charles. It was founded by Major George
S. Sibley, of the United States Army, and
his wife. He had taken a 120 acre
tract of land adjoining St. Charles in
pavment of a debt, and when he and his
wife visited it, the location and view
was so pleasant that they determined to
found upon it a high school for girls, and
named the site Lindenwood, on account of its
fine growth of native linden trees. In 1830
they built a log cabin, in which classes were
formed, and after a time fifty pupils attended.
In 1853 Major Sibley and wife offered the
estate, then worth $30,000, and their friends,

Judge and Mrs. S. S. Watson, 160 acres of

land and $1,000 in money, conditioned upon

the Presbytery of St. Louis contributing $20,- -

000 toward the building fund. The conditions
were complied with, a charter obtained, and
in July, 1857, Lindenwood College was com-
pleted, a building of three stories, seventy-
three by forty-eight feet. The Rev. A. V. C,
Schenck was the first president, serving from

the opening until 1862, when he was suc-

ceeded by the Rev. Thomas P. Barbour. The
college suffered seriously during war times,
but did not suspend. In 1870 the Synod of
Missouri assumed control, under a decision
of the Supreme Court. Rev. J. H. Nixon,
D. D,, became president, and during his ad-
ministration the building was enlarged and
refitted. In 1881 a large wing was added,
at an expense of $14,000. The college has
sent out a large number of highly educated
graduates, many of whom engaged in teach-
ing and in missionary work.

" Lindley, James J., lawyer, Congress-
man and jurist, was born January 1, 1822,
at Mansfield, Ohio. His ancestors on his
father’s side came to America from England
at an early period in the history of this coun-
try, and settled in New Jersey. From thence
some of the family moved to Pennsylvania,

and one part went from Pennsylvania to
Ohio; from this branch of the family the sub-
ject of this sketch came. His mother was of
Scotch parentage.

When he was about fourteen years of age
his parents left Mansfield, Ohio, and went to
Cynthiana, Kentucky, to reside, where he
accompanied them. When still quite young
he set out to seek work and to begin his
struggle with fortune and with the world
on his own account. After working for some
time at anything which offered the means of
support, he succeeded in securing a position
as clerk of a steamboat, but this employment
did not suit him, as he had no opportunity
while thus engaged to study. He left the
steamboat and by various methods earned
enough money to enable him to attend col-
lege. Woodward College, in particular, is
remembered as one of the places where he
continued his education. After attending
college as long as he was able to procure
the means, he began the study of law in Cin-
cinnati. In earlier life, while working in
various employments, he sailed over the
Great Northern Lakes, working on a ship,
and saw Chicago when it was a mere village.
Some time between 1843 and 1845 he arrived
in St. Louis, but remained there a few weeks
only. He then ascended the Mississippi
River, landed at Marion City, and made his
way to Palmyra, Marion County, intending
to continue his law studies, but having no
means he was compelled for a time to forego
this resolution, and taught school for sup-
port. He pursued the study of law while
teaching school, and from time to time as
best he could, never relaxing his determina-
tion to make the law his profession. Having
at last passed his examination for admission
to the bar before Judge Ezra Hunt, on March
4, 1846, he obtained his licénse and again
changed his location, this time to Monticello,
Lewis County, Missouri.

After having practiced law at Monticello
for a short time, his worth and ability being
recognized, he was elected prosecuting at-
torney for that judicial circuit, then com-
posed of nearly twenty counties. He was
elected a member of the Thirty-third Con-
gress at large, and was elected a member of
the Thirty-fourth Congress from the Third
Congressional District. After the expiration
of his last term in Congress he returned to
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Missouri, but shortly thereafter went to
Davenport, Iowa, to continue the practice
of his profession. ,

In passing it may be mentioned that his
license to practice in the Supreme Court of
Towa dated April 12, 1858; to practice in all
the courts of Illinois, April 13, 1863; and his
certificate shows he was not enrolled as an
attorney in the United States Supreme Court
until February 12, 1862.

While he was a resident of Iowa the Civil
War began and found him a Union man.
When the Whig party, to which he belonged
and which elected him to Congress, passed
away, he enlisted in Democratic ranks, and
to the end of his life remained faithful to
that party ; and whatever other political sen-
timents he may have entertained, this is cer-
tain, he was a firm advocate for the preserva-
tion of the Union, but his wife’s family were,
previous to the war, slave-holders, and her
brothers were in the Confederate service, one
commanding a Tennessee regiment. This led
some to declare that Lindley was a sympa-
thizer with the rebellion, and once when ad-
dressing an Towa regiment leaving home for
the war, he was offered violence because he
told them not to go into the war lightly, but
with determination to remain to the end, and
he told the audience assembled to see the
soldiers depart, that he thought he knew the
spirit of the Southern people, and that the
popular idea that the war would be over in
ninety days was wrong, and that the South-
ern people would not humbly submit to in-
vasion and armed force, but the resistance
would be great and the North should recog-
nize this and prepare for it. His loyalty was
sorely tested. Threatening letters are pre-
served to this day, written to him, which
show the suspicion and rabid hatred that
existed in 1861 against any person, even re-
motely connected with anything Southern,
either in fact or fancy. But through all he
remained true to Union principles. Surely
nothing could prevent war if in the South
such hatred also prevailed.

On October 17, 1861, James J. Lindley was
commanded to visit all the camps in the South
where Iowa regiments were to be found,
to look after their arms and equipments,
to report the location of each, the health and
general welfare, the number of men in each,
additions since mustered in, casualties, pro-
motions and the like. He was -ordered, by

Brigadier General J. B. Curtis, with head-
quarters at St. Louis, Missouri, on Novem-
ber 1, 1861, to report forthwith to General
Grant at Cairo. In this order is a quotation
from a dispatch from General Grant praising
the Towa troops, and a long eulogistic com-
ment by General Curtis. Lindley reported to
General Grant as ordered, and was with the
army during the battle of Belmont, but not
under fire, except on a steamboat which was
mistaken in the fog for a Rebel blockade
runner by the Union batteries. He described
this experience as far from being pleasant.
He was for several weeks rather closely asso-
ciated with General Grant, and he described
him at that time as being, for the most part,
a taciturn, silent man, little given to talking,
but at times showing that if he chose he
could be a very pleasant and attractive con-
versationalist. .

Mr. Lindley during his life met and knew
many of the great and prominent men in
our country’s history. The writer well re-
members hearing him recite a conversation
he held with Henry Clay—Lindley at the
time being a mere boy. He was acquainted
with Mr. Lincoln and had a high regard for
his worth and greatness. Upon the interest
of others he called upon Mr. Lincoln several
times while he was President, and said that
he was never refused any reasonable request.
He stated that Mr. Lincoln seemed particu-
larly anxious to ‘know what the people
thought of measures and the affairs of the
country generally.

During the latter part of the war, Lindley
went to Chicago and was one of the attorneys
for the Chicago & Alton Railroad. About
1867 he returned to Missouri and made it
his permanent home. First he came to St.
Louis, resumed the practice of law, and was
for some years a member of the firm of Dry-
den, Lindley & Dryden, the firm being com-
posed of John D. S. Dryden, Lindley and
John W. Dryden. He was elected a judge
of the circuit court in St. Louis, and served
in that capacity for twelve years. After
leaving the bench he practiced law for a few
years in St. Louis and then removed to Kan-
sas City. At a late period in his life he took
up the study of the French language, and
when he visited Europe in 1875 he was com-
plimented on the purity of his French, having
by conversation with none but highly edu-
cated Frenchmen acquired the idiom without
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the faults and vulgarities of the language as
commonly spoken.

He died on April 18, 1891, at the home of
his son, E. P. Lindley, in Nevada, Missouri.
Thus ended the career of a man whose purity
of heart, ability, honesty, nobility of charac-
ter, kind and sympathetic disposition, was
appreciated by all who became intimate with
him. Judge John W. Henry knew him from
early youth, and thus writes of him: “He
was truly a remarkable man, and of the thou-
sands who knew him well there was not one
who did not greatly esteem him for his ur-
banity, kindness, sincerity, and the many
qualities which made him a lovable man.
Volumes might have been written of him, for
his life was full of incidents of a most
dramatic character, and amply demonstrates
what an honest, earnest youth, however
hampered by poverty, may achieve by indus-
try and courage.”

Politically he possessed an abounding faith
in the correctness of the final judgment of
. the people to reach the proper conclusions,
if not misguided by designed and subtile
sophistry, and pursued and influenced by
treacherous demagogues.

Lindquist, Albert William, was born
March 24, 1873, at Ellis, Kansas. His
parents were Lewis and Cathrine (Lothman)
Lindquist, both natives of Sweden, now liv-
ing at Lindsborg, Kansas: Their son, Albert
William, began his education in the public
schools, and in 1895 completed the classical
course at Bethany College, Lindsborg, Kan-
sas, and received the degree of bachelor of
arts. In 1896 he entered Augustana Theo-
logical Seminary, at Rock Island, Illinois,
and was graduated in 1899 with the degree
of bachelor of divinity. In 1900 Bethany
College conferred upon him the degree of
master of arts. His higher education was
acquired with means earned by his own ef-
fort in farm labor and as a teacher in north-
eastern Kansas. As a theological student he
discharged ministerial duties in various cities
in Colorado, and in Marshall County, Kan-
sas. In the summer of 1898 he preached for
the First Swedish Lutheran Church in Kan-
sas City, Missouri, and he was established in
the pastorate June 11, 1899, immediately
after his ordination to the ministry. In this
position, which he yet occupies, his labors
have been fruitful, and his church is harmo-

nious and prosperous. During the summer
of 1898 he taught the. summer parochial
school, which has since been in charge of a
teacher. In addition to his ministerial work,
Mr. Lindquist is active in all ways conducive
to the well-being of his people. He was a
joint founder of the “Swedish Press,” of
Kansas City, of which he is assistant editor,
and he is editor of the “Vineyard Worker,”
printed in the same city. These journals, the
former a secular weekly newspaper, and the
latter a religious monthly, are the only Swed-
ish periodical publications in Missouri. Mr.
Lindquist is a member of the National Lu-
ther League, and vice president of the Kan-
sas division of that organization; he is also
president of the Swedish National Society of
Kansas Cxty, and president of the Kansas
City Harmonia, a Swedish singing society.
Mr. Lindquist was married, August 2, 1899,
to Miss Daisy Logan, of Denver, Colorado.
She was graduated from the Denver (Colo-
rado) high school, in a cld'ss of one hundred,
with high honors, in 1896. She is an accom-
plished musician and a skillful performer
upon the pipe organ and piano.

Linn, Lewis F., United States Senator,
was born near Louisville, Kentucky, Novem-
ber 5, 1795, and died October 3, 1843, in Ste.
Genevieve County, Missouri. He was a
grandson of Colonel William Linn, and a
half-brother of General Henry Dodge. He
adopted medicine as a profession, and in 1815
located at Ste. Genevieve. In 1830 he was
elected to the State Senate, and was ap-
pointed by Governor Dunklin to succeed
United States Senator Alexander Buckner,
in 1833, and until his death he represented
Missouri in the United States Senate. His
remains lie in the cemetery at Ste. Genevieve,
and his grave is marked by a monument
erected by the State, bearing the inscription :
“Here lie the remains of Lewis F. Linn, the
Model Senator of Missouri.” He enjoyed a
wide reputation as a physician, and in 1833,
when the cholera appeared in Ste. Genevieve,
at the request of his friends returned there
and remained until the dreaded epidemic dis-
appeared.

Linn.—The judicial seat of Osage County,
an incorporated village, in Linn Township, in
the central part of the county, twelve miles
from Bonnbt’s Mill, the nearest railway
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point on the Missouri Pacific Railway. It
was founded in 1843 upon land donated to the
county for a seat of justice by J. W. Robin-
son. The first building erected was by W. M.
Lamkins, who opened a store on the site now
occupied by the convent. Burch & Young
built the first—Young’s—Hotel, which was
run by Robert Moore. In 1866 C. W. Crut-
zinger started the first newspaper (which was
the first newspaper in Osage County), the
“Osage County Advocate,” which is now
published as the “Unterrified Democrat” by
C. J. Vaughan. This and the “Republican,”
published by John Feuers, are the 6nly pa-
pers of the town. The town has two
churches, Catholic and Union, the Ilatter
owned by the Christian and Methodist Epis-
copal South denominations. Besides a good
public school, and the Linn high school, the
Sisters of the Sacred Heart conduct a select
academy. The Masonic and other fraterni-
ties have lodges in the town, the former

chartered in 1856. The business of the town.

is represented by a bank, two hotels, one
sawmill, five grocery and eight other stores
in different lines of trade, and a number of
shops. Linn was incorporated as a village in
January, 1900. Population at that time (es-
timated), 500.

Linn County.—A county in the north-
ern part of the State, bounded on the north
by Sullivan, east by Macon, south by Chari-
ton, and west by Livingston and Grundy
Counties; area, 394,000 acres. The surface
of the county alternates in tracts of timber
land and prairie, the area being about equally
divided between each. Along the courses of
the streams are extensive strips of bottom
land of great fertility. Much of this land in
the early history of the section was swampy
in character, but by a system of drainage has
been converted into the most productive of
farm lands. The county is well watered and
drained by numerous streams, the principal
ones being Yellow, East Yellow, Long
Branch, Turkey, Muddy, Locust and Parsons
Creeks, all of which have a general flow to-
ward the south and sufficient fall to afford
excellent water power at different points.
Narrow strips of timber land skirt nearly all
the water courses, the most extensive tracts
being along Locust Creek. There are nu-
merous ponds and springs throughout the
county. The minerals are coal, which under-

lies a great portion of the county; mineral
paint, of which there are considerable de-
posits in the central part of the county near
Linneus; fire clay, brick clay and sandstone
of excellent quality for building purposes. In
the southwestern part is a mound covering
an area of about eight acres and about forty
feet in height, composed of solid sandstone.
Here it has been extensively quarried for a
number of years. Of the total area of the
county, 9o per cent is under cultivation and
in pasture, the remainder being in timber,
consisting chiefly of the different varieties of
oaks, hickory, white and black walnut, elm,
cottonwood, lind, basswood. The most
profitable occupation of the residents is agri-
culture and stock-raising. The average pro-
duction per acre of the different cereals are
corn, 35 bushels; wheat, 15 bushels; oats, 30
bushels; rye, 20 bushels. Potatoes yield 100
bushels to the acre, and tobacco 1,000
pounds. The soil of the county is a black,
sandy loam in the bottoms and the prairies
of considerable depth, and on the ridges in
places light. According to the report of the
Bureau of Labor Statistics, in 1898, the
surplus products shipped from the county
were: Cattle, 14,038 head; hogs, 43,115
head; sheep, 2,246 head; horses and mules,
1,767 head; flour, 1,024,678 pounds; timothy
seed, 27,000 pounds; lumber, 61,800 feet;
walnut logs, 60,000 feet; cross-ties, 7,364
feet; cord wood, 1,092 cords; cooperage, 14
cars; coal, 7,218 tons; ice, 14 cars; wool, g7,-
285 pounds; tobacco, 100,000 pounds; pota-
toes, 400 bushels; poultry, 707,642 pounds;
eggs, 277,350 dozen; butter, 68,880 pounds;
dressed meats, 1,138 pounds; game and fish,
8,245 pounds; tallow, 5,237 pounds; hides
and pelts, 121,169 pounds; fresh fruit, 685
pounds; vegetables, 3,290 pounds; honey,
613 pounds; molasses, 300 gallons; nursery
stock, 25,329 pounds; furs, 1,648 pounds;
feathers, 5,585 pounds. The section now
Linn County, owing to its prairies, wood-
lands and' many streams, was noted as a
hunting ground by the Indians, and when
venturesome white men first entered it the
Sioux Indians were in possession, and roving
bands remained in the county for a few years
after the pioneers had laid out farms and
built cabins. In 1832 a number of families
from Howard, Callaway and Chariton Coun-
ties settled in the central part, on Locust
Creek, near the present site of Linneus.
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They took up land along the streams like
many other pioneers, preferring the timber
to the prairie lands. The majority of the set-
tlers were originally from Kentucky and
Tennessee, and had slaves who did the work
of clearing the land and tilling the soil.
Hunting and trapping was the principal work
as well as pastime of the pioneers, and “bee
hunting” supplied them with honey and bees-
wax, which, along with peltries, constituted
their chief articles of export. Glasgow and
Brunswick were the two principal trading
points for a number of years. Near the site
of Linneus, on Locust Creek, a mill was built
about 1837, and to this the settlers carried

their “bread timber” to have made into meal."

For some years the population of the section
was small; in fact, there were not more than
seventy-five families living within the limits
of the county when it was organized, Jan-
uary 7, 1837. The county was organized
out of Howard County, and was named in
honor of Dr. Lewis F. Linn, of Ste. Gene-
vieve, who was United States Senator from
1833 until his death, which occurred in 1843.
When the county was organized the territory
to the north, as far as the Iowa State line,
was attached to it for civil and military pur-
poses. At the first electipn held in the
county only 100 votes were cast. The com-
missioners appointed to locate a permanent
seat of justice selected a tract of land near
the center of the county, where a small set-
tlement had been formed in 1834. This was
laid out as a town, which was called Linneus,
the latinized name of Linn. There was no
rapid increase in population until 1857, when
the Hannibal & St. Joseph Railroad was
built, when there was an influx of immigrants
from the Southern and Central Eastern
States. Theprosperity of the county was re-
tarded temporarily by the outbreak of the
Civil War. The majority of the residents of
the county were conservative Unionists. Sol-
diers were supplied to both the Northern and
Southern Armies, fully three times as many
entering the Federal as the Southern Army.
Bushwhackers caused much trouble in differ-
ent parts of the county. A number of good
citizens, supposed to be Union sympathizers,
lost their lives. Among them were Judge
" Jacob Smith and William Pendleton, Linneus.
Much stock was carried off and property de-
stroyed by the roving bands of guerrillas.
When peace was restored Linn County again

enjoyed prosperity and settled up rapidly.
Linn County is divided into fourteen town-
ships, namely, Baker, Benton, Brookfield,
Bucklin, Clay, Enterprise, Grantsville, Jack-
son, Jefferson, Locust Creek, Marceline,
North Salem, Parsons Creek and Yellow
Creek. The assessed value of real estate and
town lots in the county in 1899 was $4,115,-
508; estimated full value, $13,516,704; as-
sessed value of personal property, $1,636,940;
estimated full value, $6,547,760; assessed
value of merchants and manufacturers, $180,-
360; estimated full value, $761,440; assessed
value of railroads, $837,531. There are 65.93
miles of railroad in the county, the Chicago,
Burlington & Kansas City passing from
north to southwest of the center; the Han-
nibal & St. Joseph, from east to west, south
of the center; the Atchison, Topeka & Santa
Fe, passing diagonally across the southeast-

‘ern corner, and the Wabash, passing through

near the southwestern corner. The number
of schools in the county, in 1899, was 118;
teachers employed, 185; pupils enrolled,
7,978; amount of permanent school fund,
township and county, $67,000. The popula-
tion of the county in 1900 was 25,503.

Linn Creek.—The judicial seat of Cam-
den County, an incorporated village, on Linn
Creek, near the Osage River, thirty miles
from Lebanon, in Laclede County, on the St.
Louis & San Francisco Railroad. About half
the year the Osage River is navigable, for
small craft, as far as Linn Creek. The town
was founded about 1841, when a store was
opened by Benjamin R. Abbott and a few
houses erected. In 1855 it was made the
county seat of Camden. It has a good court-
house, three churches, a graded school, a
bank, flouring mill, hotel, two newspapers,
the “Democrat” and the “Reveille,” and
about twenty other business houses, includ-
ing stores in different branches of trade and
miscellaneous shops. Population, 1899 (es-
timated), 225.

Linneus.—The judicial seat of Linn
County, a city of the fourth class, on the Chi-
cago, Burlington & Kansas City branch of

.the Burlington system, 105 miles from St.

Joseph, and 214 miles from St. Louis, and
seven miles north of Laclede, the junction of
the Chicago, Burlington & Kansas City, and
the Hannibal & St. Joszph Railroads. The
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site of the town was first settled in 1834, and
in 1837 it was made the county seat and be-
came known by its present name. It was in-
corporated in 1856 as a town, and in 1863 as
a city. It is a well laid out town, and its
streets are kept in excellent condition. It
has five churches, Methodist Episcopal,
Methodist Episcopal South, Christian, Bap-
tist and Baptist (colored). There is a
graded school for white children and
a school for colored. The business of
the town is represented by two banks,
an operahouse, two hotels, two newspapers,
the “Bulletin” and the “Linn County News,”
and about thirty-six miscellaneous business
concerns, consisting of stores, lumber and
coal yards, shops, etc. Population, 1899 (es-
timated), 1,200.

Liomberger, Isaac H., lawyer, was
born August 30, 1854, in Boonville, Missouri,
son of John R. and Margaret (Clarkson)
Lionberger. He was reared in St. Louis
and educated at Washington University and
Princeton University, of Princeton, New Jer-
sey. He graduated from the St. Louis Law
School and began practice in 1879. For
some years, beginning with 1891, he has been
a lecturer in the St. Louis Law School. In
1896 and 1897 he served as assistant Attor-
ney General of the United States by appoint-
ment of President Cleveland. In 1899 the
bar of St. Louis elected him president of the
Bar Association of that city. He is a mem-
ber of the board of directors of Washington
University, and is identified in an official ca-
pacity with various corporations. June 6,
1886, he married Miss Mary Louise Shepley,
daughter of John R. Shepley, of St. Louis.

Lionberger, John R., merchani and
banker, was born in Luray, Page County,
Virginia, August 20, 1829, and died in St.
Louis, May 20, 1894. His father, Isaac Lion-
berger, a Virginian, came to Missouri in
1836, and became prominent in business and
public affairs in Cooper County. John R.
Lionberger was educated in Missouri, at
Kemper Academy, Boonville, and the State
University. In 1855 he came to St. Louis
and established the wholesale boot and shoe
house of Lionberger & Shields. Two years
after, he purchased his partner’s interest and
for a time conducted it as sole proprietor, but
- later junior partners were admitted, and as
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the firm of J. R. Lionberger & Co. it contin-
ued in existence until 1868, when Mr. Lion-
berger severed his connection with it. He at
once became actively identified with various
enterprises, all of which contributed greatly
to advance the business interests of St. Louis.
He was a prime mover in bringing about the
construction of the Eads Bridge, serving as
a director of the bridge company from the
inception of the enterprise, and as a member
also of the executive and construction com-
mittees. Later, in company with other gen-
tlemen, he took hold of the North Missouri
Railroad, and completed it to Kansas City
and the Iowa State line, and he was for many
years president of the St. Joseph & St. Louis
Railroad Company. As early as 1857 he was
one of the organizers of the old Southern
Bank, and served as vice president. In 1864,
when this institution was reorganized as the
Third National Bank of St. Louis, Mr. Lion-
berger continued to be a large shareholder in
the bank, and in 1867 became its president.
In. 1876 he resigned for the purpose of mak-
ing an extended trip abroad. When he re-
turned he was elected to the vice presidency
of the bank. He was one of the founders of
the St. Louis Clearing House Association,
and was a member of its first committee of-
management, serving as chairman of that
committee. He was a director also of the
Chamber of Commerce Association, and was
a member of the building committee which
had the supervision of the erection of the
Merchants’ Exchange. He was a member in
high standing of the Board of Trade of St.
Louis, and twice represented the local board
as a delegate to the National Board of Trade.
An important enterprise with which he was
identified during the later years of his life was
the Union Depot Storage & Shipping Com-
pany. He helped to organize the St. Louis .
Safe Deposit Company, and was closely iden-
tified with the earlier development of the
street railway system of St. Louis. He was
a staunch Presbyterian churchman, and a
Democrat of the old school. He was mar-
ried, in 1851, to Miss Margaret Clarkson,
daughter of Dr. Henry Clarkson, of Colum-
bia, curator of the State University of Mis-
souri. The children born of this union were
Marion Lionberger, now Mrs. John D.
Davis; Isaac H. Lionberger, Margaret Lion-
berger, now Mrs. Henry S. Potter, and Mary
Lionberger.
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Liquor Dealers’ Benevolent Asso-
ciation.—The Liquor Dealers’ Benevolent
Association of the State of Missouri was or-
ganized at St. Louis in the year 1889, when,
also, it received its charter from the St. Louis
Circuit Court, the incorporators being
Charles Schattner, P. J. Carmody, Charles
Schoettler, John Bloeser, Charles Schwei-
kardt, H. J. Hinsman and James Cassidy.
The objects are “to promote temperance and
the good order of society by aiding in the
enforcement of all laws and ordinances regu-
lating the manufacture and sale of liquors;
to promote temperance in the use of liquors,
especially with respect to those who are ad-
dicted to the intemperate use thereof; to cre-
ate and maintain a fund for the relief and aid
of the families of sick, disabled or deceased
members; and to unite fraternally the mem-
bers of the association by the above ends that
their combined efforts may be devoted to the
purpose of public usefulness and benevolence
above expressed.” It is composed of per-
sons, citizens of the United States, between
the ages of twenty-one and fifty, engaged in
the wine and liquor trade, and holding a re-
tail State, city or county license. An initia-
tion fee of fifty cents, an advance assessment
of one dollar for the beneficiary fund, and
advance quarterly dues of fifty cents, must be
paid by all members before initiation and en-
rollment. On the death of a member an as-
sessment of one dollar is made upon all
members for the beneficiary fund, and out of
this a sum not exceeding $2,000 is paid to
the family of the deceased, or other bene-
ficiary. There is a charity fund also, which
is at the disposal of the Grand Council. An
annual convention is held on the third Tues-
day in May, composed of all the State offi-
cers and all the members of the Grand Coun-
. cil, and delegates from the subordinate
councils. There is a council in every county
in the State, in which there are six or more
retail liquor dealers, and there are, alto-
gether, about 2,000 members in the State.
The national organization, with which the
State association is connected, has about 50,-
000 members.

Liquor Legislation.—At a general
quarter session of the peace (District of
Louisiana, St. Louis district), holden March
19, 1805, at the house of Emilien Yosti, in the
town of St. Louis, in the District of Louis-
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iana, Charles Gratiot presiding, eight asso-
ciates being present, it was decided that the
license for keeping a tavern should be
twenty-five dollars. It was further ruled that
taxes could be paid in “shaven” deerskins, at
the rate of three pounds to the dollar, from
October to April, after that time payments
were to be in cash. For several years after
being admitted to the dignity of statehood
Missouri was content to live (so far as liquor
legislation was concerned) under the old laws
enacted by the Legislature of the Territory
of Louisiana, dating as far back as July 9,
1806, and which reappeared in the revised
and digested laws of the State of Missouri,
published according to an act of the General
Assembly, passed February 21, 1825. Owing
to the multiplicity of public houses of enter-
tainment, and in order to prevent disorders
and mischiefs arising therefrom, the Legisla-
ture of the Territory of Louisiana enacted
(July 9, 1806), “An Act to License and Regu-
late Taverns.” By this law no person or per-
sons, after the first day of November, 1806,
were to keep any public inn, tavern, dram-
shop or public house of entertainment, in any
town, place or district, unless first licensed
therefor by the court of quarter sessions
(county court), under penalty of ten dollars
for every day so transgressing—such penalty
being recoverable, with costs, before any two
justices of the peace of the district (county)
in which the offense shall have been com-
mitted, one-third going to the party prose-
cuting and two-thirds to the local treasury.
Any person so licensed knowingly suffering
any disorder, fighting or drunkenness in his
or her premises was to forfeit and pay to the
local treasury the sum of two dollars. Any
person keeping a disorderly or irregular pub-
lic house, or not providing good entertain-
ment for man and horse, might have his
license annulled at the discretion of the court.
The annual license fee was placed at not less
than ten dollars nor more than thirty dollars,
at the discretion of the court, which, in mak-
ing assessment, was to take into considera-
tion the stand and the business probably
done therein. The money was paid into the
district treasury. Unlicensed persons were
liable to fines for selling liquors. Any one
selling spirituous liquor, etc., to a bond serv-
ant or slave, or non-commissioned officer or
private soldier of the United States Army,
or harboring same, without license obtained
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from master or mistress of servant or slave,
or from a commissioned officer in case of a
non-commissioned officer or soldier, was
liable to a penalty of ten dollars. As to
minors, their serving was not forbidden, but
no tavern or inn expenses were recoverable
from them, their parents or guardians, unless
such minor had been permitted and used to
conduct business for himself and on his own
account. The first measure directly origi-
nating in the Missouri Legislature, dealing
with intoxicating drinks, was incidental to an
act to restrain intercourse with Indians with-
in this State (December 9, 1824), under
which any one selling, exchanging, furnish-
ing or giving any spirituous liquor, etc., to
an Indian was liable to a fine of not less than
thirty dollars, nor more than one hundred
and fifty dollars, or to a term of imprison-
ment, not less than ten, nor more than thirty,
days. The General Assembly passed, Feb-
ruary 15, 1825, “An Act to License Retailers
.of Wines and Spirituous Liquors.” Under
this act any one selling wine at any one time
of less quantity than thirty gallons was to be
regarded as a retailer of wine; or of spirits of
less than twenty gallons, as a retailer of
spirituous liquors. Under the act any one
selling, etc., without a license was to forfeit
one hundred dollars, to be recovered with
costs. The license was not to exceed thirty
dollars, nor less than five dollars, for every
six months, as the court having jurisdiction
should, in their discretion, deem reasonable
and just. It was the duty of the collectors,
in their several counties, to grant a license to
any one applying for same, provided he or
she had not incurred any of the penalties un-
der the act. The clerks of the courts issued.
to the collectors blank licenses, which were
charged up to them; the collectors, from
time to time, rendering an account and set-
tling with the auditor of public accounts. All
moneys received were paid to the State, in
the same manner as other taxes. It was the
duty of the collectors, besides collecting the
tax, to prosecute for recovery of any sums
forfeited by this act, which they could do in
the name of the State, by action of debt or
indictment in any court of record, or, the
amount being within his competence, before
any justice of the peace. This act did not
extend to tavern-keepers licensed under the
old act of the Territory of Louisiana, already
alluded to. Nor did it extend to surgeons,

apothecaries, and others using wines and
spirituous liquors in their preparations, nor
to the sale of domestic distilled spirits, sold
in quantities not less than one quart at any
time, at any place which was at least three
miles from any town or village.

In the Revised Statutes of 1835 the liquor
laws were extended, under the “Act to Regu-
late Inns and Taverns.” The distinction is
now, for the first time, formally made (in this
State) between those two kinds of resorts;
and thus, being regarded as houses of accom-
modation for travelers, etc., are favored in
the amount chargeable for license. A radical
departure is also made in the matter of limi-
tations as to quantities of drinks servable.
By this act no ‘one within the State might,
without a tavern license, sell wine or spirit-
uous liquor by less quantity than one quart,
or any composition of which these are a part
by less quantity than one gallon, without col-
lusion or fraud. Any one so offending for-
feited a sum not exceeding two hundred dol-
lars. Licenses were for a year, application to
be in writing; and instead of being granted
to any one (as former act seemed to require),
were considered by the court, which might,
in its discretion, grant or refuse the applica-
tion. A tavern license to an innkeeper was
not less than ten nor more than thirty dol-
lars (the old rate), but to one not an inn-
keeper not less than ten nor over one hun-
dred dollars. No one was to have a tavern
license as an innkeeper until he had first thor-
oughly satisfied the court that proper-accom-
modation for guests was to be forthcoming,
within the true meaning and intent of the act.
The minimum requirement was placed at, at
least, two good beds for travelers, and suit-
able food, etc., and stabling and good pro-
vender for horses. The provision was, at the
same time, made (for the first time) that ap-
plicant should enter into a bond with the
State for a sum in the discretion of the
county court. The protection to minors was
made more formal and complete, it being ex-
pressly stated that if any licensed keeper re-
ceived, harbored, entertained or dealt with
any “minor,” apprentice, servant or slave, he
was liable to fine, not less than ten nor more
than fifty dollars, to the parent or guardian
of such minor or others. These offenses con-
stituted keeping a disorderly house, and con-
viction rendered the keeper liable to a
penalty not exceeding five hundred dollars,
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or imprisonment not exceeding six months,
or both; and license could be revoked, in
which event it could not be recovered for two
years. Special provision was made for other
kinds of trading in liquors, under a separate
act concerning grocers, entitled, “An Act to
License Grocers.” Under this act (which
may be regarded as a modification and ex-
tension of a previous act approved as early as
December 12, 1820, and appearing under the
heading of “Grocers,” though entitled “An
Act to Regulate Retailers of Wines and
Spirituous Liquors,” and amended June 22,
1821), any one selling wines and spirituous
liquors in less quantities than fifteen gallons,
or of distilled spirituous liquors in less quan-
tity than twenty gallons at any one time, and
who dealt in sugar, tea, crockery, wooden-
ware, hardware, cotton, tobacco, flour, etc.,
was declared a grocer and must take out a
license, not exceeding one hundred dollars
or less than five dollars, according to prob-
able amount of business to be done for every
six months; also pay one-eighth of one per
cent upon amount of all groceries, excepting
such as were the growth, product or man-
ufacture of the State. Selling to slaves with-
out written authority entailed fine and for-
feiture of license, prosecution and recovery
being by the collectors of the respective
counties; and grand jurors and civil officers
were required to report all breaches of the
law under the act. Surgeons, apothecaries
and chemists were exempted as to their
preparations; also the selling of domestic
spirituous drinks in quantities not less than
one quart at places where same had been dis-
tilled, or at any place at least three miles
from any town or village. This last privilege
was conferred upon all free white persons by
law approved December 1, 1821.

Under the Revised Statutes of 1845 the act
concerning inns and taverns remained sub-
stantially unchanged, but the former act to
license grocers was changed to an act to
regulate grocers and dramshops. By this act
it was provided that no one should sell, di-
rectly or.indirectly, intoxicating liquors with-
out first taking out a license. A grocer was
not to sell in less quantities than one quart,
and was forbidden to permit consumption of
same upon premises. A dramshop-keeper
was defined as one selling in any quantity less
than a quart. Debts incurred to a dramshop-
keeper for liquor were declared not recover-

able at law. No free negro or mulatto was
permitted to obtain a license for a dramshop,
or sell any intoxicating liquor, either directly
or indirectly. The grocer’s license was
changed to not less than ten dollars nor more
than fifty dollars, for “State purposes,” for
every period of six months; that of a dram-
shop, not less than fifteen dollars nor more
than fifty dollars for six months. The proper
authorities of incorporated towns and cities
were empowered to impose a tax on licenses
to grocers and dramshop-keepers within their
limits, “not exceeding the amount levied for
State purposes.” -The term “intoxicating
liquors” was defined to mean wine and spirit-
uous liquors, and any composition of which
wine or spirituous liquor formed a part.
There was enacted by the General Assembly,
and approved February 15, 1843, “An act to
regulate the licensing of grocers in the city
and county of St. Louis.” It was brief, and,
as the formal origin of specific (local option)
liquor legislation in the good city of St.
Louis, we reproduce it in full:

“(1) That. hereafter it shall not be lawful
for the county court for the county of St.
Louis to grant to any person a license to
keep a grocery, tavern or dramshop in the
city or county of St. Louis, unless such per-
son shall have resided in the State for two
years and in the county three months prior
to his application for license. (2) Before a
license shall be granted to any person to
keep a grocery, dramshop or tavern in the
city or county of St. Louis, such person shall
get a majority of the householders in the
block, if in the city, or township, if in the
county, where such grocery, dramshop or
tavern is to be kept, to sign a petition to the
county court to license such persons for the
term of twelve months. (3) The number of
householders of any block, or township, in
the city and county of St. Louis, to be ascer-
tained by the assessor in his annual assess-
ment. This act to take effect and be in force
from and after its passage.”

The “Act to regulate inns and taverns,”
previously referred to, together with all acts
amendatory of same, were repealed under the
Revised Statutes of 1855; and the liquor
trade thereupon became substantially con-
trolled by “an act to regulate dramshops,”
grocers, under this revision, becoming li-
censed as merchants. Under the new act the
term dramshop-keeper is extended to include
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any person . licensed to sell intoxicating
liquors “in any quantity not exceeding ten
gallons” The license was fixed at not less
than fifteen nor more than one hundred dol-
lars, for State purposes, for every period of
six months ; and proper authorities of incor-
porated towns or cities might impose a tax
not exceeding that of the State. Before li-
cense issued it was required that applicant
give bond in sum of one thousand dollars to
county, with two or more approved securi-
ties. The provision of the old act, as to
slaves and minors, substantially reappeared,
as also those regulating the issuance of
licenses, prosecuting, etc. Under the new act
no county court could grant a license to a
dramshop-keeper whose license had been re-
voked, or who had ever been convicted under
any of the provisions of the act. “Intoxicat-
ing liquor” was defined as “fermented, vin-
ous or spirituous liquor, or any composition
of which fermented, vinous or spirituous
liquors is a part.” Sunday trading was pro-
hibited, it being provided that a dramshop-
keeper selling, etc., *‘on the first day of the
week, commonly called Sunday, shall, upon
conviction thereof, in addition to the penalty
now provided by law, forfeit such license, and
shall not again be allowed to obtain a license
to keep a dramshop for the term of two years
next thereafter.” Finally, the act was to be
considered a remedial act, and to be liberally
construed. Under the Revised Statutes of
1866, the sum payable for a license was en-
larged from twenty-five dollars to not exceed
two hundred dollars, for State purposes, for
every period of six months. The issuing of
licenses in incorporated towns and municipal
townships was vigorously controlled,any such
issuance, unless preceded by a majority peti-
tion (as already referred to), being a misde-
meanor, entailing a fine of not less than fifty
nor more than five hundred dollars, and void-
ance of any license so issued. A dramshop-
keeper was required to make written returns,
verified by affidavit, of all intoxicating liquors
received at his stand during preceding six
months, in order to assist court in fixing the
license fee. The power of issuing licenses

between sessions was curtailed and further’

safeguarded and subjected to fine, not less
than forty nor exceeding two hundred dol-
lars. Serving minors without consent of par-
ents, etc., was finable for every offense fifty
dollars, recoverable at law, provided action

was commenced within one year. Houses to
be orderly at all times, or license to revoke.
The attention of the Legislature having been
attracted to the growing habit of adultera-
tion in connection with strong drinks, it
passed, in 1861, an act controlling same, The
adulteration of spirituous or vinous drinks,
by the use of “strychnine or other poisonous
liquids or ingredients,” was made a felony,
punishable with not less than two nor more
than five years’ imprisonment in the peniten-
tiary. All parties at wholesale or retail recti-
fying, manufacturing, offering or selling, etc.,
intoxicating liquors in the State, were re-
quired to appear before the proper county
court clerk and take and subscribe an oath
not to adulterate, or suffer to be adulterated,
etc., and failing to do so were guilty of a mis-
demeanor, and, upon conviction, fined not
less than fifty nor more than five hundred
dollars. No spirituous or alcoholic liquors
were to be imported from outside the State
without being first inspected by a competent
chemist, specially appointed for that purpose.
The statute provided that the judges of the
several county courts should, at the May
term, 1866, appoint a competent chemist as
liquor inspector; he to hold office for a term
of four years, and until his successor had
been appointed. The judges were required at
same time to regulate fees of inspector. Sec-
tion 57, Chapter 206, of Revised Statutes of
1865, declared that no owner, proprietor or
keeper of a dramshop, etc., where spirituous
liquors were sold at retail, should employ any -
female (other than wife, daughter, mother or
sister -of the owner) as a servant, bartender,
waiter, dancer or singer in said dramshop;
offense, misdemeanor, and subject, upon con-
viction, to not less than three nor more than
twelve months’ imprisonment, with fine of
not less than fifty nor exceeding five hundred
dollars, or both, with forfeiture of license en-
tered upon record. By law of 1874, any
dramshop-keeper or druggist selling to any
habitual drunkard after notification by wife,
father, mother, brother, sister or guardian
not to sell, was guilty of a misdemeanor, and,
upon conviction, was finable not less than
forty nor exceeding two hundred dollars. By
law of 1877, any selling to a student of State
University, or any school in the State, was
declared a misdemeanor, finable not less than
forty nor exceeding four hundred dollars, or
by imprisonment not less than three months
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nor exceeding one year, or both. The issu-
ance of colorable medicinal prescriptions was
dealt with, and the forging of a prescription
severely punished. In 1875 the General As-
sembly enacted a law whereby no one there-
after should receive a license to sell intoxi-
cating drinks, in any quantity less than one
gallon, at any place within three miles from
the State University of Missouri.

By a law approved March 24, 1883, the
liquor traffic was further greatly restrained
and taxed. The dramshop-keeper had to fur-
nish a bond for two thousand dollars in place
of one thousand dollars, and the old license
“not less than twenty-five nor more than two
hundred dollars, for State purposes,” had at-
tached to it “nor less than two hundred and
fifty nor more than four hundred dollars, for
county purposes, for every period of six
months.” The principle of local option was
enlarged and made to apply immediately, it
being declared that thereafter it was not law-
ful for any county court in this State, or clerk
thereof in vacation, to grant any license to
keep a dramshop in any town or city contain-
ing two thousand five hundred persons, or
more, until a majority (local) had signed peti-
tion ; any one disregarding this law was liable
to a fine of not less than fifty nor exceeding
five hundred dollars, for the use of the county
school fund; and licenses so granted were
voided. The penalty for selling liquor upon
a Sunday was placed at not less than fifty nor
more than two hundred dollars; and the sec-
.tion was made to take in “the day of any gen-
eral election in this State.” Under the old
law of 1874 the serving to a habitual drunk-
ard was severely dealt with, but was further
strengthened by the law of March, 1883, un-
der which any dramshop-keeper, druggist or
merchant selling to such party, after being
notified (which was regarded as continuous
notice) by wife, father, mother, brother, sis-
ter, child or guardian of such party, forfeited
to such wife, etc., for every such offense, not
less than two hundred and fifty nor over five
hundred dollars; his license to forfeit and
not to be renewed. A wife might sue as a
“femme sole.”” To check tippling under guise
of medical treatment,a law was passed, March
29, 1883, amending the act of March 26, 1881,
- regulating the sale of medicines and poisons
by druggists and pharmacists. For the es-
tablishing of better order in saloons a new
section was included in the Revised Statutes

of 1889, whereby a dramshop-keeper was
prohibited from keeping in his dramshop any
piano or musical instrument for performing
thereon, and prohibited to permit boxing,
sparring, etc., nor might he keep, or permit
the keeping of, any billiard table, bowling
alley, etc., or any cards or gaming devices
whatever, under penalty of fine and forfeiture
of license. Provision was made under a law,
approved in 1887, for the application of the
revenues derived from dramshop licenses,
with special regard to the improvement of
roads. On April 5th of the same year was
approved a local option law as to the manu-
facture and sale of intoxicants; in other
words, an act for the preventing of the evils
of intemperance by local option in any
county in this State, and in cities of twenty-
five hundred inhabitants or more, by sub-
mitting the question of prohibiting the sale
of intoxicating drinks to the qualified voters
of such county, etc. Under this law, one-
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